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JOINT MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AND THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Dear customers, shareholders, employees and partners, 

At the end of yet another financial year, we wish to reaffirm 
the same values that have been at the core of Banco Keve since 
day one. We have upheld our dedication, commitment and 
perseverance to ensure the Bank’s proper functioning based on 
our cornerstones of excellence, transparency, integrity, efficiency 
and the Keve spirit.

2019 continued to be a year of international constraints resulting 
in weak global economic growth. The estimated growth of just 
2.9% hearkens back to levels not seen since the economic crisis 
one decade ago.

Ongoing geopolitical tensions, the intensifying trade war 
between the United States and China, declining industrial 
activities, lower consumption and climate change are just some 
of the factors which have given the world a sense of uncertainty 
affecting every country and every sector.

In Angola, the year was characterised by continuing political 
and economic structural reforms, primarily aimed at rebuilding 
credibility and making the Angolan government more 
transparent, to better face the challenges of economic recovery.

We are experiencing a paradigm shift in Angola, with lower levels 
of oil production and the challenges of an economy trying to 
be less dependent on a single exported product. The motto of 
economic diversification continued to be a goal, with only modest 
results on the real economy up until now, causing the economic 
recession to persist in 2019 with an estimated GDP of -1.1%.

Even so, we saw a drop in inflation, whose cumulative total was 
16.9% in 2019, confirming the downward trend since 2016, 
in the wake of cumulative inflation rates of 41.12% in 2016, 
23.67% in 2017 and 18.60% in 2018.

There were also significant improvements in access to foreign 
currency among companies and individuals alike, reflecting the 
impacts of the exchange policies launched in 2018 to streamline 
the foreign exchange market. Measures were taken to reduce 
the direct involvement of Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) in 
this market and add one more player to the currency supply, as 
is the case of oil companies.

The year also saw a bridging of the gap between the exchange 
rates of the formal (primary) and informal markets from 150.6% 
to 22.97% at the end of 2019, resulting in the devaluation of 
the kwanza, whose annual total was 56% against the dollar and 
53% against the euro.

The financial sector once again proved to be extremely 
demanding in terms of compliance with regulatory measures, 
with BNA revoking three licenses from banks for failing to meet 
the minimum capital requirement aimed at bolstering this 
sector to better cope with risks.

Regulatory restrictions and ceilings on revenues originating outside 
of banks’ core business forced a search for new business solutions 
within a difficult economic setting of low economic liquidity.

It was also a year in which Banco Keve successfully passed the 
Asset Quality Assessment (AQA) of the country’s 13 largest 
banks, aimed at troubleshooting insufficient capitalization at 
each bank. An independent evaluation was conducted on the 
proper valuation of assets, their weighted risk and the risk 
management capacity, while stress tests were performed on the 
Angolan banking system’s stability, soundness and resilience.

These measures have forced banks to reflect on their business 
strategies to uphold their levels of profitability. Along these 
lines, pressure on banks to make the domestic financial sector 
more credible resulted in considerable investments in areas tied 
to internal control systems. While these investments enhance 
financial institutions’ management, they also put greater 
pressure on profitability indicators.

In this adverse setting, Banco Keve conducted its business at all 
times to ensure its economic and financial sustainability, while 
at the same time meeting the needs of its customers. The Bank 
continued to attract and improve the quality of its resources 
from customers, with a total portfolio of AOA 116.6 billion.

Gross credit, one of the main components of assets, totalled 
AOA 88 billion, up 22% over 2018, increasing the Bank’s assets 
to a total of AOA 170.4 billion compared to AOA 159.4 billion in 
2018 (+7%).

With a view to complying with the regulator’s goals and 
mitigating credit risks, Banco Keve continued to reinforce credit 
impairments and guarantees provided, with an additional AOA 
16.6 billion spent in 2019 to hedge impairments.

Equity totalled AOA 23.5 billion, up 13% over 2018. In terms of 
its regulatory solvency ratio, Banco Keve had a comfortable 16%, 
demonstrating its financial stability and meeting the minimum 
level required by Banco Nacional de Angola (10%).

An evaluation and redefinition of the profitability of our 
branches, aimed at streamlining resources, resulted in a scale 
down of our less profitable branches. This was a process of 
adapting to market constraints by adjusting and refining our 
business model.
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With regard to human capital, under a difficult social 
environment with constantly deteriorating societal conditions 
and a higher cost of living, Banco Keve sought to retain its best 
staff members, focusing on employee upskilling, with the goal 
of continuously enhancing their knowledge and professional 
ethics.

On a final note, we would like to acknowledge and thank our 
Keve family of 581 employees for their daily commitment, 
contributions, expertise and professionalism.

Banco Keve’s Board of Directors and Executive Committee would 
also like to thank our customers, shareholders and stakeholders 
for their unending dedication and trust, their commitment 
to endorsing the Bank’s name and their contribution towards 
creating value and keeping Banco Keve strong.

Banco Keve
The Bank tailor-made for you

José Pedro de Morais Júnior

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Óscar Manuel Mata

Chairman of the Executive Committee
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1.1. MAIN INDICATORS

THOUSANDS OF AOA, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19                        Δ 2019/2018

ABS %

1. Business

Net income 2 075 515 4 603 486 2 702 522 (1 900 964) -41,3%

Net interest income 12 023 969 8 969 778 9 273 518 303 740 3,4%

Operating income 17 103 278 34 296 037 35 132 044 836 008 2,4%

Financial margin/Banking income 70% 26% 26% +0,3 p.p 0,9%

Net interest income/operating income 5 772 934 20 060 229 19 475 046 (585 183) -2,9%

2. Profitability

ROAE-Return on average equity 13,4% 25,1% 10,8% -12,7 p.p -56,9%

ROAA-Return on average assets 1,4% 3,0% 1,6% -1,3 p.p -45,7%

3. Structure

Total assets 151 006 775 159 441 840 176 205 622 16 763 783 10,5%

Customers and other resources 116 267 407 129 165 107 120 639 912 (8 525 195) -6,6%

Net loans 56 015 936 49 686 566 51 285 052 1 598 486 3,2%

Gross loans 67 877 520 71 864 564 88 017 448 16 152 884 22,5%

Equity 16 295 831 20 347 458 29 490 276 9 274 018 45,6%

Business units 64 64 61 (3) -4,7%

Nº of employees 544 560 581 21 3,8%

4. Efficiency

Cost-to-income 66% 42% 45% +1,6 p.p 7,4%

Employees/Branch 9 9 10 1 8,9%

Total average assets/Employees 277 586 284 718 303 280 18 562 6,5%

continution

THOUSANDS OF AOA, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES Dec-17 Dec-18 Dec-19                        Δ 2019/2018

ABS %

5. Asset soundness

Overdue loans 14% 23% 29% +6,3 p.p 27,6%

Loans impairement/overdue loans 121% 122% 144% +21,9 p.p 17,9%

Loans impairement/gross loans 17% 31% 42% +10,7 p.p 34,6%

6. Liquidity

Loan-to-deposit ratio (resources and other loans) 56,9% 56,0% 73% +17,0 p.p 30,3%

7. Regulatory

Regulatory solvency ratio 20,0% 12,7% 16,0% -0,3 p.p -1,8%

Regulatory equity 16 716 444 23 613 186 26 743 528 3 130 342 13,3%

Fixed Asset Ratio 44% 34% 51% -1,0 p.p -2,9%

Ratios:

Cost-to-income = Overheads/Banking income

Overheads = Supplies and services + Staff expenses + Other operating costs + Amortization

Transformation ratio = Gross credit / Total resources

Transformation ratio (without collateral) = Gross credit / Customer resources and Other loans)
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1.2. IMPORTANT FACTS

LOCATION AND VISIBILITY
In 2018, Banco Keve’s strategic focus was developing and 
deploying a new digital platform with improved graphics, more 
interaction, a wider range of transaction options and stronger 
security. With this focus, the Bank aims to be at the forefront of 
technology and aligned with all of its potential.

CAMPAIGNS
Keve Super Kanuco
KEVE SUPER KANUCO is a savings account for children and 
youth (minors) aged up to 18 years.

Keve and Global Seguros, you can receive a discount when you 
subscribe to family civil liability insurance, together with other 
special conditions.

Keve Muhatu Demand Deposit Account
KEVE MUHATU is a demand deposit account exclusively for 
women.

BANCO KEVE GIVES WOMEN A VOICE
Banco Keve believes that women have something to say about 
managing their finances. This is why we created Keve Muhatu, 
a demand deposit account exclusively for women. With a 
minimum opening deposit of AOA 5,000.00, the Keve Muhatu 
account also has a number of associated advantages.

DP KEVE Muhatu is a term deposit account for special customers: 
women wanting to monetize their assets at competitive rates. 
Being a woman is a true privilege. With this in mind, Banco 
Keve created DP Keve Muhatu. This term deposit account allows 
you to invest your savings securely in the short term, with a 
competitive rate that only a Bank tailor-made for you can offer. 

THE SUPERPOWER OF YOUR SUPER CHILD
Give your child a superpower to win the battles that await him 
or her: the Keve Super Kanuco Account. Now with a discount 
at the time of signing up, this savings account offers many 
advantages to prepare your child to face the future with 
complete confidence. Thanks to a partnership between Banco 
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DP Keve Muhatu, the term deposit dedicated to all women. DP 
Keve Muhatu is a term deposit account for special customers at 
competitive rates.

Keve DP 16
To celebrate our 16th anniversary, we launched the KEVE DP 16, 
a term deposit with rising rates up to 16%

KEVE DP 16 is an exclusive term deposit account for new funds 
only, considered “fresh funds” with guaranteed capital. To 
promote the “Keve DP 16” term deposit, Keve launched a contest 
with prize drawings, called “Keve DP 16”, with the give-away of 
vehicles to two customers signing up for the account and who, 
by investing their savings, are doing so with security, speed and 
a guaranteed return with a competitive rate of up to 16%.

CHRISTMAS CAMPAIGN
The passing of a year is a chance to close one cycle and begin 
another. It’s an opportunity to reflect on plans made, the path 
taken and the goals achieved. However, it is also a chance to 
renew one’s ambitions and plan out one’s dreams.

Over the past year, Banco Keve did its best to turn your success 
into a reality. For this reason, we are proud to be asked to share 
in problems and give advice for solutions. We are proud to be 
part of our customers’ lives.

OPENING OF NEW BRANCHES
Banco Keve strengthened its presence at strategic locations in 
2019 by expanding its business network:

• Zé Pirão branch

• Port of Luanda office

• Benguela Migration 
   and Foreigners’ Service
   (SME) office

• Lobito Migration and
   Foreigners’ Service
   (SME) office

• Zé Pirão branch

TRADE SHOWS AND EVENTS
In 2019, we attended five trade shows in Angola attended by an 
estimated 500,000 total visitors.

These included:

• Filda

• Benguela International Fair

• Huíla Expo

• Job Fair

• Securities Market Commission (CMC) Investor Fair

• São José de Cluny Companies and Services Fair
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Filda
Banco Keve attended the 35th edition of the Luanda International 
Fair (FILDA), under the theme “Galvanizing the private sector 
and promoting economic growth”, held from 09-13 July in the 
Special Economic Zone (ZEE).

As in previous years, Banco KEVE once again attended what is 
certainly Angola’s largest multi-sector business exposition.

Huíla Expo
The Bank attended the Huíla Expo, held from 14-18 August at 
the Nossa Senhora do Monte complex in Lubango (Huíla), where 
it had the opportunity to present its products and services to 
all of the show’s visitors. For this edition, Banco Keve invested 
in advertising its technology and digital solutions, including the 
iKeve (Internet banking), Mobile Banking and Keve SMS services, 
together with all of the financial solutions available to its private 
and corporate customers.

This year, Banco Keve won the award in the “Revelation Bank” 
category in the 27th edition of the Huíla Expo.

The Huíla Expo’s purpose is to promote the local economic and 
industrial potential of the Huíla Province to attract domestic and 
foreign investors for the purpose of supporting development and 
helping to diversify the economy.

Benguela International Fair
Banco KEVE attended the ninth edition of the Benguela 
International Fair (FIB), held from 28 May to 02 June, where all 
visitors had the chance to learn about its available products and 
services.

Securities Market Commission (CMC) Investor Fair
For the second year running, Banco Keve took part in the 
Investor Fair belonging to a collection of initiatives under World 
Investor Week, promoted by the International Organization of 
Securities Commissions (IOSCO) to promote financial education 
and protection for the general public.

The show was organized by the Securities Market Commission 
(CMC), and was held from 03-05 October at Mediateca 28 de 
Agosto. Its main goal was to leverage synergies and create 
a position of growing commitment to the future and to 
communities.

São José de Cluny Companies and Services Fair
Banco Keve took part in the São José de Cluny Fair, whose goal is 
to continue encouraging financial literacy and promote banking 
among youth. Banco Keve once again sponsored 10th grade 
students from São José de Cluny school no. 1232, in the “Companies 
and Services Fair”. 

The show’s main goal is to galvanize a culture of professionalism 
and entrepreneurship, and provide more direct contact between 
attending students and companies.
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CULTURE
Banco Keve remained committed to promoting and supporting 
national culture by associating itself with the company Nova 
Energia in the sixth season of Show do Mês. The purpose of 
this event – called a performance by Angolans, for Angolans 
– is to promote the nation’s music. It is held monthly, offering 
moments of entertainment and pleasure to the public through 
the talent of Angolan musicians.
 
The event has successfully filled the concert hall throughout the 
entire year in all of the last six festivals of each month.

Partnership with Youth Card
Following the partnership between Banco Keve and the Cartão 
Jovem Angola (CJA) youth card, Banco Keve was present at the 
CJA’s official launch on 28 November at the Cinemax of the 
Xyami Nova Vida shopping centre.

Believing that the project’s goal is to promote banking among 
Angolan youth, Banco Keve became a main partner, guaranteeing 
institutional support backed by its electronic payment system.

Note that the CJA initiative is nationwide in scope, aimed at 
offering advantages to young people aged 15 to 35, by granting 
discounts for various day-today activities for a wide range of 
products and services such as cinemas, pharmacies, computer 
stores, supermarkets, restaurants and others.

The advantages are for the purchase of goods and/or services 
with the exclusive use of the Cartão Jovem Angola card, which 
can be used in any province of the country, at participating 
locations.

As a banking institution, and as part of our social responsibility 
activities, we believe cooperation between the two entities is 
important to encourage and facilitate young people’s privileged 
access to high-value products and services.
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1.3. MISSION, VISION AND VALUES

MISSION
To create a banking experience that benefits 
our customers, employees, shareholders 
and the community, with a view to driving 
investment and the country’s development.

VISION
To be recognized as a key business partner 
in the Angolan market, through proactive 
engagement in the country’s sustainable 
social and economic development.

VALUES
Keve Spirit, Efficiency, Integrity, Diligence.
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2.1. BANCO KEVE DESCRIPTION
We are a private Angolan banking institution, established in the 
province of Kwanza Sul and incorporated as a limited liability 
company, which inaugurated its registered office on 03 October 
2003.

We are a Bank which is tailor-made for our partners, holding 
a prominent position throughout the entire nation. We are 
engaged in, and we foster, social and economic growth in 
Angola, supporting projects of financial inclusion in society and 
investing in new products and services suited to our customers’ 
needs through streamlining processes and through conformity.

In accordance with our corporate purpose, we are governed by 
articles of association approved in the Official Gazette (Diário da 
República), by the Commercial Companies Law and by special 
applicable norms, allowing us to conduct our banking business 
pursuant to and to the extent permitted by law. Our main focus 
is attracting deposits and other repayable funds, granting credit, 
performing payment transactions and managing payment 
methods, performing own and third-party transactions in 
the monetary, financial and exchange markets, and other 
transactions related to the banking business permitted by law.

2.2. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The shareholders, directors and all of the employees of Banco 
Keve are committed to a corporate governance model which 
is effective, per the recommendations of the authority who 
regulates and supervises financial banking institutions, and in 
accordance with best international practices.

We are committed to promoting integrity and respect, and 
upholding a high standard of ethical conduct in every activity 

we do. We understand that the success of our business depends 
on relationships of trust, which are built based on this integrity.

Corporate Governance Structure

Shareholder Structure
The shareholder structure is comprised of 50 shareholders 
divided by tiers of holdings, as detailed in note 21 to the financial 
statements. The Bank’s largest shareholder currently owns 
around 7% of its shares which, together with the remaining 9, 
account for a total of 42% for the 10 largest shareholders.

 

Value chain
The main goal of the value chain is to represent Keve’s business 
in a structured manner which is easy to understand, to ensure 
that it is aligned with the Bank’s strategic goals. The design of the 
“process framework” is supported by the specific characteristics, 
both now and in the future, of Keve’s business model, together 
with the Bank’s vision and objectives. The value chain has thus 
been divided into three major areas: Control, Business and 
Support, with each area including “macro-processes” grouping 

Credit
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Auditing

Secretary
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the main processes and activities by topic. Each of these areas is 
presented and described below.

Banco Keve will shape its organizational structure to the nature 
of its business activities, ensuring that its organizational rules 
are sufficient and suited towards effective decision-making and 
good governance.

Its governance model is founded on the following premises:

i) Formal periodic meetings, together with extraordinary 
meetings whenever the circumstances so dictate;

ii) Clear, transparent organizational structure;

iii) Specific goals for each structural unit;

iv) Functional tasks and specific responsibilities for each 
division and/or department;

v) Levels of authority, communication channels, separation 
of duties and direct supervisory lines for different 
management levels;

vi) Work procedures and policies suited to carrying out and 
supervising operations, and a working description for all 
levels of positions in the organizational structure, including 
the specific qualifications and experience of the people in 
these positions.

2.3 ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE AND 
CORPORATE BOARDS

Board of General Meeting

Chairman of the General Meeting Board Amílcar dos Santos Azevedo da Silva

Vice-Chairman of the General Meeting 
Board

Mario Henrique da Silva Mello Xavier

Secretary Teodoro Bastos de Almeida

Supervisory Board

Chairman of the Supervisory Board Manuel Correia Victor

Member João Silva

Member Manuel João Carneiro

Member Gildo Saraiva Faceira

Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors José Pedro de Morais Júnior

Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors André Luís Brandão

Chairman of the EC (Executive comittee) Oscar Manuel Mata

Executive director Dalila Azevedo da Silva

Executive director Yolanda Isaac Carneiro

Executive director Ana Maria Machado

Executive director João António Freire

Executive director Laide Moreira Martins

Non-Executive Director Rita Yara Xavier

Non-Executive Director Décio Leandro Gaspar

Independent Non-Executive Director Hugo Gonçalves

Risk management 
and control

Compliance and 
supervision

Internal controlAuditing

Customer 
management and 

relations

Treasury 
transactions

Payment 
methods

Collections

Sale of products 
and transactions

Cash 
transactions

New 
businesses

Control

Business

Areas which ensure that the strategy conceived through systems, 
policies, processes and procedures is in line with legal and 

regulatory provisions and with internal standards and policies.

Functions combining activities directly tied to the organization’s 
core business, responsible for the banking business and for 

customer and cash management.

Business 
strategy 

management

Economic and 
market 
analysis

Management 
of mobile 
assets and

Communication 
management

Information 
systems

Strategic 
marketing

Support and 
security 
services

Segment 
management

Management 
information

Legislative 
support

Human 
capital 

management

Support

Functions which ensure the organization’s normal operation in 
terms of infrastructures, systems, human resources and 

management information. It also has responsibilities in business 
support, namely defining and implementing the marketing 

strategy.
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Executive Committee of the Board of Directors

Óscar Manuel Mata - Chairman of the Executive Committee

• Risk Office (GRI)

• Internal Auditing Office (GAI)

• Exchange Control Office (GCC)

• Accounting Division (DCO)

Dalila Azevedo da Silva - Vice-Chairman

• Planning and Control Office (GPC)

• Marketing Division (DMK)

• Human Resources Department (DRH)

• Electronic Banking Division (DBE)

• Quality and Organization Division (DQO)

Yolanda Isaac Carneiro - Executive Director

• Private Banking Division (DPR)

Ana Maria dos Santos Machado - Executive Director

• Executive Secretariat (SCR)

• Strategy Implementation Office (GIE)

• Credit Division (DCR)

• Financial Markets Division (DMF)

• International and Investment Banking Division (DIB)

João António Freire - Executive Director

• Large Enterprise Division (DGE)

• Sales Network Division (DRC)

• Legal and Litigation Division (DJC)

Laide Moreira Martins - Executive Director

• Monitoring, Collections and Loan Recovery Office (GMR)

• Information Systems Division (DSI)

• Operations Department (DOP)

• Assets and Security Division (DPS)

Supervisory Board
Notwithstanding the powers prescribed by law to Banco Nacional 
de Angola, the oversight of Banco Keve’s corporate activities is 
the responsibility of an Supervisory Board comprised of four full 
members, one of which will be its chairman, and two substitutes.

General Board
The General Board is a company advisory body which provides 
guidance to the other boards on issues relevant to the company’s 
business and daily routines.

External Auditing
Pursuant to legislation in force (Notice no. 4/2013), and after 
four years of accounts audited by Deloitte, the Bank followed 
BNA’s recommendation; as of this year, this is now being done by 
Audiconta. The Bank continues to follow a policy which ensures 
the independence and objectivity of its external auditors.

Board of Directors
According to the Bank’s articles of association, the Board of 
Directors may have a minimum of five and a maximum of 
eleven members.

The powers and responsibilities of the Board of Directors are 
laid out in article 24 of the articles of association, in line with 
the powers conferred by the Commercial Companies Law and 
financial sector standards.

The Board of Directors holds ordinary meetings at least once 
per quarter with extraordinary meetings whenever called by its 
chairman or by two or more of its directors.

Executive Organizational Chart

GCCGAI

SRC

GCO GPCGMR GRI

ALCO
Committee 

Credit
Committee

Products and
Services Committee

Liquidity
Committee

Executive
Committee

DCO
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DJC

DRH

DBE

DCR

DIB

DRC

DMK

DPR

DQO

DMF
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SRC - Executive Secretariat

Gabinetes
GAI - Internal Auditing Office
GCC - Exchange Control Office
GCO - Compliance Office
GMR - Monitoring, Collections and Loan Recovery     
             Office
GPC - Planning and Controle Office
GRI - Risk Office

Direcções
DBE - Electronic Banking Division
DCO - Accounting Division

DCR - Credit Division
DGE - Large Enterprise Division
DIB - International and Investment Banking Division
DJC - Legal and Litigation Division
DMF - Financial Markets Division
DMK - Marketing Division
DOP - Operations Division
DPR - Direcção de Private
DPS - Assets and Security Division
DQO - Quality and organization Division
DRC - Sales network Division
DRH - Human Resources Division
DSI - Information Systems Division
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Committees of the Board of Directors
Corporate Board Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is in charge of determining Banco 
Keve’s policy and goals for the remuneration of its corporate 
boards. Its main purpose is to ensure salary levels and grids 
which are transparent and in line with best market practices.

Executive Committee
By delegation of the Board of Directors, the Bank’s executive 
management is comprised of six executive directors appointed 
by the Board of Directors, including one chairman and one vice-
chairman.

Audit and Internal Control Committee
The Audit and Internal Control Committee is in charge of 
ensuring the coordination needed between the functions 
of Internal Control, the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Committee to improve the quality of internal control, 
implementing principles of communication, risk management 
and the terms of the relationship with Banco Keve’s auditors.

Collegiate Bodies
The Board of Directors has a strong commitment to the progress 
of its management, and systematically adopts initiatives 
to strengthen this management. These measures include 
the structuring of Collegiate Bodies (committees) and their 
refinement with regard to risk management. The management 
and committees are further supported by a vast number of 
reports, with predetermined frequencies, covering nearly every 
operating area.

Structural Units
To the management, the internal organization represents the 
complete foundation for fulfilling the Bank’s business. It is 
understood that its functioning and development stem from 
the relationship between human capital, modelled processes 

and technology resources which are in line with contemporary 
management principles.

As such, the Bank has 15 Divisions and 6 Offices which, in turn, 
are segregated as Business, Support and Control Units.

Intermediate management is also strongly committed to 
providing services and developing products tailored to the 
various segments which the Bank wishes to serve, under 
suitable terms, combined with diligence, quality and excellence.

The current Organizational Chart provides a clear view of the 
mission and function of each Division/Office, prioritizing fast, 
direct communication channels both between the actual bodies 
of the Line/Staff, and between these and the management.

The main current decisions of each Division/Office are always 
made by more than one person (namely the manager and the 
director in charge of the area).

In order to align strategy with current management, the 
intermediate managing boards prepare annual activity 
objectives which are analysed and approved by the Board of 
Directors.

The Structural Units also have a collection of systematic periodic 
reports for the monitoring of their activities by the Executive 
Committee.

Institutional Communication
Communication with shareholders is done through the General 
Meeting of Shareholders, whose means of operation are 
described in articles 14 through 22 of the articles of association. 
The Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders meets annually, 
within the time periods imposed by law.

General market disclosures are made via publication of the 
Annual Report and Accounts. In addition, at its website, the 
Bank publishes a quarterly account summary, in the form of 
a trial balance, pursuant to Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) 
Notice no. 15/07 of 12 September.

Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics
We have approved a Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics 
which lays out precise criteria for decision-making and personal 
conduct for all employees and boards.

Our Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics ensures:

• Dissemination throughout the entire organization, together 
with clarification measures;

• Publication in a brochure and via intranet;

• Specific penalty measures for those in breach of the code.

We have a system for monitoring the Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics, so that compliance with the code is reported 
on a regular basis by the competent boards.

2.4. SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

CAMPAIGNS
Health and well-being campaigns were done to alert employees 
on how to be, think and act with regard to preventing the health 
scourges which impact society.

Educating employees on these topics requires effective, efficient 
and constant socio-political action which cannot be reduced 
to an individual scale. This is the role of our institution, and 
entails communication and a collective awareness involving a 
widespread concern for healthcare, empowering employees for 
their work activities and thereby enhancing the quality of life.
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Campaigns

Occupational Medical Exams 614 
(employees)

February, March, April

Outubro Rosa (Pink October) 
presentation and excursion (breast 
cancer)

October

Novembro Azul (Blue November) 
presentation (prostate cancer)

November

Presentation on HIV/AIDS and the 
distribution of red ribbons

December

Keve Christmas Smiles (food donation 
to children’s homes)

December

Presentations on Breast Cancer
Held under the “Pink October” commemorations on the fight 
against breast cancer every October, Banco Keve carried out 
initiatives/presentations for its employees.
These presentations were done from 24-27 September 2019, the 
day before the event, in the morning (from 10:00 to 11:00) and 
the afternoon (from 2:00 to 3:00) at our Banco Keve facilities, 
and were given by a team from the Angolan Anti-Cancer League, 
represented by two technicians.

Outubro Rosa (Pink October) March
The breast cancer awareness and patient solidarity march 
wrapped up with a Zumba routine and testimonials from 
cancer survivors. Banco Keve has been a steadfast sponsor of 
this march for the past three years.

Date: 27.10.2018 - Pink March**
Time: 7:00 AM
Location: Start - in front of Angolan Cancer Control Institute 
(IACC) building
End - Luanda waterfront

Blue November Presentations
Under the “Blue November” 
commemorations on the fight against 
prostate cancer, held in November, 
Banco Keve offered a presentation for 
its employees.

The presentation was done on 20 
November, in a single session from 
10:00 to 12:00 at our facilities, given 
by a specialist from the Angolan Anti-
Cancer League.

On this occasion, the presentation 
cycle was done at the workplace, where the speaker visited the 
different Divisions every 15 minutes to talk about the disease 
and answer questions.

Presentation on HIV/AIDS and the 
distribution of Red Ribbons
Similar to Pink October and Blue 
November, presentations were done 
on the century’s major health scourge, 
HIV/AIDS.

The presentation was done on 06 
November, in a single session from 
10:00 to 12:00 at our facilities (training 
room), given by a specialist from the 
National Institute for the Fight against 
AIDS.

Keve Christmas Smiles (Food Donation to Children’s Homes)
Every year, for the Christmas season, Banco Keve’s social area 
promotes the “Be a Santa Claus” and “Make a Child Happy” 
campaign.

Because of the very magnitude and purpose of Christmas, and 
in solidarity with the principles of sharing and love for our 
neighbour, we donate food to the orphanage of EL BETEL.

The EL BETEL youth and children’s home, located in the 
municipality of Viana, district of Zango II, hosts 107 children and 
youth from ages 5 to 16, or until they have finished school and 
returned to active life. The home survives primarily from private 
support and donations. The initiative is just one of so many 
which these children need.

The Nazaré home, located in the municipality of Cacuaco 
behind the Banco Keve sales network branch (Vidrul), hosts 96 
girls from ages 4 to 17, or until they have finished school and 
returned to active life. The home survives primarily from private 
support and donations. The initiative is just one of so many 
which these children need.
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Social and Camaraderie Lunches 
This event is held at the end of every year at the various provinces 
where we are found. Camaraderie has been a key means of 
employee motivation and integration, bringing teams together 
in times of relaxation and leisure. It also underscores the 
importance of all of the company’s professionals by recognizing 
employees as internal customers and allies directly responsible 
for the success of the business, who should care about the 
institution’s overall performance, and who have great influence 
in shaping the opinions and viewpoints of outside customers.

Assistance for Bereaved Families
The Bank has assisted employees and family members after the 
passing away of loved ones, becoming involved with words of 
comfort on behalf of all of its employees, with the knowledge 
of our management, which always feels the weight of such sad 
events.

We also provide funeral allowances in some cases, generally 
in cash, or by contributing to funeral expenses such as funeral 
home, cemetery and other costs. We also have a funeral 
assistance plan for all employees in the event of death due to 
conditions covered by health insurance.

Social and Environmental Institutional Responsibility
Motivation and dedication are essential in undertaking and 
planning corporate and succession/promotion programs, along 
with the constant refinement of pro-diversity policies for staff 
guided by the code of ethics, standards of conduct and general 
norms for career advancement, which include pro-gender equity 
initiatives. Fully committed to the quality of life, occupational 
health and safety, we stand for the institutional implementation 
and practice of social and environmental responsibility.

Athletic activities
• Participation in the 1st edition of the Angolan Business 

Futsal League (LEFA), a competition held from February to 
March. Organized by the company Org. Tavares Corrêa and 
sponsored by the company Refriango, whose final result was 
an honourable 3rd place.

• Participation in the 3rd edition of the Banking Workers’ 
Competition, organized by the Banking Sports Group/
BANCA. Held from July to August, we were eliminated in the 
quarter-finals.

• Participation in the Angolan Futsal Cup, organized by the 
Employee Leisure Provincial Sports Association (APRODET). 
We did not move on past the first phase;

• Participation in the Futsal Tournament for the 44th 
anniversary of the national television broadcaster TPA, 
organized by G.D.C.R. TPA. Held in October, with a final 
ranking of 4th place;

• Participation in the 3rd edition of the Futsal Tournament for 
the 13th anniversary of the Development Bank of Angola 
(BDA), held from 07-21 December. Organized by the BDA-
NBCS Cultural and Social Athletic Hub. To top off a year 
full of activities, we were proud to win first place in this 
competition, which was attended by very best in Angolan 
banking Futsal.
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The women’s Futsal team of the BKEVE Recreational Sports Group 
was also active this year, participating in the 1st edition of the 
Women’s Futsal National Hero’s Cup, held at the Angolan Navy 
base from 13-14 September.

We were very well represented here as well, winning 2nd place 
in a final with the only national champion, the Navy, with our 
competitor Raquel Bangas distinguished as best athlete in the 
competition.
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3.1. INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC 
ENVIRONMENT
According to data published in January 2020 by the World Bank’s 
Global Economic Prospects, global economic growth in 2019 
was revised downward to 2.4%. This bears out the worldwide 
economic slowdown after the initial growth estimates of 3.3% 
in April, followed by 2.6% in June.

This scenario stems from the decrease in commercial activities 
and in investment, specifically affecting the Eurozone and 
developing economies. A number of different economic 
indicators have been affected, in particular the international 
trade of goods and production, which saw their lowest levels in 
2019 since the financial crisis.

The bilateral negotiations starting in October 2019 between 
the United States of America and China brought some hope of 
curbing the trade tensions between these two countries. The 
trade war which shaped practically the entire year of 2019 was 
a major factor in investor uncertainties on the direction of the 
world economy.

In the Eurozone, economic growth was highly impacted by the 
decrease in exports, particularly in Germany, whose industrial 
sector was deeply affected by lower demand, particularly 
from China, followed by other Asian countries. In this manner, 
projections point to economic growth of only 1.1% in 2019 
and just 1% in 2020 (Global Economic Prospects, January 2020, 
World Bank).

In view of this scenario, the European Central Bank attempted to 
stimulate the economy by bringing interest rates into negative 
territory, while resuming the so-called “quantitative easing” 
process and granting credit to banks at no cost.

However, negative interest rates have somewhat effected banks’ 
profitability by compromising stability in the financial sector, 
since banks are the primary source of financing for economies 
in the Eurozone.

In the United States, economic growth was slightly slower than 
initial estimates, going from 2.5% to only 2.3% in 2019, then 
falling to 1.8% in 2020 and 1.7% in 2021. Currently, higher tariffs 
in China have caused a rise in trade costs which, combined with 
weak production, has affected investor confidence.

Furthermore, data suggests that the United States has reached 
its lowest unemployment rate in the last five years (3.6%), 
largely driven by higher domestic consumption.

The performance of emerging markets and developing 
economies (EMDEs) has also been affected in a general manner 
by the downturn in trade and investment, with projections 
pointing to lower growth than previously estimated, reaching 
3.5% in 2019 (with an original estimate of 4%).

Stability in oil prices and monetary policies supporting growth, 
along with the departure of recessions in several countries, are 
some of the signs of potential higher growth in 2020. Estimates 
now point to 4.1% growth in 2020.

In China, growth is projected to decrease from 6.6% in 2018 to 6.1% 
in 2019. This slowdown is due to lower domestic demand, together 
with the impacts of trade tensions with the United States.

The decline in production and commerce due to higher customs 
tariffs in trade relations with the United States continues to 
have severe impacts on the Chinese economy. As a result, future 
prospects point to growth between 5.9% and 5.8% in 2020-
2021. According to this data, this will be the first time since 
1990 that the Chinese economy will see growth below 6%.

GLOBAL GDP PERFORMANCE, 2017 - 2020
(Real growth rate, %)

   Projections

2017 2018 2019 2020

World 3,7 3,6 2,9 3,3

Advanced Economies 2,3 2,2 1,7 1,6

United States of America 2,3 2,9 2.3 2,0

Eurozone 2,2 1,9 1,2 1,3

Sub-Saharan Africa 2,6 3,2 3,3 3,5

Angola * -0,1 -1,7 2,8 1,8

Middle East and North Africa 2,2 1,3 0,8 2,8

Latin America and Caribbean 1,2 1,1 0,1 1,6

Emerging and developed Asia 6,5 6,4 5,6 5,8

Source: International Monetary Fund (World Economic Outlook, January update);
               The Economist (Global Outlook Summary, Dec. 2019)
               * Ministry of Finance (2020 General Government Budget Justification Report)
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SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA
With regard to the sub-Saharan African region, estimates point 
to economic growth of 3.2% in 2019 and 3.6% in 2020. These 
IMF forecasts suggest slower growth than initially expected 
for around two thirds of the region’s countries. The downward 
revision reflects a more challenging external environment, 
constant interruptions to oil exporters’ production and weaker 
growth than anticipated in South Africa.

Growth prospects vary considerably between the region’s 
countries, with continued robust growth of around 6% (above 
the world average) expected for countries less dependent 
on natural resources, and around 2.5% for countries highly 
dependent on their natural resources, such as oil exporters.

The future does not look very promising, since we have 
witnessed mounting protectionism in more developed nations, 
hampering financial flows to this region’s countries. Along these 

lines, there has been a sharp decline in the economy of China, 
which has been a strong trade partner for the region.

In addition, in regional terms, short-term risks also include climate 
shocks, more challenges in terms of security and the potential 
propagation of epidemics which have affected not just Africa, 
but the world as well. Furthermore, potential fiscal slippages, 
mainly in countries in election years, and the lack of reforms in 
key countries, may worsen the existing deficit and debt pressure.

There was a widespread slowdown in the region’s countries in 
terms of inflation, with average growth of 8.4% in 2019 and a 
forecast of 8% in 2020. Among the countries with ongoing high 
levels of inflation, of particular note were those experiencing 
the problems of civil war, political upheaval and high currency 
depreciation (Angola and Liberia), those with serious droughts 
(Kenya, Lesotho, Namibia, Zambia and Zimbabwe) and those 
with high tax deficits.

INTERNATIONAL TRADE
Growth in the worldwide trade of goods maintained the 
downward trend which has been affecting the global economy 
since 2018. The slowdown in global trade was sharper than 
previously expected, with the latest projections pointing 
towards growth of only 1.25% in 2019.

A combination of several factors such has lower investment, the 
impact of the trade tensions between the United States and 
China, and the decline in the automotive and technology trades 
have been highlighted as the main drivers of the slowdown in 
worldwide trade.

Nearly one third of European exports – and more than half 
of German exports to developing countries in Asia – are for 
machinery and vehicles. Similarly, many capital goods (mainly 
electronics) account for one third of the exports from developing 
Asian countries to Europe.

(REAL GROWTH RATE, %)

 Projections

2017 2018 2019 2020

Sub-Saharan Africa 3,0 3,2 3,2 3,6

Excluding Nigeria and South Africa 4,7 4,8 4,6 5,0

Petroleum Exporting Countries 0,5 1,5 2,1 2,5

Excluding Nigeria -0,2 0,2 1,5 2,4

Low-income countries 5,8 5,9 5,2 5,9

SADC 2,3 2,1 1,5 2,3

Source: International Monetary Fund (Regional Economic Outlook: Sub-Saharan Africa, Oct-19);
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COMMODITIES
Worldwide oil demand is estimated to reach a total of 99.8 MB/
day in 2019 (OPEC - Monthly Oil Market Report, December 2019), 
representing year-over-year growth of 0.98 MB/day (+0.9%). 
More than half of this demand originates from OECD countries, 
led by the United States with total demand of 20.9 MB/day, 
followed by Europe and China with 14.3 MB/day and 13.1 MB/
day, respectively. 

In terms of supply, provisional data points to an average global 
supply of 99.78 MB/day in 2019 (data from November 2019) 
which, compared to the previous year, represents a reduction of 
0.28 MB/day. Of particular note was the higher non-OPEC supply 
(including OPEC NGLs) mainly driven by OECD Americas countries, 
together with lower year-over-year production of OPEC crude oil.

OPEC’s weight on worldwide production fell 2.2 p.p, on an annual 
basis, to 29.6% (data from November 2018).

MILLIONS OF BARRELS/DAY 2017 2018 2019* 2020P

OECD 47,5 47,9 47,9 48,0

China 12,3 12,7 13,1 13,4

Others 37,6 38,2 38,8 39,5

Global Demand 97,4 98,8 99,8 100,9

OPEC Production 32,0 31,8 29,6 N.a

Supply from other countries 64,1 67,2 69,1 71,3

Global Supply 96,1 99,1 98,7 N.a

Balance Sheet -1,3 0,3 1,1 N.a

Source: OPEC (Market indicator, Dec. 2019)
                2019* data from November

The prices of most commodities fell in 2019, due to deteriorating 
prospects for global economic growth.

In 2019, the average price of oil hovered around $61 per barrel, 
down 10% from 2018, and $5 lower than initial forecasts. This price 
level was supported by production cuts in OPEC member countries, 
including the latest one from December, which added 0.5 MB/day 
to the 1.2 MB/day already in place since 2019.

Production also faced constraints due to geopolitical problems 
in countries such as Iran and Venezuela, although somewhat 
alleviated by a slight drop in demand in the period in question.

Future prospects point to an average price of around $59 per barrel 
in 2020 and 2021. This price is supported by the expectation of 
higher production in the United States with the commissioning 
of the new pipeline, as well as anticipated weak economic growth, 
which may affect demand. However, there are also factors which 
may negate the estimated decrease in the price of oil, since lower 
trade tensions between China and the United States may result in 
higher demand.

3.2. DOMESTIC ECONOMIC
         ENVIRONMENT

EXPECTATIONS OF ECONOMIC AGENTS
According to data published by the National Statistics Institute 
of Angola (INE), the economic climate indicator (ICE), whose 
purpose is to portray the economic status quo and provide short-
term statistical information on the expectations of economic 
agents from various sectors, had a downward trend in the third 
quarter of 2019. This indicator has remained in negative territory 
for the 17th quarter running.

With regard to the various economic sectors, most remained in 
negative territory vis-à-vis the previous quarter, particularly the 
sectors of industrial manufacturing, tourism and construction. 
The communication sector is one of the few which remains on 
a positive course, although its confidence index fell in the last 
quarter. Also of note was the mining industry, whose confidence 
index has improved since the start of 2019, remaining on positive 
ground in the third quarter. The indicator’s positive trend resulted 
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from increases in the variables of current production, production 
prospects and exporting in the upcoming quarter.

Along these lines, the main factors contributing towards this 
adverse global economic climate continue to be the lack of 
raw materials, financial difficulties, the lack of qualified staff, 
frequent mechanical breakdowns in equipment, excessive 
bureaucracy and the inaccessibility of banking loans.

ECONOMIC GROWTH
The latest data from the government at the time of submitting 
its state budget (OGE) justification report for the year 2020 have 
borne out the recession scenario experienced by the country 
since 2016. In recent years, we have seen negative real growth 
rates beginning in 2016, with growth of -2.6%, followed by 
-0.1% in 2017 and -1,7% in 2018.

The scenario will remain in negative territory in 2019 at -1.1%, 
despite initial forecasts pointing to growth rates of 2.8% in the 
2019 state budget and 0.3% in the revised state budget.

The oil sector was primarily responsible for this negative 
economic growth, maintaining the downward trend since 
the first quarter of 2016, the last time when this sector had 
a positive growth rate. The decrease in oil production was the 
cause cited for this economic performance, since production 
was initially scheduled at 1.43 million barrels/day, in lieu of the 
1.39 million scheduled for 2019 (-3%). Confirming this data, the 
year-over-year production decrease in 2019 will be 6.1%.

Government forecasts for 2020 point to a rebound in GDP growth 
at the rate of 1.8% in real terms. This will be supported by oil GDP 
growth of 1.5%, including LNG, and non-oil GDP of 1.9%.

A regulatory price of $55 per barrel has also been set, despite the 
more optimistic estimates of major international institutions. This 
price stems from the need to take on a prudential, conservative 
stance, in view of price volatility in the global market and the 
need to avoid disruptions to basic public services.

Growth in the non-oil sector is anticipated to be 0.6% in 2019, 
up around 0.3 p.p year-over-year. In terms of growth by sectors, 
of particular note are the sectors of diamond and metallic 
mineral mining (+17.9%), energy (+10.7%), construction (3.5%), 
industrial manufacturing (+3.6%) and agriculture (+1.8%).

The 2020 estimates in the 2020 state budget point to 1.9% 
growth in the non-oil sector due to faster-paced growth in the 
sectors of agriculture (3.1%), fisheries and by-products (4%) and 
market services (1.2%).
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MACROECONOMIC INDICATORS

2019 2020

2018
State 

Budget

Revised 
State 

Budget

Revised 
Executive 
Monetary 

Scheduling
State 

Budget
Var. 

18/17

Accumulated inflation (%) 18,6% 15,0% 15,0% 16,9%* 24,3% +7,4p.p

GDP real growth rate (%) -1,7% 2,8% 0,3% -1,1% 1,8% +2,9p.p

Oil sector (including 
natural gas)

-9,2% 3,1% -2,8% -5,2% 1,5% +6,7p.p

Non-oil sector 0,3% 2,6% 1,6% 0,6% 1,9% +1,3p.p

Nominal GDP
(million kwanza)

27.157 34.807 30.945 32.267 42.127 30,6%

Oil production
(million bbl/day)

1,5 1,6 1,4 1,4 1,4 3%

Average price of oil
(USD/barrel)

71 68 55 64 55 -13%

Source: Ministry of Finance (2020 State Budget Justification Report and BNA)
*2019 cumulative real inflation

FOREIGN MARKET AND ACCOUNTS
According to the latest data from Banco Nacional de Angola 
(BNA) for the third quarter of 2019, the total accumulated 
current account had a surplus of $3,367 million. This is down 
45% year-over-year, due to the lower goods account, which had 
an accumulated total of $14,875 million in the same period 
(-22% year-over-year).

The reductions to exports and imports account for the 
performance of the lower goods account in the period in 
question. Exports reached a total of $25,916 million in the 
third quarter 2019 (-17% year-over-year), primarily due to the 
decrease in exports of oil and associated gas. This decrease in oil 
exports was primarily due to lower export amounts (-10.6%) to 
the detriment of pricing, since we have seen a slight rise in the 
price per barrel of oil.

2018 2019

Million USD 2017 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total Q1 Q2 Q3 Total

Current Account -633 2.330 978 2.836 1.259 7.403 47 1.847 1.472 3.367

Goods Account 20.150 6.394 5.659 7.074 5.833 24.960 4.022 5.920 4.933 14.875

Exports 34.613 9.660 10.734 10.797 9.567 40.758 8.728 9.047 8.141 25.916

Oil 31.065 8.609 9.555 9.875 8.501 36.539 7.697 8.458 7.826 23.982

Diamonds 1.130 235 295 243 379 1.152 388 216 275 879

Associated Gas 1.770 628 702 481 624 2.436 496 314 321 1.131

Refined Products 477 129 140 149 15 433 107 31 127 265

Fisheries 50 14 15 31 26 85 21 5 13 39

Cement 7 1 1 0 1 3 1 0 3 3

Wood 36 19 3 0 10 31 11 11 7 29

Others 78 25 24 17 11 77 7 10 -431 -413

Imports 14.463 3.266 5.075 3.724 3.734 15.798 4.706 3.126 3.208 11.041

Machinery* 3.273 799 697 860 748 3.104 789 656 689 2.134

Fuels 1.809 410 705 556 695 2.365 393 580 605 1.578

Food 3.258 697 751 871 841 3.160 588 685 623 1.896

Vehicles 929 185 228 306 241 959 237 235 224 696

Others 5.194 1.175 2.693 1.131 1.210 6.209 2.700 971 1.067 4.738

Services -12.809 -2.243 -2.733 -2.172 -2.310 -9.458 -2.102 -1.846 -1.978 -5.925

Other income -7.974 -1.822 -1.949 -2.066 -2.263 -8.099 -1.873 -2.227 -1.483 -5.583

**Machinery, mechanical and electrical devices
   Source: BNA (October Economic Bulletin)

Imports were also down, with an accumulated total of $11,041 
million (-8% year-over-year). The category of importing for 
machinery, mechanical devices and electric devices had the 
highest values in the third quarter of 2019, with a total of 
$2,134 million, although down 9% year-over-year. Of particular 

note was the decrease in the category of food, which totalled 
$1,896 million, 18% lower than the third quarter of 2018.

The strong correlation between the current account and net 
international reserves (NIR) makes it essential to preserve the 
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surplus up until this time, to alleviate pressure on NIR, given 
that Angola has seen successive deficits since 2014, which has 
affected reserve levels.

In December, net international reserves (NIR) totalled $11.8 
billion, up 11% year-over-year. Despite improvements in the 
last months of the year, NIRs have had a downward trend, and 
are now 43% lower than the levels seen in 2016. However, NIRs 
have remained comfortably above the 9.1 billion required by the 
IMF for the end of this year.

Gross international reserves (GIR) totalled $17.3 billion, currently 
covering around 8.45 months of imports of goods and services.

From January to December 2019, Banco Nacional de Angola 
(BNA) sold a total of $8.3 billion and €0.92 million in foreign 
currency to commercial banks. In combined terms in dollars 
(USD), these amounts account for a total of $9.36 billion, down 
30.6% year-over-year ($13.5 billion). The crisis in the oil sector, 
depreciation of the kwanza and lack of liquidity in the banking 
and corporate segment are considered the main factors in this 
level of supply.

With regard to the exchange market, BNA held an extraordinary 
session of its monetary policy committee (CPM) in October to 
ramp up the process of streamlining this market. As a result 
of the meeting, the kwanza appreciated slightly by 3% and 2% 
against the dollar and the euro, respectively, in October and 
December.

Even so, despite some signs of stability of the kwanza in the final 
months of 2019, the exchange streamlining process resulted in 
a considerable annual devaluation of 56% against the dollar and 
53% against the euro.

Along these lines, it is important to note that the exchange 
policy measures taken by BNA over the course of 2019 
significantly improved access to foreign currency for companies 
and individuals, bridging the gap between the exchange rate 
of the formal (primary) and informal markets. The exchange 
difference fell from 150.6% to 22.97% at the end of 2019, thanks 
to the implementation of the exchange rate band scheme.

INFLATION
The latest data on the national consumer price index (NCPI) 
published by the National Statistics Institute of Angola (INE) for 
the month of December 2019 show an accumulated inflation 
rate of 16.90% versus 18.60% in the previous period. This data 
confirms the downward trend in inflation rates since 2016, after 
seeing accumulated inflation levels of 41.12% in 2016, 23.67% in 
2017 and 18.60% in 2018.

The ongoing disinflation throughout 2019 occurred alongside 
rising energy tariffs, the introduction of the value-added tax (IVA) 
and special consumption tax (IEC), and the currency depreciation 
which occurred primarily in the last quarter of 2019.

Through December 2019, the average monthly variation 
in inflation was around 1.31%, a slight decrease of 0.01 p.p 
compared to the monthly average in 2018. December saw the 
highest pressure on prices, as the month normally having the 
largest change in monthly prices, with monthly inflation of 1.91%.
Throughout the month of December, the category “alcoholic 
beverages and tobacco” had the highest price increase, up 2.61%. 
Also of note were price increases in the following categories: 
“hotels, cafés and restaurants” at 2.40%, “apparel and footwear” 
at 2.30% and “transport” at 2.25%.

The provinces with the highest increases were: Bengo (2.83%), 
Cuando Cubango (2.58%), Huambo (2.50%) and Huila (2.09%). 
The provinces with the smallest change were: Lunda Sul and Bié 
(1.49%), Namibe (1.57%) and Cabinda (1.70%).
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According to its state budget (OGE) justification report, the 
government predicts a scenario of major price increases, with 
an accumulated inflation rate ranging from 24.3% to 25%. 
This scenario primarily stems from prospects for gradual price 
adjustments in fuel and other crude oil products, as a result of 
completely eliminating the subsidizing of fuel prices.

Billion AOA

CHANGES IN DEBT STOCK

Securities Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19

Var.%
Dec’19/
Dec’18

Treasury Bills 582 536 602 602 522 520 512 502 350 338 223 223 225 -61,2%

Treasury Bonds 7.298 7.719 7.983 8.056 8.123 8.174 8.212 8.380 8.872 9.154 10.512 - - 44,0%

Source: BNA

PUBLIC DEBT
a. Primary Market
At the end of December 2019, the debt stock totalled AOA 
10,737 billion, including AOA 225 billion in short-term debt 
(treasury bills) and the remaining AOA 10,512 billion in long-
term debt (treasury bonds). 2019 was marked by a downward 
trend in debt stock, particularly short-term debt (-61 versus 
2018), clearly reflecting the government’s goal to alleviate 
short-term cash pressure. Along these lines, long-term debt was 
up 44%.
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Throughout 2019, around AOA 753 billion in public debt 
securities were issued, including AOA 445.7 billion in treasury 
bills and AOA 307.4 billion in treasury bonds. These amounts 
represent a decrease in public debt issuances of AOA 638 billion 
(-46%) compared to 2018, when around AOA 1,391 billion was 
issued. This decrease is primarily due to around 54% fewer 
emissions of treasury bonds (down AOA 361 billion).

b. External Public Debt
The stock of external public debt totalled $46,758 million in 
the third quarter of 2019. This amount is up 3% over the same 
quarter of the previous year, meaning that every Angolan owes 
around $1,470 abroad.

According to quarterly data published by Banco Nacional de 
Angola (BNA), the majority of debt is at commercial banks 
totalling $32,411 million, or around 69% of the debt. Most of 
the remaining debt is from bilateral agreements (between 
governments) totalling around $6,374 million, with the 
remainder attributed to financial institutions and companies.

China and the United Kingdom are Angola’s main creditors, with 
a total of $22,355 million and $8,609 million, respectively. The 
debt to China grew around 70% compared to 2014, although 
with efforts to reduce it in recent years, going from $23,205 
million in 2017 to $22,355 million at the end of the third quarter 
of this year.

c. 2020 State Budget Financing
The 2020 state budget (OGE) is assessed at a total of AOA 
15,971 billion, up 53% over the 2019 budget proposal. Around 
AOA 8,611 billion of this comes from overall tax revenues of the 
State, mostly from oil taxes totalling around AOA 5,581 billion.

The 2020 state budget has a total of AOA 8,092 billion in 
expenses (resulting in a positive fiscal balance of AOA 519 
billion), with a primary fiscal expenditure (remuneration, cost of 
goods and services, etc.) of around AOA 5,618 billion (13.3% of 
GDP) and the remainder in interest totalling AOA 2,474 billion 
(5.2% of GDP).

The 2020 budget proposal has gross financing needs of AOA 
7,879 billion, representing 18.7% of GDP. Of this, around AOA 

7,348 billion is scheduled financing in 2020, including AOA 
4,867 billion from foreign funding.

The State plans to allocate AOA 7,226 billion to pay back short 
and medium-term debt scheduled for 2020, with the remaining 
AOA 653 billion earmarked for the acquisition of financial assets.

Gross Financing Needs 
(Billion AOA)

2019 
Revised 

State 
Budget

2020 
State 

Budget Var.%

2020 
State 

Budget% 
GDP

Gross Financing Needs 4.421 7.879 78% 19%

Net Financing Needs 687 653 -5% 2%

Acquisition of Financial 
Assets

687 653 -5% 2%

Short/medium/long-
term debt amortization

3.734 7.226 94% 17%

Domestic 1.649 4.082 148% 10%

Foreign 2.085 3.144 51% 8%

Sources of State Funds 4.421 7.879 78% 19%

Tax Surplus -0,1 519

Sale of Assets 1,6 12

Financing in the Year 4.263 7.348 72% 17%

Domestic 1.678 2.481 48% 6%

Foreign 2.585 4.867 88% 12%

Treasury Reserve 156  -

Issuance of Domestic Bebt

Billion
AOA
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MONETARY AND FINANCIAL SCENE
a. Monetary Policy and Liquidity
Over the last quarter of the year, BNA’s Monetary Policy 
Committee (CPM), held an extraordinary session in October 
2019, where it evaluated the use of monetary and exchange 
measures in the wake of the exchange market reform which 
began in January 2018.

In this extraordinary CPM session, BNA decided, among other 
measures (see box on the “summary of the Monetary Policy 
Committee extraordinary session” on page 9), to change the 
coefficient of mandatory reserves in domestic currency from 
17% to 22%, in order to streamline the liquidity of the banking 
system and thereby attempt to control banks’ willingness to 
operate in the exchange market.

In the wake of the exchange market standardization process, 
BNA also decided to remove the 2% margin over the reference 
rate used by commercial banks for the marketing of foreign 
currency in the interbank market, stop the acquisition of foreign 
currency from oil companies (who would have to start selling it 
directly to commercial banks) and lower the exchange position 
limit of commercial banks from 5% to 2.5%.

Furthermore, BNA kept its reference rate of 15.50% unchanged, 
and the liquidity borrowing facility interest rate at 0% and 7% 
for overnight and seven-day maturities, respectively.

The monetary base saw considerable growth, totalling AOA 
2,299 billion in December 2019 (AOA 1,706 billion in December 
2018). This was up 34% year-over-year, and included 69% 
in domestic currency (operational variable of the monetary 
policy). The rise of the monetary base is driven by the increase 
of approximately 44.6% in the banking reserve, the majority of 
which comes from growth in mandatory reserves (+65.8% vs. 
2018). It is important to note that the change in the mandatory 

reserve coefficient in domestic currency (from 17% to 22%) 
resulted in 28% growth from October to December (58% 
mandatory reserves in domestic currency in 2019), causing the 
monetary base in domestic currency to rise to 22.2% in 2019.

Growth in foreign currency stemmed primarily from the 
exchange devaluation of the kwanza, allowing mandatory 
reserves in foreign currency to grow 83.4% in 2019.

Dec-17 Dec-18 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19
Year-over-

year change

Monetary Base 1.620.219 1.706.141 1.848.313 1.818.365 2.049.664 1.886.212 2.162.084 2.299.171 2.286.581 34,0%

In domestic currency 1.453.358 1.297.632 1.369.799 1.323.428 1.541.421 1.361.353 1.453.994 1.547.793 1.585.938 22,2%

Banknotes and coins in 
circulation

527.717 498.390 433.255 440.667 456.659 446.427 463.672 478.084 540.009 8,4%

Banking reserve 1.092.502 1.207.751 1.415.059 1.377.698 1.593.006 1.439.785 1.698.411 1.821.087 1.746.572 44,6%

Mandatory reserve 891.500 841.035 1.000.823 981.946 1.042.164 1.014.823 1.141.475 1.403.944 1.394.424 65,8%

In domestic currency 769.935 584.145 692.976 658.495 704.438 702.298 722.340 956.977 923.170 58,0%

In foreign currency 121.565 256.890 307.848 323.450 337.726 312.525 419.135 446.966 471.254 83,4%

Free reserve 201.002 366.716 414.235 395.753 550.842 424.962 556.936 417.143 352.148 -4,0%

In domestic currency 155.706 215.097 243.569 224.266 380.324 212.628 267.981 112.732 122.759 -42,9%

In foreign currency 45.296 151.619 170.666 171.487 170.518 212.334 288.955 304.411 229.389 51,3%
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With regard to interest rates practiced in the interbank money 
market, the overnight Luibor rate was again high at around 
26.47% in November, falling to 22.48% in December. These high 
Luibor rates come in the wake of a time of some stability, where 
the overnight Luibor reached levels of 13.5% (August 2019). This 
increase in transaction costs comes from the significant decrease 
in the banking system’s liquidity after the measures taken by BNA 
in the extraordinary CPM session, which resulted in an increase in 
mandatory reserves in domestic currency from 17% to 22%.

REFERENCE INTEREST RATES – MONETARY POLICY

BNA Rate Lending Facility 7 Days
Lending Facility 

Overnight
Borrowing Facility 

Overnight OMO - 07 days Rediscount

2019

Jan-19 15,75% 0,00% 0,00% 15,75% 1,25% 20,00%

Feb-19 15,75% 0,00% 0,00% 15,75% 1,25% 20,00%

Mar-19 15,75% 0,00% 0,00% 15,75% 1,25% 20,00%

Apr-19 15,75% 0,00% 0,00% 15,75% 1,25% 20,00%

May-19 15,50% 0,00% 0,00% 15,50% 1,25% 20,00%

Jun-19 15,50% 0,00% 0,00% 15,50% 1,25% 20,00%

Jul-19 15,50% 0,00% 0,00% 15,20% 1,25% 20,00%

Aug-19 15,50% 0,00% 0,00% 15,20% 1,25% 20,00%

Sep-19 15,50% 0,00% 0,00% 15,20% 11,00% 20,00%

Oct-19 15,50% 10,00% 0,00% 15,50% 11,00% 20,00%

Nov-19 15,50% 10,00% 0,00% 15,50% 11,00% 20,00%

Dec-19 15,50% 10,00% 0,00% 15,00% 13,00% 20,00%

Source: BNA
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b. Secondary debt market
Over the course of 2018, the Angola Stock Exchange and Derivatives 
(BODIVA) had a total of 3,896 trades on the secondary public debt 
market (MSDP). 4,360 trades have already been done through 
December 2019, which in terms of turnover represents a total of 
AOA 874 billion. This amount is up AOA 79.2 billion (+10%) over 
amounts traded in the previous period.

Note that around 85% of the total amount was transacted 
with treasury bills. Banco de Fomento Angola (BFA) and Banco 
Angolano de Investimentos (BAI) led the ranking of banks with 
the highest transaction volume in the secondary debt market.

c. Monetary Synopsis
Data from December 2019 shows that net external assets, 
expressed in domestic currency, were up 55% year-over-year, 
although with sporadic reductions in the month of March. This 
growth was primarily due to the considerable depreciation of 
the kwanza in the middle of October since, if we analyse the 
components of external assets in foreign currency, namely 
net international reserves (NIRs), this amount remained quite 

With regard to the amounts transacted in the interbank market, 
December saw the highest amount for all of 2019, reaching AOA 
607 billion. This amount was up 41% over the previous month 
and up 95% over December 2018, providing yet another sign of 
deteriorating market liquidity, and driving liquidity demand in the 
interbank market. 

Even so, despite growth in the transaction volume in the last two 
months of 2019, the total transacted in 2019 was AOA 3,751 
billion. This amount was down 59% compared to the transaction 
volume in 2018 (AOA 9,068 billion).

The liquidity lending facility, an instrument by which banks may 
turn to BNA if they are unable to meet their liquidity needs in the 
interbank money market, had a total of AOA 238 billion through 
December 2019, compared to 3,492 billion in the previous period. 
However, data from the last three months clearly shows that banks 
are using this BNA facility more frequently, revealing a decline in 
the system’s liquidity.

The rise in liquidity swaps in the interbank market shows a rise in 
liquidity difficulties in domestic currency. These liquidity difficulties 
are primarily due BNA’s increased requirements for mandatory 
reserves.
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Billion AOA, except percentages

MONETARY SYNOPSIS Dec-18 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Var. 18/19 Var. %

External assets (net) 4.534 4.915 6.594 7.669 7.042 2.508 55%

BNA 3.527 3.988 5.289 6.297 5.764 2.238 63%

Amount of international reserves 3.285 3.815 5.066 6.076 5.708 2.423 74%

Commercial Banks 1.008 927 1.305 1.372 1.278 270 27%

Credits To Central Government (Commercial Banks) 3.307 3.096 3.704 3.725 3.510 203 6%

Loans To Financial Institutions (Non-Monetary) 13 27 30 35 28 14 108%

Loans To Public Sector 95 132 144 143 152 57 60%

Private Sector 4.251 4.064 4.418 4.486 4.479 229 5%

Commercial Banks 3.672 4.015 4.367 4.435 4.429 757 21%

Monetary Aggregate (M3) 8.111 8.738 10.255 10.228 10.219 2.108 26%

M2 (M1 + Near-Cash) 8.102 8.731 10.248 10.220 10.214 2.112 26%

M1 4.099 4.376 4.940 5.075 4.939 841 21%

Banknotes and Coins in Public Possession 371 343 365 380 419 48 13%

Transferable Deposits 3.728 4.033 4.575 4.695 4.520 793 21%

In Domestic Currency 2.422 2.532 2.589 2.713 2.787 365 15%

In Foreign Currency 1.306 1.502 1.986 1.981 1.733 427 33%

Near-Cash 4.003 4.355 5.307 5.146 5.275 1.272 32%

Other Deposits 4.003 4.355 5.307 5.146 5.275 1.272 32%

In Domestic Currency 1.704 1.704 1.760 1.636 1.647 -58 -3%

In Foreign Currency 2.299 2.651 3.547 3.510 3.628 1.329 58%

Other Instruments Comparable To Deposits 9 7 7 7 5 -5 -49%

stable throughout 2019. The biggest example occurred between 
September and October, when the of NIRs counter-value in 
domestic currency was up 33%, while the amount in dollars was 
up only 1%. 

The private sector continues to be the biggest recipient of credit, 
with a total of AOA 4,479 billion in December 2019 (+5%), with 
loans from commercial banking up 21%.

The money supply (M3) increased by 26% year-over-year, 
totalling AOA 10,219 billion in December 2019 (AOA 8,111 
billion in December 2018). With regard to M2, we continue to 
see an upward trend, up 26%, with a total of AOA 10,214 billion 
in December.

It is important to note that these increases in monetary 
aggregates are once again due to the devaluation of the kwanza, 
since the changes are more pronounced in foreign currencies. 
Banknotes and coins in the public’s possession increased 13% 
over the previous period, totalling AOA 419 billion in December 
2019 (AOA 371 billion in December 2018).

DOMESTIC BANKING SYSTEM
With regard to indicators on the soundness of the banking 
system, there is a trend towards higher credit risks throughout 
the course of 2019 (2019 September data). There is more past-
due credit than in the previous year, with 34.6% bad debt. These 
amounts represent an increase of 6.3 p.p over the ratio at the 
end of 2018, which was 28.3%. Note that, in December 2016, 
this indicator was just 13%.

With regard to banking’s exposure to the State, the indicator of 
credit granted to the State in September saw a slight reduction 
compared to 2018, at 9.8%. Note that this indicator has had a 
historical upward trend since 2015, a trend which has reversed 
until now in 2019. Credit to the private sector continues to have 
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ANGOLAN BANKING SYSTEM INDICATORS System

2017 2018 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19

Capital Adequacy

Solvency = Regulatory Equity / (Assets Weighted by 
Risk + Exchange Risk Capital Requirement/0.10)

18,9% 24,2% 29,0% 30,1% 31,2% 31,1% 24,3% 27,3% 27,5% 27,7% 27,9%

Base Equity (Level I) / Assets Weighted by Risk 17,6% 21,7% 22,7% 23,9% 24,8% 24,6% 20,6% 22,4% 22,5% 23,0% 23,6%

Asset Quality

Credit (Foreign Currency) / Total Credit 25,1% 28,1% 27,1% 27,3% 28,0% 27,7% 27,5% 28,9% 28,9% 28,9% 29,2%

Non-Performing Loans / Total Gross Credit 28,8% 28,3% 28,1% 27,8% 28,4% 28,5% 29,4% 30,5% 35,5% 35,4% 34,6%

Distribution of Credit by Business Sector

Credit to Public Sector over Total Credit 10,9% 11,6% 11,4% 11,0% 9,9% 9,7% 9,5% 9,7% 10,0% 9,7% 9,8%

Credit to Private Sector over Total Credit 90,8% 88,5% 88,6% 89,0% 90,1% 90,3% 90,5% 90,3% 90,0% 90,3% 90,2%

Profit And Profitability

Return on Assets (Roa) 2,1% 4,4% 0,8% 1,2% 0,9% 1,2% 1,5% 0,4% 0,1% 0,3% 0,8%

Return on Equity (Roe) 14,5% 26,6% 4,9% 6,3% 4,6% 6,4% 8,4% 2,6% 0,7% 1,9% 6,3%

Total Costs / Total Income 99,8% 99,6% 99,5% 99,7% 99,9% 99,9% 99,9% 102,6% 98,1% 93,7% 86,8%

Cost-to-Income 51,8% 30,3% 30,6% 32,9% 40,5% 43,6% 40,5% 44,4% 44,9% 44,0% 41,9%

Liquidity

Net Assets / Total Assets 33,8% 41,8% 21,8% 22,2% 23,1% 24,5% 22,8% 24,4% 24,1% 23,5% 24,3%

Net Assets / Short-Term Liabilities 43,2% 28,6% 29,0% 29,6% 29,8% 31,3% 29,1% 30,8% 30,2% 29,5% 30,4%

Total Credit / Total Deposits 49,3% 44,2% 45,3% 44,6% 43,5% 43,8% 44,1% 44,1% 44,4% 43,2% 44,0%

Liabilities in Foreign Currency / Total Liabilities 33,5% 46,1% 46,6% 45,7% 45,7% 45,6% 45,8% 45,7% 46,1% 46,5% 47,6%

Sensitivity and Market Changes

Net open Exchange Exposure / Regulatory Equity 46,1% 36,5% 28,9% 29,4% 29,3% 29,0% 32,2% 30,6% 14,2% 23,1% 28,4%

Number of Banks Reporting Information in the 
Period

 29 27 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26

the largest weight on the granting of credit, totalling 90.2% in 
September 2019.

Generally speaking, the banking sector has stable solvency 
levels, with the system’s average well above the minimum 10% 
required by BNA. BNA recently appraised the asset quality of the 
system’s 12 largest banks, not only to assess the quality of their 
assets, but also to evaluate their full compliance with generally 
accepted international accounting standards. These indicators 
still do not include the results of this assessment, primarily at 
banks with more fragile equity. However, growth in banking 
income during the past year, coupled with the rise in minimum 
required share capital, helped to solidify regulatory equity, 
catapulting solvency ratios to levels above the limit.

In September, return on equity (ROE) totalled 6.3%, down 18 p.p. 
from the previous period. This decrease may be due to the lower 
net profits to date, since the majority of banks have catapulted 
their net profits, thanks to exchange revaluations after the 
devaluation in October.

With regard to return on assets (ROA), the banking system had 
the amount of 0.8% in September 2019, down 3.6 p.p from the 
same period in 2018. This decrease may be due to slower growth 
in banks’ assets, particularly loans, as well as lower net profits.
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3.3. RELEVANT 2019 
         REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
Over the course of 2019, within the scope of its regulatory 
powers, Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) published a series of 
rules and procedures on various spheres of activity (exchange, 
monetary and financial policy) for the purpose of bolstering 
the financial system. Some of the more important rules and 
procedures in 2019 are described below:

a. Foreign currency transaction pricing (Notice n.º 3/2019)
This notice established ceilings for fees and expenses charged 
for transactions in foreign currency and for the exchange 
margin used in certain transactions, together with determining 
the currency for collecting these fees. These ceilings may be 
subject to change based on market circumstances, while Banco 
Nacional de Angola (BNA) may change the margins for ceilings 
in place.

In addition, the notice prohibits financial institutions from 
charging any other fees, expenses or costs for transactions in 
foreign currency, including those using credit or prepaid cards 
abroad, beyond those referred to in the annex to this notice, 
without prior authorization from Banco Nacional de Angola. 

Meanwhile, only those fees and expenses in foreign currency 
referred to in the annex may be calculated based on this currency, 
while all remaining fees, expenses and costs, regardless of their 
associated products, must be shown in commercial banks’ price 
lists in domestic currency, without being indexed to foreign 
currency of any kind.

Finally, any fees, expenses or costs in foreign currency, whether 
fixed or a percentage of the transaction amount, must always be 
charged in domestic currency. The maximum exchange margins 

for converting fees, expenses and costs calculated in foreign 
currency and charged in domestic currency are also defined in 
the above notice.

b. Granting of credit to the real economy (Notice n.º 4/2018)
The purpose of this regulatory instrument is to promote the 
diversification of the real Angolan economy, with a view to 
lowering its dependency on the importing of goods and services 
and enhancing the sustainability of the country’s external 
accounts, within the scope of two core government measures, 
including the Production Support, Export Diversification and 
Import Replacement Program, known as “PRODESI”.

Note that this instrument applies to the granting of credit by 
financial banking institutions for the production of essential goods 
with domestic production supply deficits, namely:

• Broiler and egg-producing poultry and production of their by-
products;

• Cattle breeding, carp farming, pig breeding and production 
of their by-products;

• Rice cultivation and production of its by-products;

• Sugar cane cultivation and production of its by-products;

• Bean cultivation and production of its by-products;

• Cassava cultivation and production of its by-products;

• Corn cultivation and production of its by-products;

• Soybean cultivation and production of its by-products;

• Milk and production of its by-products;

• Cooking oil;

• Fish and production of its by-products;

• Blue soap and common salt.

In this way, when selling foreign currency to their customers, 
financial banking institutions must prioritize the hedging of 
exchange needs which contribute, directly or indirectly, to the 
production of the above goods.

c. Rules and procedures for performing exchange transactions 
by natural persons (Notice n.º 12/2019)
This notice clarifies rules and procedures for making payments 
abroad for exchange transactions for invisible currents (private 
transactions ordered by natural persons for travel expenses, 
unilateral transfers of a private nature, including for household 
support, education and health), merchandise and capital 
ordered by natural persons who are residents and non-residents 
for exchange purposes.

An annual ceiling was established for the purchase of 
foreign currency, which in cumulative terms may not exceed 
$120,000.00 (one hundred and twenty thousand United States 
dollars), when ordered by the same person, regardless of the 
payment instrument employed. This ceiling does not apply to 
expenses involving health, education and accommodations 
when paid directly to the providers of the services, together 
with the transfer of funds accumulated by foreign citizens who 
are non-residents for exchange purposes during their stay in the 
country, at their time of departure.

Furthermore, private transactions for travel expenses and 
unilateral transfers of a private nature (including for family 
support) are exempt from the submission of support 
documentation. In the case of foreign currency purchased for 
expenses involving health, education and accommodations paid 
directly to the providers of these services, the financial banking 
institution must obtain the invoice or other billing document.
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d. Limit on exchange position (Notice n.º 14/2019)
In view of the need to update regulations on commercial banks’ 
daily exchange position limit, Notice no. 14/2019 established a 
new ceiling in this regard, namely:

• Each day, banks must have an overall exchange position 
not exceeding 2.5% of their regulatory equity, regardless of 
whether the position is long or short;

• Regulatory equity calculated at the closing of the previous 
month is considered, including accumulated results through 
this date for this purpose, even when not audited;

• The exchange position must be calculated in United States 
dollars.

Any failure to comply with these ceilings is subject to penalties, 
including prohibition from performing foreign currency sale 
transactions to customers until the exchange position falls back 
below these limits, with penalties applicable to each day of non-
compliance.

e. Mandatory Reserves (Construction n.º 17/2019)
This regulatory initiative updated existing rules for calculating 
and complying with mandatory reserves, in view of the current 
stability of the macroeconomic environment, for the purpose of 
streamlining monetary policy instruments.

As such, the regulator made the following change in 2019:

• Increase in the mandatory reserve coefficient from 17% to 
22%, changing the basis for calculating mandatory reserves 
in domestic currency.
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NOTICES

Number Subject Issue Publication Effective date

Notice n.º 01/2019 Guarantee Fund Basis for calculating Deposit Guarantee Fund (FGD) contributions for participating financial institutions 22-01-2019 22-01-2019

Notice n.º 02/2019 Financial Conduct

Foreign Currency Transaction Pricing
-Fee and expense ceilings
-Maximum exchange margin applicable to certain transactions
-Currency for charging fees

31-03-2019 31-03-2019

Notice n.º 03/2013 Exchange Policy Foreign Currency Transaction Pricing 31-03-2019 31-03-2019

Notice n.º 04/2019 Payment System
Granting of credit to the real economy
- Terms and conditions

03-04-2019 03-04-2019

Notice n.º 05/2019 Financial System Accounting standardization and reconciliation of the Angolan banking sector 09-09-2019 09-09-2019

Notice n.º 06/2019 Microcredit companies Amendment to the wording of articles 2 and 6 of Notice n.º 8/12 of 30 March. 09-09-2019 09-09-2019

Notice n.º 07/2019 Monetary Policy Granting of credit to the real economy 07-10-2019 07-10-2019

Notice n.º 08/2019 Exchange Policy
Foreign exchange offices
- Operating rules 

12-11-2019 12-11-2019

Notice n.º 09/2019 Exchange Policy
Provision of payment services
-Remittance service operating rules 

12-11-2019 12-11-2019

Notice n.º 10/2019 Exchange Policy
Exchange Policy
-Procedures for performing exchange transactions by natural persons 

12-11-2019 12-01-2020

Notice n.º 11/2019 Exchange Policy
Foreign Currency Transaction Pricing
-Fee and expense ceilings
-Currency for charging fees

09-12-2019 09-12-2019

Notice n.º 12/2019 Exchange Policy
Exchange Policy
-Rules and procedures for performing exchange transactions by natural persons 

11-12-2019 03-01-2020

Notice n.º 13/2019 Exchange Policy
Exchange Policy
-Oil and gas sector exchange transactions for the settlement of goods and services provided by residents for exchange purposes

11-12-2019 02-01-2020

Notice n.º 14/2019 Exchange Policy
Exchange Policy
-Limit on exchange position

11-12-2019 02-01-2020
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INSTRUCTIONS

Number Subject Issue Publication Effective date

Instruction n.º 01/2019 Payment System Angola Automated Clearing House Guarantees for settling balances 04-01-2019 04-01-2019

Instruction n.º 02/2019 Financial System Obligation to provide information to customers on the Deposit Guarantee Fund 18-01-2019 18-01-2019

Instruction n.º 03/2019 Payment System Payment System Angola Automated Clearing House Guarantees for settling balances 08-04-2019 08-04-2019

Instruction n.º 04/2019 Monetary Policy Financial System Granting of credit 26-04-2019 26-04-2019

Instruction n.º 05/2019 Financial System Financial System Processing of banknotes of questionable legitimacy 08-07-2019 08-07-2019

Instruction n.º 06/2019 Financial System Financial System Kwanza banknote deposit and withdrawal transactions 08-07-2019 08-07-2019

Instruction n.º 07/2019 Financial System Angolan payment system Ceilings on transactions performed in payment systems 08-07-2019 08-07-2019

Instruction n.º 08/2019 Financial System Loan portfolio impairment losses 02-09-2019 02-09-2019

Instruction n.º 09/2019 Financial System Financial instrument disclosures 02-09-2019 02-09-2019

Instruction n.º 10/2019 Financial System Leases Amendment to the wording of points 7.3 and 8.2 of Instruction n.º 08/16 of 08 August 06-09-2019 06-09-2019

Instruction n.º 11/2019 Financial System Processing of loan portfolio losses 06-09-2019 06-09-2019

Instruction n.º 12/2019 Financial System Securities 06-09-2019 06-09-2019

Instruction n.º 13/2019 Financial System Effective interest rate method in recognizing financial instrument income and expenses 06-09-2019 06-09-2019

Instruction n.º 14/2019 Financial System Chart of Accounts of Financial Banking Institutions 09-09-2019 09-09-2019

Instruction n.º 15/2019 Financial System Chart of Accounts of Financial Non-Banking Institutions 09-09-2019 09-09-2019

Instruction n.º 16/2019 Exchange Policy Reference exchange rates Calculation methodology Exchange rates of Financial Banking Institutions 25-10-2019 25-10-2019

Instruction n.º 17/2019 Monetary Policy -Mandatory Reserves 25-10-2019 25-10-2019

Instruction n.º 18/2019 Exchange Policy Exchange Policy Ceilings on merchandise import exchange transactions 25-10-2019 25-10-2019

Instruction n.º 19/2019 Exchange Policy Foreign currency purchase and sale auctions Organizational and operating procedures 07-11-2019 07-11-2019
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DIRECTIVES 

Number Subject Issue Publication Effective date

Directive n.º 01/DSP/DRO 2019 Payment System
Guarantees in Angola Automated Clearing House (CCAA) subsystems Parameters for determining minimum guarantees and penalties 
for non-compliance

04-01-2019 04-01-2019

Directive n.º 01/DMA/2019 Exchange Policy BNA rate -Notice n.º 10/2011 of 20 October 31-01-2019 31-01-2019

Directive n.º 01/DCC/2019 Exchange Policy Provision of information on declarations of payment commitment, issued by commercial banks, for the exporting of merchandise 12-02-2019 12-02-2019

Directive n.º 002/DSP/DRO/2019 Payment System Payment Card Expiry Date 22-02-2019 22-02-2019

Directive n.º 03/DEE/DSB/DRO 2019 Monetary Policy
Sending of additional information on new credits and deposits through the Financial Institution Supervision System (SSIF)
-Monthly information -Commercial banks

16-04-2019 16-04-2019

Directive n.º 02/DCC/ 2019 Exchange Policy Definition of “exchange defaults” 16-05-2019 16-05-2019

Directive n.º 05/DSB/DRO/ 2019 Monetary Policy Reporting of information on the granting of credit to the real economy through the Financial Institution Supervision System (SSIF) 21-05-2019 21-05-2019

Directive n.º 04/DSP/DRO/ 2019 Payment Systems
Guarantees in Angola Automated Clearing House (CCAA) subsystems 
-Parameters for determining minimum guarantees and penalties for non-compliance

04-06-2019 04-06-2019

Directive n.º 02/DMA/ 2019 Monetary Policy
BNA rate 
-Notice n.º 12/2012 of 02 April

04-06-2019 04-06-2019

Directive n.º 06/DCC/DMA/ 2019 Exchange Policy
Exchange Policy - Documentary credit for importing
- Allocation of limits by Banco Nacional de Angola - Applicable terms and conditions  

08-07-2019 08-07-2019

Directive n.º 02/DMA/ 2019 Financial System BNA basic interest rate – BNA rate, interest rates of transactions for permanent liquidity lending and borrowing facilities 25-10-2019 25-10-2019

Directive n.º 03/DCC/ 2019 Financial System Settlement of letters of credit under quantity auctions 25-10-2019 25-10-2019

Directive n.º 08/DMA/ DRO/2019 Exchange Market Mandatory reserve calculation and compliance requirements 25-10-2019 25-10-2019

Directive n.º 04/DCC/2019 Exchange Policy Definition of “exchange defaults” 07-11-2019 07-11-2019

Directiva n.º 09/DSP/DIF/2019 Payment System Statistical information from mobile payment services 27-11-2019 27-11-2019

Directive n.º 10/DSB/DRO/2019 Financial System Deadlines for reporting information via the Financial Institutions Portal (PIF) 10-12-2019 10-12-2019

Directive n.º 11/DSB/DRO/2019 Financial System Deadlines for reporting information via the Financial Institutions Portal (PIF) 20-12-2019 20-12-2019

Directive n.º 12/DCF/DRO/2019 Financial Conduct Financial products and services consumer protection 27-12-2019 27-12-2019

Directive n.º 13/DSB/DRO/2019 Supervision Guide on the AQA Methodology Implementation Recommendations for 2019 27-12-2019 27-12-2019
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4.1. PROFILE OF SEGMENTS
Banco Keve’s sales network has been structured to provide the 
best services to its customers. To make this possible, the Bank 
uses segmentation to offer specific products and services to 
individual customers, institutions and companies alike.

In order to streamline and improve its banking products and 
services, and to better assist its customers, Banco Keve’s 
sales area has been divided into three segments (DGE- Large 
Enterprise Division, DRC- Sales Network Division and DPR- 
Private Banking Division) to work with each of these different 
segments, fostering a closer relationship with each one.
The main segmentation criteria are as follows:

Large Enterprise Division
• Corporate groups or companies (starting at a certain sales 

level)

• Groups of state corporate entities, associations, foundations 
and public institutes

Sales Network Division
• Retail banking – Individual Customers

• Small and Medium-sized Enterprises whose characteristics 
do not match the Large Enterprise Division

Private Banking Division
• Private Individual Customers (freelance professionals, 

entrepreneurs and top private)

In this way, Banco Keve’s turnover in 2019 was AOA 204.6 billion, 
up 3.9% year-over-year.

4.2. LARGE ENTERPRISES
In 2019, the number of customers in this segment grew 8% 
compared to 2018, for a total of 1,466. In terms of customer 
resources, the large enterprise segment totalled AOA 45,595 
million in 2019, AOA 11,988 million less than the previous year.

This decrease is mostly due to the higher volume of transactions 
abroad, thanks to improved customer accessibility to foreign 
currency, as well as the performance of delayed transactions.

The large enterprise segment currently accounts for 39% of all 
customer funds, although still down 7 p.p over the course of 
2019 (46% in 2018 vs. 39% in 2019).

At the end of 2019, total demand deposits (AOA 25,108 million) 
accounted for around 22% of all of the segment’s deposits, 
down 20 p.p year-over-year. This entailed a decrease of AOA 
8,206 million compared to 2018. Term deposits totalled AOA 
20,487 million, similarly with a year-over-year decrease of AOA 
3,781 million. This drop was due to market liquidity difficulties 
resulting in lower company savings, together with improved 
exchange market access, which forced companies to use more 
of their savings because of the higher cost of foreign currency 
from the devaluation of the kwanza.

Customer resources Credit Turnover

88 017 448 204 637 305

116 619 857

2019 Turnover
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38%

6%

56%

Sales Network Division

Large Enterprise Division

Private Division

49 994 072  57 582 650
45 595 107

 114 102 663

 

125 133 315

 

116 619 857

2017 2018 2019

Total DepositsLarge Enterprise Division

Deposits/Large Enterprises
(Thousands AOA)

 26 878 729  
33 313 953

 25 107 806

23 115 343

24 268 697

20 487 301

2017 2018 2019

Deposits/Large Enterprises
(Thousand AOA)

Demand Deposit Term Deposit
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In terms of currency, deposits in domestic currency had a weight 
of 70% of the total large enterprise segment (86% in 2018). In 
2019, deposits in domestic currency were down AOA 17,907 
million year-over-year.

The decrease in deposits in domestic currency contrasts with the 
rise in the counter-value of foreign currency, since the kwanza’s 
degree of devaluation allowed a 52% rise in the counter-value of 
foreign currency in this segment.

4.3. COMMERCIAL AND PRIVATE
         NETWORK
Because of its scope, the sales network segment continued 
to have the highest volume of the Bank’s resources, making 
small and medium-sized enterprises and individual customers 
highly important throughout 2019. In 2019, the sales network 
segment had total deposits on the order of AOA 57,321 million, 
up AOA 1,170 million year-over-year, increasing its weight on 
the Bank’s total deposits to 49% (45% in 2018).

The private segment has continued to rise in recent years, 
reaching a total of AOA 13,703 million in 2019, for an increase 
of 20% in this segment.

The sales network had a total of 221,981 customers in 2019, 
accounting for 99% of the Bank’s total customers. The private 
segment, because of its characteristics, is much smaller in terms 
of customers (around 342), although its power and volume of 
deposits give it very strong leverage.

In terms of types of deposits, demand deposits are the most 
common in the sales network, totalling AOA 43,352 million. 

Demand deposits in this sector grew around 2.3% year-over-year, 
while term deposits were up 1.4% at AOA 13,970 million. This 
performance of term deposits reflects the greater difficulties 
for customers in this segment to have savings vis-à-vis the 
country’s more restrictive economic situation.

In the private segment, term deposits have the highest weight, 
totalling AOA 10,610 million. This amount represents 77% of the 
private segment’s deposits, clearly demonstrating the higher 
appetite for savings and investment products among customers 
in this segment.

114 102 663

125 133 315
116 619 857

55 357 963   
56 151 801 57 321 464

2017 2018 2019

Total DepositsSales Network Division

Network deposits
(Thousand AOA)

114 102 663

125 133 315
116 619 857
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11 398 865 13 703 286

2017 2018 2019
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Private Deposits
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43 351 621
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2017 2018 2019

Private Deposits
(Thousand AOA)

Demand Deposit Term Deposit

47 042 843
49 859 254

31 952 668

49 994 072
57 582 650
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2017 2018 2019

Total Large EnterprisesDomestic Currency

Deposits in Domestic Currency/Large Enterprises
(Thousand AOA)
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Domestic currency continues to be more common in deposits at 
Banco Keve as well as in the sales network segment. Around 80% 
of the sales network’s deposits are in domestic currency, totalling 
AOA 50,759 million in 2019.

In the private segment, term deposits have the highest weight, 
totalling AOA 10,610 million. This amount represents 77% of the 
private segment’s deposits, clearly demonstrating the higher 
appetite for savings and investment products among customers 
in this segment.

4.4. DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS AND 
ELECTRONIC BANKING

DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS

Branches
The Bank has 61 commercial units comprised of a network 
of branches, business centres and private banking. We have 
locations in almost every province, and provide services to more 
than 201,480 customers. A large number of these units are 
located in the province of Luanda.

The Bank has a policy of continuously opening commercial units 
which, in turn, are managed based on an assessment of the 
business potential of specific customers or areas.

Automated Teller Machines (ATMs)
At the end of 2019, the Bank had a total of 120 ATMs, up only 
1% over 2018 (+2 ATMs). The Bank’s ATMs are distributed over 41 
municipalities, representing a market share of 3.8% (ninth place) 
compared to a total of 3,125 ATMs registered in the banking 
system.

2017 2018 2019 Var.

N.º ATMs 117 118 120 1,7%

N.º of Municipalities 41 41 41 0,0%

Only 112 of the registered 120 ATMs are active, representing an 
activity rate on the order of 93.4%.

In general terms, the nation’s banking system had a total of 3,125 
automated teller machines in 2019, with an activity rate of 94.4%. 
Growth was 0.1% over the number of automated teller machines 
registered in 2018 (3,101). 

52 384 045
50 681 496 50 759 305

52 357 963 56 151 801 57 321 463

 

2017 2018 2019

Total NetworkDomestic Currency

Network Deposits in Domestic Currency
(Thousand AOA)

8 750 62

11 398 865

13 703 286

6 907 587
8 321 704

9 087 319

 

2017 2018 2019

Total Private PrivateDomestic Currency

Private Deposits in Domestic Currency
(Thousand AOA)

Open Branches Coming Soon

Namibe Cabinda Lunda Norte

Huíla Bengo Uíge

Cunene Luanda Cuanza Norte

Cuando Cubango Cuanza Sul Lunda Sul

Huambo Benguela Moxico

Malanje Zaire Bié

CABINDA

ZAIRE

BENGO

MALANJE

CUANZA SUL

BENGUELA

NAMIBE

HUAMBO

HUÍLA

CUNENE

LUANDA

UIGE

CUANZA NORTE

BIÉ

CUANDO
CUBANGO

LUANDA NORTE

LUANDA SUL

MOXICO
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Automatic Payment Terminals (APTs)
In 2019, the Bank’s network of APTs was down 8%, totalling 1,136 
(1,231 in 2018). The level of activity was around 63% (measured 
by the ratio of active versus registered APTs), below the activity 
level of the banking system for practically all of 2019 (the level of 
activity of the banking system was 66% at the end of 2019).

Debit (Multicaixa) and VISA cards
With regard to debit (Multicaixa) cards, the Bank had a total of 
119,563 valid issued cards, of which only 76,870 were in active 
status (64% activity). An analysis of the ratio of live debit cards 
versus valid cards shows that the Bank’s performance is below 
the network average (down 5%) over the course of 2018.

The national network had a total of 5,658,784 valid debit 
cards, of which 4,553,150 are active. These amounts show that 
network cards had an activity rate of 80% in 2019.
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The production of VISA cards was down sharply, in view of the 
economic environment and unavailability of foreign currency in 
the country. In 2019, the Bank issued a total of 1,173 VISA cards, 
340 fewer cards in just one year (21% lower).

Internet Banking (iKEVE) Aand KEVE SMS
There were 16,573 Internet banking contracts signed in 2019, 
including 729 for companies and 15,844 for individuals. 
Transactions by individuals and companies were up 167% 
compared to 2018.

ELECTRONIC BANKING STATISTICS

2017 2018 2019 Var. 19/18

N.º of Contracts 1/

Corporate 2.918 5.197 729 -86%

Private Individuals 43.153 10.314 15.844 54%

Total Internet Banking 46.071 15.511 16.573 7%

N.º of Transactions 3.109 17.602 47.040 167%

Nº of Transactions/Nº of 
Contracts

0 1 3 150%

Keve SMS

N.º of Contracts 1/ 41.856 10.498 137.890 1213%

Keve Tablet

Nº of Contracts 9.753 4.564 24.498 437%

1/ Contracts in effect on 31 December 2019

With regard to Keve SMS, there were 137,890 contracts signed 
in 2019, down 1,213% from 2018. The number of Keve Tablet 
contracts signed was 24,498 in December 2019 (annual increase 
of 437%).

SERVICES PROVIDED BY IKEVE AND KEVE SMS

iKeve KeveSMS

• Balance consultation;

• Cheque Request;

• Account-to-account transfers;

• Due date schedule
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• Debit Authorizations
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• Financing

• Payments 

• Foreign currency
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5.1. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND 
ORGANIZATION
The Angolan economy has seen a slowdown in its economic 
growth, primarily due to the downturn in the oil sector, with 
major impacts on average citizens’ incomes. This scenario has 
been accompanied in recent years by developments in the 
Angolan financial system, with mounting attention and concern 
among supervisory authorities and market agents with regard 
to banking institution risk management.

Along these lines, Angolan financial institutions have had a 
sharper focus on risk mitigation and management issues, to be 
better aligned with the demands of the supervisory authority, 
Banco Nacional de Angola. Financial institutions have adopted 
more effective risk control models to preserve their business 
structure by keeping default rates manageable, together with 
minimum regulatory capital vis-à-vis banks’ solvency.

In 2016, Banco Nacional de Angola published a set of Notices, 
Instructions and Directives which established, within the scope 
of the new regulatory package, a wide range of requirements 
involving solvency ratio calculation, equity and equity 
requirements, and the provision of corresponding information. 
In parallel, in 2017, it published rules governing the requirement 
to perform stress tests using internationally accepted and 
recognized concepts.

Risk management is one of the biggest responsibilities in the 
area of business continuity, a task primarily tied to the Bank’s 
governing board (Executive Committee). Although risks are 
managed by a specific Office, all of Banco Keve’s employees have 
the responsibility to identify and report potential risks that may 
impact its business.

We successfully navigated the year with positive trends, 
although there were considerable increases in the inflation and 
unemployment rates, directly impacting the financial standing 
of customers with responsibilities to the Bank. In accordance 
with these circumstances, the Bank positioned itself coherently 
by supporting customers and offering better solutions 
addressing needs and with mutual benefits.

2019 demonstrated the paramount importance of financial 
institutions in properly managing risks, and was marked by 
consolidation and soundness in the Bank’s risk management 
system and the reporting of all information requested under 
the supervisory authority’s new regulatory package. In addition, 
a detailed action plan was prepared describing measures to be 
implemented to comply with rules on regulatory equity.

Risk management at Banco Keve is based on constantly 
identifying and analysing exposure to different risks (credit 
risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and others), and 
putting together a detailed action plan describing the measures 
to be implemented to comply with rules on regulatory equity.

The Board of Directors and Executive Committee, as the Bank’s 
governing boards, have the responsibility for and shared 
understanding of business risks and the degree of risk tolerance 
or appetite. At the Executive Committee, the Risk Office (GRI) is 
overseen by one Executive Director, without direct responsibility 
for the commercial divisions.

This intervening area of the Bank’s governance establishes a 
framework and robust control mechanisms, fully functioning 
with their own powers, under its supervision, ensuring areas 
with controls and processes to safeguard and monitor the 
Bank’s business risks from the standpoint of current and 
strategic management.

The Bank has a centralized and independent structural unit 
for analysing and controlling risk, in accordance with best 
international practices, with the Risk Office (GRI) responsible for 
monitoring all global risks.

The various structural areas involved in the comprehensive 
management of capital and risks, and their respective 
responsibilities broken down by three lines of defence, are 
described below.

Financial Risk
Management Office

Credit
Risk

Market
Risk

Liquidity
Risk

Operational
Risk

Non-Financial Risk
Management Office

Risk Management 
Office

Organizational Structure of Risk Management System



49

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

The functional scheme of these lines of defence is as follows:

The model is also characterized by three effective lines of 
defence for risk management and control, which significantly 
enhances the notification, control and management of risks, 
clarifying essential rules and responsibilities to constantly 
monitor risk management initiatives.

RISK MANAGEMENT CYCLE AND POLICY
The Bank’s risk management policy has a conservative profile 
to safeguard the institution’s solvency and sustainability in the 
long term. Banco Keve follows commonly accepted practices in 
risk management, including recommendations from regulatory 
authorities, with a policy founded on a set of structural principles:

• Conservatism: Banco Keve’s goal is to is to adequately and 
prudently manage the portfolio of risks to which it is exposed, 
using stricter assumptions to ensure that sufficient capital is 
allocated to each risk to cover losses from extremely adverse 
scenarios, thereby preserving the Bank’s financial value and 
capital;

• Independence: the level of risk exposure must be assessed and 
monitored by an organizational area which is independent 
from the Bank’s organizational structures which assume 
risks, although the latter should assess and monitor them as 
well, within the scope of their powers and responsibilities;

• Review: since the Bank’s working environment is constantly 
changing, the risk management policy should be periodically 
reviewed to adapt it to new characteristics and to incorporate 
new information and methodologies, whether imposed 
by supervisory authorities or by the institution’s goals for 
systematic improvement;

• Cooperation: the ultimate goal of risk management is to lay 
the groundwork for better decision-making at the Bank’s 
various structural units, in order to minimize the impact of 
adverse events on its results. As such, all of its Divisions and 
Offices must cooperate in this process;

• Integration: risk management should be part of the Bank’s 
daily routine, as well as planning its strategy and goals.

IDENTIFICATION AND ASSESSMENT OF KEY RISK
CATEGORIES
The mission of Banco Keve’s Risk Office is to ensure the continuous, 
sound operation of the Bank’s risk management system, by 
developing and fostering a culture of effective risk management in 
all of its organic units.

In this way, the Risk Office follows a cycle to efficiently troubleshoot 
and assess key risks.

The Risk Office follows a management cycle for all key risks, 
supported by the most suitable processes and tools according 
to the Bank’s risk profile and directives handed down by national 
regulatory authorities. In this way, the Bank ensures that its risk 
control strategy is accomplished, supporting the functioning of 
the system of limits in place.

5.2. CREDIT RISK
Pursuant to Notice no. 07/2016 off 22 June on risk governance, 
financial institutions must adopt risk management functions, 
policies and processes for the identification, assessment, 
monitoring, control and provision of information regarding 
credit risk.

As such, Banco Keve’s credit risk management process is 
characterized by four cycles. The cycles follow guidance from 

Identification

Assessment

Risk
Response

Monitoring

First line of defence

Extern
al A

u
ditors

Regu
lators

Second line of defence

Risk Management

Third line of defence
Internal Audit

Compliance

Risk taking areas

Board of Directors and Audit Board
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Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) in Instruction no. 9/2016 of 16 
May establishing prudential limits for major risks. This notice 
was followed by the publication of Instruction no. 12/2016 
of August concerning the calculation and requirements of 
regulatory equity for credit risk and counterparty credit risk, 
and Instruction no. 13/2016 of 08 August concerning the 
provision of information on the regulatory equity requirement 
for credit risk and counterparty credit risk, both regulating the 
technical specificities and sharing of information for calculating 
requirements. Finally, Instruction no. 03/2017 of 30 January 
determined the provision of information on prudential limits 
for major risks.

According to Notice 2/2013, credit risk is the risk of non-
fulfilment of contractually established financial commitments 
by a borrower or a counterparty in the transactions.

Risk processes are monitored, analysed and managed by 
the Credit Division, with the involvement of the Monitoring, 
Collections and Loan Recovery Office (GMR) in the event of 
default exceeding 90 days. In structural terms, this function is 
activated and addressed by the Credit Committee, which meets 
twice per month.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
Individual and corporate credit transactions are approved 
following the principles and procedures of the Bank’s credit 
regulations, approved by Service Order-CRD/0044.

The credit decision-making process includes the individual and 
corporate segments, with four underlying levels of decision-
making according to the transaction’s nature, amount, term, 
customer/business group exposure and degree of risk, as 
laid out in Credit Committee and Commission Regulation – 
EFU/0345.

Credit Committee

Level I

• Chairman of the Board of Directors 

• Chairman of the Executive Committee

• Three (3) Executive Directors (Area of Responsibility*/Risk/Commercial)

Credit Committee

Level II

Permanent Sporadic*

• Chairman of the Executive Committee

• Three (3) Executive Directors (Area of Responsibility*/Risk/Commercial)

DRH - Opinion on credit transactions with employees.

GMR - Opinion on credit transactions with default exceeding 90 days. 

DCR - Opinion on credit transactions with external customers, and on 
credit transactions with default exceeding 90 days. 

DIB - Proposes technical sheets for analysing derivative credit from lines of 
financing. 

Level III • Three (3) Executive Directors (Area of Responsibility*/Risk/Commercial)

Level IV Commercial Director + Sales Manager

Credit decisions undergo a meticulous process before their 
approval by credit committees and commissions, which include 
both permanent and sporadic members. In addition, there are 
four hierarchical decision-making levels in accordance with the 
credit proposal’s relevance and materiality.

Because of their risk analysis and business relationship duties, 
permanent members are mandatory in the decision-making 
process. The composition of sporadic members varies according 
to the characteristics of the proposals to be decided on, and the 
limits of responsibility in question.

The composition of credit committee and commission meetings 
varies according to the counterparty involved, amount of 
exposure and limit of responsibility, and whether additional 
characteristics exist which require the involvement of other 
members of the Bank.

The credit commission has the following levels:
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In the wake of directives handed down by the regulatory 
authority concerning risk monitoring and prudential oversight, 
together with other global risk management needs, a framework 
was developed and approved by Service Order-210/2016 for the 
monthly monitoring and oversight of credit risk, with overall 
information on the customer loan portfolio from various 
standpoints, and information on portfolio quality, concentration 
and profitability.

In this regard, regular analyses are conducted on the loan 
portfolio’s performance, with a view to establishing monitoring 
tools suited to the changing risk levels of certain customers and 
their transactions, in order to foresee potential difficulties and 
take preventive measures for risks in progress.

Problematic loans, levels of coverage by provisions, write-offs 
and recoveries are also analysed monthly. Within the scope of 
credit risk control activities, a number of different reports are 
produced and distributed to the Executive Committee:

• Analysis of developments in past-due loans

• Analysis of developments in customer loan portfolio

• Control of concentration limits

5.3. LIQUIDITY RISK
As described in point 3.9 of Instruction no. 19/2016 of 30 August, 
liquidity risk is defined as risk originating from the institution’s 
inability to meet its liabilities when they fall due.

Managing the Bank’s liquidity risk is a responsibility of the 
Financial Markets Division (DMF), aligned with the monitoring 
process of the Risk Office (GRI). In structural terms, liquidity 
management is monitored by the Assets and Liabilities 
Management Committee (ALCO), which meets monthly. At 

the ALCO, liquidity is monitored through contingency and 
accumulated gap control schedules, the third-party capital 
financing structure and the residual maturities of assets and 
liabilities.

Similarly, changes in the Bank’s liquidity are analysed weekly, 
together with compliance with monthly and bimonthly 
reporting to Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA). This entails an 
analysis by currency and by maturity gap schedules, allowing 
any disparities to be quickly found, together with the dynamic 
management of their hedging policies. This information is 
broken down by different sources of financing, permanent 
monitoring of any levels of concentration, and the various 
constituent assets.

This process is reinforced from a control standpoint by 
BNA regulatory indicators, namely the liquidity schedules 
in Instruction no. 19/2016, also ensuring compliance with 
observation and liquidity ratios with regard to rules on adequate 
equity.

Risk management is the responsibility of the GRI, which has a 
balance sheet management application to project balance sheet 
cash flows for improved monitoring of liquidity management 
reports.

5.4. MARKET RISK
Pursuant to article 3 (15) of Notice no. 07/2016 on Risk 
Governance, Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) defines market 
risk as risk originating from adverse changes in the prices of 
bonds, shares or merchandise, including exchange and interest 
rate risk. Market risk is monitored by the GRI, as well as being 
analysed in Assets and Liabilities Management Committee 
meetings, which are held monthly.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
In article 3 (15a) of Notice no. 07/2016 on Risk Governance, 
foreign exchange risk is defined as risk originating from changes 
in exchange rates resulting from exchange positions from 
financial instruments denominated in other currencies.

Managing foreign exchange risk is the responsibility of the 
GRI. In structural terms, foreign exchange risk management is 
handled by the Liabilities and Assets Management Committee 
(ALCO), which meets monthly. Within the scope of this 
committee, foreign exchange risk monitoring includes an 
analysis of changes in interest rates, an analysis of financial 
assets and liabilities by domestic and foreign currency, and the 
exchange position.

In addition, each day, the DMF prepares a financial table which 
calculates the balance sheet per currency and the exchange 
exposure and position ratios, and reports them to the Executive 
Committee.

INTEREST RATE RISK
In article 3 (15b) of Notice no. 07/2016 on Risk Governance, interest 
rate risk is defined as movements in interest rates resulting from 
mismatches in the amount, maturities or terms of interest rates 
observed in financial instruments with interest receivable and 
payable.

Interest rate risk management is monitored by the GRI. In structural 
terms, interest rate risk management is also handled by the ALCO. 
In this regard, interest rate risk monitoring includes an analysis of 
changes in interest rates and accumulated repricing gaps.

Similarly, the Bank monitors structural interest rate risk based 
on sensitivity analyses of the financial margin and prudential 
equity vis-à-vis interest rate curve fluctuations. This is done 
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based on the gap analysis technique, where all assets and 
liabilities sensitive to interest rate changes and not associated 
with trading portfolios are distributed according to their 
maturities. Likewise, the Market Room allocated to the Financial 
Markets Division (DMF) prepares a quarterly interest rate report, 
where it analyses the gaps of lending and borrowing rates.

Regarding the impact of interest rates on regulatory equity and 
the financial margin, Banco Keve continuously evaluates its 
degree of exposure to interest rate risk in the banking portfolio 
and – in the event of a potential shock with a decline of 20% 
(twenty per cent) or more in the institution’s regulatory equity 
within a single working day – notifies Banco Nacional de Angola 
(BNA).

The Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk is mitigated by 
narrowing gaps between the time bucket and accounting items 
sensitive to interest rates.

5.5. OPERATIONAL RISK
Pursuant to Notice no. 07/2016 off 22 June on risk governance, 
financial institutions must adopt risk management functions, 
policies and processes for the identification, assessment, 
monitoring, control and provision of information regarding 
operational risk.

Along these lines, Banco Keve’s operational risk management 
process is characterized by four cycles. The cycles follow 
guidance from Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) in Instruction 
no. 28/2016 of 16 November concerning operational risk 
governance.

In parallel with the above, the Risk Office has carried out various 
activities to implement the operational risk management 
function. As the unit responsible for monitoring operational 

risk, the GRI uses specific tools for the timely monitoring of 
risks found, actions taken, those responsible and the status quo, 
along with the performance of key risk indicators (KRIs) and any 
recorded losses or failures.

In 2018, to materialize its role in the area of operational risk, 
Banco Keve used the following operational risk management 
tools, per the BNA requirement laid out in point 3.2 of Instruction 
no. 28/2016 of 16 November on operational risk governance:

Operational risk is defined as the risk which comes from the 
inadequacy of internal processes, people or systems, the potential 
occurrence of internal and external fraud, as well as external 
events. It includes information systems and compliance risk. There 
is underlying operational risk in any activity carried out; it is not 
limited to certain areas of the Bank (for further detail, see Notice 
no. 2/2013 of 19 April).

In accordance with service orders no. 0236/2017 and 300/2017, 
managing operational risk is the responsibility of the GRI. In 
terms of its monitoring, there is an Operational Risk Management 
System (SGRO), which includes the deployment, supervision and 
development of a tool for recording and reporting operational risk 

management events. In addition, there is a set of key risk indicators 
(KRIs) to monitor changes in risk factors against established limits 
to consolidate the matrix of risks and controls.

All employees are responsible for managing and controlling 
operational risks in their sphere of work. The Bank’s Risk Office is in 
charge of identifying, assessing and monitoring operational risks 
associated with the Bank’s business.

The event recording and reporting methodology, designed to 
prioritize operational risk management at every hierarchical level, 
immediately notifies the respective hierarchy of all events which 
have occurred and the respective measures taken.

To explain the Bank’s potential benefits from collating operational 
risk events and reporting on their associated losses, so that 
the number of events recorded reflects the actual number of 
transactions subject to operational risk in each period, the GRI has 
made clarifications to employees from the Sales Network Division 
with regard to operational risk management, following the on-the-
job training from July to September 2018.

In accordance with the above flowchart, the process for collating 
losses is one of the tools used for managing operational risk. As a 
means of controlling the Operational Risk Management Model, 
the recording of operational risk loss events should include 
information on the events occurred, supporting the processes 
of identifying and monitoring operational risk.

Monitoring and 
production of 
management 

reports

Event
Classification

Event
Validation

Event
Identification

Database for
Recording of losses

All employees must notify the GRI on any operating losses 
occurring in their areas. Loss events are subsequently 
analysed by GRI technicians and monitored by Process 
Owners who, if so deemed, will activate mitigation 
measures based on these events. The database of 
operating loss events will reflect the degree of risk within 
the Bank.

Key Risk Indicators (KRI’s)

Indicators for regularly monitoring the level of risk in 
processes against predefined limits should be identified 
and monitored. Whenever a KRI exceeds its limit, based on 
an assessment by the Process Owner, suitable mitigation 
measures should be proposed and the processes’ control 
should be strengthened. The Risk Office will coordinate the 
KRI monitoring process.
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KEY RISK INDICATORS (KRIS):
Key risk indicators (KRIs) are metrics and/or statistics which 
provide an internal view of risk, particularly information 
involving potential vulnerabilities, failures and losses, i.e. critical 
points for notifying the Board of Directors on the Bank’s risk 
profile vis-à-vis its risk appetite (level of risk tolerated by the 
Bank in attempting to achieve its strategic goals). The main 
goals of these indicators are as follows:

• Determine exposure to current risk and unexpected risk 
trends, i.e. identify areas with higher operational risk;

• Highlight weak points in control to fix shortcomings in their 
soundness;

• Provide detailed information to organic units on strategies 
for avoiding risk;

• Motivate employees in risk-taking areas on the importance 
of risk management;

• Report levels of risk in a timely manner;

• Ensure effective controls;

• Understand how the Bank’s risk profile changes under 
different circumstances;

• Understand the signs of potential risks that may affect the 
scope of the Bank’s strategic objectives;

• Troubleshoot problems as part of an “early warning system” 
for the Bank to define, prevent and mitigate risks.

Banco Keve has a list of 34 key risk indicators, distributed over 
11 organic units. Of these, several of the following KRIs provide 
potential means of identifying operational risk:

• Number of dormant accounts: Dormant accounts are 
particularly vulnerable to internal fraud. Total number of 

dormant accounts (accounts in foreign currency without 
transactions for more than six months, and accounts in 
domestic currency without transactions for more than nine 
months);

• Customer complaints: The purpose of this indicator is 
to comprehensively assess the number of cases where 
customers were dissatisfied with services and submitted a 
complaint, knowing that some of these situations are due to 
the failure to implement or execute established processes.

• Video surveillance system: This indicator is intrinsically tied 
to the Bank’s asset security, and is aimed at comprehensively 
evaluating the Bank’s exposure to risk in terms of security 
(risk analysis) and data protection (impact assessment);

• Percentage of internal control shortcomings reported: This 
indicator is aimed at determining whether the number of 
observations is related to errors/failures in people, processes 
or systems, and verifying to what extent the institution is 
fulfilling the agreed corrective plans for remedial measures;

• Number of delayed reports to supervisor: This indicator 
is aimed at assessing whether there are delays in sending 
reports to the supervisor and measuring their impact on the 
Bank’s business.

5.6. COMPLIANCE RISK
KEY DEVELOPMENTS OF 2019

• Assessment of the risk of money laundering, terrorist 
financing and penalties

With the goal of reviewing and fortifying internal regulations 
and policies, bearing external regulatory requirements in mind, 
to mitigate the risk of exposure to money laundering, terrorist 
financing and penalties throughout the entire institution, 
there exists a process to identify and assess these risks in the 

respective business, led by the consulting firm KPMG Angola 
– Audit, Tax, Advisory, S.A., after a meticulous analysis of other 
proposals.

Achieving this goal is particularly important and relevant in the 
current setting, not only given financial institutions’ increased 
concern for mitigating compliance, operational and reputation 
risks because of the international financial crisis, but also 
because of the regulatory challenges faced by the domestic 
financial sector.

• E-learning on the prevention of money laundering, terrorist 
financing and penalties

Training initiatives on the prevention of money laundering, 
terrorist financing and penalties falls within the scope of 
mandatory continuous training, as laid out by regulations from 
the competent authorities. In 2019, the decision was made 
to do training via e-learning for all of the Bank’s employees, 
broken down by theoretical modules, practical exercises and 
subsequent knowledge assessment. At the completion of 
training, certificates will be issued to passing employees.

A workshop on this topic has been prepared for the managing 
board, namely the Executive Committee and Board of Directors.

• Acquisition of automated transaction filter tool

In 2019, a new anti-money laundering/terrorist financing tool 
from Accuity was acquired, which is now being integrated 
with the list of international penalties, for the purpose of 
automatically filtering customers and transactions at risk.

DESCRIPTION AND OPERATION
The main mission of the Compliance Office (GCO) is to ensure, 
in conjunction with other areas, the suitability, soundness and 
operation of the Bank’s Internal Control System. Its goal also 
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includes mitigating compliance risk in accordance with the 
complexity of the business, and disseminating a culture of 
control to ensure compliance with existing internal and external 
laws and regulations. Awareness on the prevention of activities 
and conduct which may entail compliance risks affecting the 
institution’s image, such as money laundering and terrorist 
financing, are also an integral part of the Compliance Office’s 
Functions.

The Compliance Office is divided into the following compliance 
risk areas:

• Regulatory compliance;

• Anti-money laundering and terrorist financing.

a) Regulatory compliance.
In view of legislative and regulatory amendments, the 
Compliance Office keeps the Bank up-to-date on changes 
by periodically consulting the banking sector’s supervisory 
institutions and doing research on laws and regulations 
published in the Official Gazette (Diário da República).

After surveying and identifying legislative and regulatory 
amendments, a summary of the norm is provided, describing 
its areas of impact, with the Compliance Office guiding the 
preparation, updating, monitoring and implementation of the 
internal norm. In this regard, in cooperation with other areas of 
the Bank, it implemented a total of 21 new internal regulations 
based on the requirements of external regulations.

As part of the Bank’s obligation to provide information, 
mandatory reports are prepared and sent at the required 
frequency to supervisory authorities via CONTIF, SSIF or e-mail.

The Compliance Office prepares a monthly report on its activities. 
Each quarter, this information is compiled by the Planning and 

Control Office and sent to the managing board. The Compliance 
Office is also responsible for sending an annual self-assessment 
questionnaire to Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) pursuant 
to Directive no. 01/DRO-DSI/2015 and a Statement on Cash 
Transactions (DTN) to the Financial Information Unit (UIF).

b) Customer transaction monitoring.
The account monitoring process is based on the risk approach to 
identify, manage and mitigate the risk of money laundering and 
potential fraud, within the scope of the process for assessing 
the risk of money laundering, terrorist financing and penalties, 
in order to identify failures and strengthen control.

c) Analysis and investigation.
The suspicious transaction analysis and investigation module 
has been configured for anti-money laundering/terrorist 
financing analytical technicians, focusing on KYC – Know Your 
Customer and KYT – Know Your Transaction which, following an 
alert generated by the ARGUS application, creates an individual 
process including various measures to gauge the reason for 
the alert and determine if it is a positive alert or false alarm. At 
the conclusion of these measures, they are routed to the anti-
money laundering/terrorist financing supervisor, who may ask 
the analytical technician to re-evaluate the process or submit 
it to the anti-money laundering/terrorist financing officer. 
Within the scope of money laundering and terrorist financing, 
any suspicious transactions will be reported to the Financial 
Information Unit (UIF).
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6.1. PROFILE OF HUMAN CAPITAL

Banco Keve recognizes that human capital is its main asset. 
Based on this concept, the institution has done business 
throughout 2019 focusing on more human management with 
greater proximity. This stance has made the Bank an institution 
increasingly more tailored to its human capital.

Within its strategy for the sustainable development and growth 
of its human resources, the Bank increased its human capital 
by 55 employees between 2016 and 2019. The Bank had a total 
of 576 employees in 2019, the same as the previous year. This 
was primarily due to its cost containment strategy, and the 
replacement of several employees who ended their employment 
at the Bank.

DISTRIBUTION BY GENDER
Currently, the institution’s employees are 58% male and 43% 
female. The number of female employees went down 1% 
between 2018 and 2019.

EDUCATION
By analysing the last three years, we can see a significant rise in 
staff with degrees and a decrease in those with university, high 
school and basic education attendance.

DISTRIBUTION BY AGE GROUP
In 2019, there was a higher concentration in the age group of 24-
34. The average age was 35, with the driving force concentrated 
among young people.

2017 2018 2019

<24 Years 16 14 9

24 e 34 Years 333 330 318

35 e 44 Years 161 192 198

45 e 54 Years 35 38 48

55 e 64 Years 1 1 2

> 65 Years 1 1 1

Total Employees 547 576 576

CALCULATION OF SENIORITY
The Bank had 335 employees with more than five years of 
employment at the institution at the end of 2018 (312 in 2018). 
With regard to employees with seniority of five years and under, 
the Bank had a total of 241 (264 in 2017).

Changes in Human Capital

2018 576

2019 576

2017 547

238
44%

309
56%

246
43%

330
57%

243
42%

333
58%

Distribuição por Género

FemaleMale 

2018 20192017

Education

2017 2018 2019

7 9 9

Master’s
Degree

35 35 30

Basic education

127

179
197

Bachelor’s and 
postgraduate

85
65 60

High school

293 288 280

University

318

229

312

264

335

241

Calculation of Seniority

> de 5 years5 and under

2018 20192017
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6.2. RECRUITMENT, TURNOVER AND
         PROMOTION
The Bank actively recruited in 2019, together with collecting 
and managing CVs via email, searches and recommendations. 
There were 435 interviews conducted, 157 selection tests for 
applicants and interviews of a more technical nature with the 
heads of divisions, resulting in the hiring of 19 employees. 
Of these, 9 are trainees and 10 are technicians with specific 
qualifications and experience.

With regard to internal mobility (internal recruitment), 2 
employees were transferred: 1 to the Accounting Division 1 to 
the Exchange Control Office.

• Electronic Banking Division (DBE) • Accounting Division (DCO)

• Legal and Litigation Division (DJC) • Marketing Division (DMK)

• Operations Division (DOP) • Assets and Security Division (DPS)

• Sales Network Division (DRC) • Internal Auditing Office (GAI)

• Executive Secretariat (SCR)

6.3. TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT OF 
         HUMAN CAPITAL
Banco Keve’s Employee Vocational Training Plan has been prepared 
using data collected from training need forms from various areas.

Training at the time of onboarding a new employee is aimed at 
providing the trainee with organizational socialization and the 
first contact with the Bank at various levels, particularly his/her 
assigned area.

In the human capital training and development plan, according to 
needs in 2019, the Human Resources Division (DRH) has developed 
various training activities for staff aimed at enhancing personal 
and professional development and achieving goals for the year at 
our institution.
1,503 hours of training were given for a wide range of functional 
units at Banco Keve, including training on the guarantee 
fund; capital market fundamentals; money laundering and 
terrorist financing; actual beneficiaries; occupational accident 
insurance; personal insurance; sports insurance; car and school 
insurance; Ondjango team-building - team leadership.

Finally, the Bank continues to offer traineeships to employees 
recently hired in the various divisions, giving them functional, 
proactive knowledge of the institution and the business, in a 
dynamic on-the-job environment.

6.4. LEGAL LABOUR RELATIONSHIP
In December 2019, Banco Keve had a total of 576 employees, 
mostly permanent employees with open-ended employment 
agreements, as shown in the following table.

DRC
5

DPS
2

DOP
1

SRC
2

DMK
1

GAI
3

DBE
2

DCO
1 DJC

2

Recrutamento

899

715

670

63 204

54 406

23 641

2017 2018 2019 

Total Participants (secondary axis)Total Investment

Thousand
 AOA

Nº
Participants

Training Initiatives

70 000

60 000

50000

40 000

30 000

20 000

10 000

0

1 000

900

800

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

0

 

2017 2018 2019

Contract Status

Open-ended employment agreement

Traineeship agreement

Fixed-term employment agreement

Independent Contractors

528

5
13

1

531

9

36

1

551

22

2
1
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Despite the constraints on the national economy, the Bank 
appointed 19 employees from different job positions, as shown 
in the graph below.

Despite the economic backdrop, the banking sector has 
continued to grow over the past two years. According to exit 
interviews, 55% of the staff who left our institution went to 
work at other banking institutions.

6.5. DISTRIBUTION OF HUMAN CAPITAL BY CATEGORIES

DISTRIBUTION OF HUMAN CAPITAL BY CATEGORIES

Structural Unit Abbreviation Person in Charge Category

Supervisory 
and Control 

Unit
Commercial 

Unit

Central 
Support 

Unit Total

Executive Secretariat SCR DIANA RAQUEL ROCHA SEMEDO Executive Secretary 7 7

Internal Auditing Office GAI ANTÓNIO JOÃO CAMBUTA Manager 9 9

Compliance Office GCO HELENA ISABEL LUCAS DE MORAIS Manager 5 5

Legal and Litigation Department DJC
ARLINDO ASSUNÇÃO DE SOUSA VIEGAS
NARCISO

Manager 10 10

Planning and Control Office GPC FILIPE MIGUEL SIMAS DUARTE Manager 4 4

Exchange Control Office GCC WALDIR DE JESUS CAMPOS GOMES Department Head 7 7

Risk Office GRI PAULA CRISTINA C. L. DE PAULA DA SILVA Manager 2 2

Electronic Banking Division DBE CLÁUDIO CARLOS TEIXEIRA DA SILVA Department Head 9 9

Assets and Security Division DPS BRUNO MIGUEL DA SILVA BARRADAS Assistant Manager 14 38 52

Accounting Division DCO WILSON ALFREDO GONÇALVES MANUEL Manager 12 12

Credit Division DCR MÁRIO JEREMIAS NICODEMOS Manager 15 15

Monitoring, Collections 
and Loan Recovery Office

GMR LEOPOLDINO DE SOUSA E SILVA Manager 5 5

Large Enterprise Division DGE TELMA LILIANA RIBEIRO MORESO SAMPAIO Manager 17 5 17

Marketing Division DMK MANUEL MARIA MAGALHAES AMARAL Manager 6 6

Financial Markets Division DMF HENRIQUE NDALU COSTA BATALHA Manager 17 17

Operations Division DOP JULIO MANUEL JOÃO Manager 20 20

Quality and Organization Division DQO GISELA BARROS BERMUDES ANAPAZ Manager 5 5

Sales Network Division DRC
FERNANDO PEDRO SANTOS COSTA
MARIA INÊS SANTANA

Manager 343 60 343

Human Resources Division DRH ALCINA MARIA GABRIEL Manager 11 11

Information Systems Division DSI TATIANA F.DE C. ROSA F.FERREIRA Assistant Manager 10 10

International and Investment 
Banking Division

DIB CÉSAR DE ALMEIDA BETTENCOURT Technician 1 1

Private Banking Division DPR PALMIRA DE FÁTIMA WEBBER Assistant Manager 9 1 9

22 538 65 38 576

*Board of Directors and Executive Committee not included

Supervisor
1

Assistant manager
2

Manager
7

Treasurer
9

2 2 2
3

1 1 2
4

7

11

18 19

21

18

15

12

9

6

3

0

Disciplinary dismissal 

(justified grounds)

Employee

decision

Mutual

agreement

Job

abandonment

2017

2018
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7.1. FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

ASSETS
Wrapping up yet another financial year, Banco Keve had total 
assets of AOA 176.2 billion at the end of 2019. This amount was 
up AOA 16.8 billion (+10.6%) year-over-year.

Growth in assets was primarily due to growth in (i) fixed assets 
recorded under the items “Tangible and intangible assets”, 
which were up AOA 6.9 billion (+70%) due to the use of IAS 29 
accounting standards; (ii) the item “Investments at amortized 
cost”, which in absolute terms increased AOA 4.3 billion (+7%), 

mostly due to the exchange revaluation of securities indexed 
to foreign currency; (iii) the item “Cash and cash on hand at 
central banks”, which was influenced by mandatory reserves 
and the deposit guarantee fund (+14%); (iv) and finally, the 
increase of AOA 1.6 billion (+3%) in the item “Customer credit 
net of impairments”, influenced by the growth in gross credit of 
around AOA 16.2 billion due to the granting of new credit.

Note that the stock of impairments generally resulting from 
the difference between gross and net credit was up AOA 36.7 
billion, due to higher impairments throughout 2019.

Billion AOA 2017 2018 2019 Δ%

Amount Weight Amount Weight Amount Weight

Cash and Cash on Hand at Central Banks 17,1 11,3% 17,0 10,6% 19,3 11% 14%

Cash at Other Credit Institutions 6,0 4,0% 10,6 6,7% 12,0 7% 13%

Investments at Central Banks and Other Credit Institutions 8,9 5,9% 6,0 3,8% 6,1 3% 1%

Financial assets at fair value (Results and other Comprehensive Income) 0,3 0,2% 0,1 0,1% 0,1 0% 0%

Investments at amortized cost 52,4 34,7% 63,7 40,0% 68,0 39% 7%

Customer loans net of impairments 56,0 37,1% 49,7 31,2% 51,3 29% 3%

Tangible and Intangible Assets 7,0 4,6% 9,8 6,2% 16,7 9% 70%

Other Assets 3,3 2,2% 2,4 1,5% 2,6 1% 10%

Assets 150,9 159,4 176,2 10,6%

In terms of their breakdown, Banco Keve’s assets are mostly 
comprised of securities recorded under the item “Investments 
at amortized cost” with a weight of 40%, followed by net credit 
at 30%.

CREDIT
AOA 16.5 billion in credit was granted during 2019, for a total of 
around AOA 88 billion in gross credit. This credit volume was up 
22% year-over-year.

The majority of credit was granted to the corporate segment, 
which accounts for 85% of outstanding loans, totalling AOA 
53.3 billion.

9%
1% 11%

7%

3%

0%

39%

29%

Cash and Cash on hand at Central Banks

Cash at other Credit Institutions

Investments at Central Banks and other Credit Institutions

Financial Assets at Fair Value

(results and other comprehensive income)

Investments at Amortized Cost

Customer Credit Net of Impairments

Tangible and Intangible Assets

Other Assets
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Credit net of impairments totalled AOA 51.3 billion in 2019, up 
3% over 2018. Note that the Bank made efforts to reinforce its 
credit impairment stock by AOA 14.6 billion, for a total of AOA 
36.7 billion (+66%).

Billion AOA 2017 2018 2019 Var.%

Loans 57,8 50,7 62,5 23%

Corporate 48,4 42,8 53,3 25%

Private Individuals 7,1 7,7 8,5 11%

Corporate public sector 0,0 0,1 0,5 623%

Interest receivable 2,3 0,1 0,1 29%

Overdue loans 10,1 21,2 25,5 20%

Gross lons 67,9 71,9 88,0 22%

Loans impairements 11,8 22,2 36,7 66%

Net Loans 56,0 49,7 51,3 3%

In 2019, past-due credit totalled AOA 25.5 billion, increasing 
AOA 4.3 billion between 2018 and 2019 (+20%). Given these 
levels of default, the ratio of overdue credit against total gross 
credit reached 29%, up 6.3 p.p year-over-year.

The transformation ratio rose considerably in 2019 at 73%, 
17 p.p. higher than the previous year’s ratio. This increase was 
due to growth in the volume of credit granted, as well as the 
decrease in resources.

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
At the end of 2019, the Bank had a total of AOA 146.8 in liabilities 
and AOA 29.6 billion in equity. Liabilities are primarily comprised 
of resources, of which 82% are allocated to the item “Customer 
resources and other loans”.

Over the year, liabilities increased by AOA 7.7 billion (+5.5%), 
primarily due to growth in “Resources from central banks and 
other credit institutions” on the order of AOA 12.8 billion (+378%). 
This increase was because of the Bank’s need to resort to the 
interbank money market to offset the decrease in customer 
resources. This item decreased AOA 7.7 billion over 2019 due to 
the market’s liquidity difficulties.

2017 2018 2019 Δ%

Billion AOA Amount Weight Amount Weight Amount Weight

Liabilities 134,7 89,2% 139,1 87,3% 146,7 83,3% 5,5%

Resources from Central 
Banks and other Credit 
Institutions

8,9 5,6% 3,4 2,1% 16,2 11% 378%

Customers and other 
resources

115,9 76,8% 128,4 80,5% 120,6 82% -6%

Provisions 1,8 1,2% 3,4 2,2% 3,9 3% 14%

Current Tax Liabilities 0,1 0,0% 0,0 0,0% 0,1 0% 323%

Subordinated debt 3,4 2,3% 0,0 0,0% 0,0 0% 0%

Other Liabilities 4,6 3,0% 3,9 2,5% 6,0 4% 53%

Equity 16,3 11,1% 20,3 12,8% 29,6 0,0% 45,6%

Equity and liabilities 151,0 159,4 176,2 10,6%

67,9
71,9

88,0

2017 2018 2019

Credit impairments Gross Credit Net Credit

Credit (Billion AOA)

11,8

56,0

22,2

49,7

36,7

51,3

2017 2018 2019

Billion
AOA

%
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0
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Equity was up AOA 9.3 billion (+46%) in 2019, totalling AOA 29.6 
billion. This growth in equity was due to the use of principles 
from the IAS 29 standard, whose net impact was around AOA 
6 billion, as well as the distribution of results from the previous 
year, totalling AOA 4.6 billion, plus the current year’s result of 
AOA 2.7 billion (-41% compared to 2018).

CUSTOMER RESOURCES AND OTHER LOANS
In 2019, Banco Keve’s resources were down around AOA 8.6 
billion, for a total of AOA 120.6 billion. This represents a year-
over-year decline of 7%, due to the high number of pending 
transactions abroad.

The majority of these resources are in the form of demand 
deposits, at 59%, of which 37% are term deposits. In terms of 
resources by currency, deposits in domestic currency continue 
to account for the majority at AOA 45.1 billion, despite the 9% 
decrease compared to 2018.

RESULTS AND PROFITABILITY
Banco Keve’s net profit was AOA 2.7 billion at the end of 2019, 
down 41% from the result obtained 2018. This decline was 
due to the contribution of the item “Credit impairments”, 
which includes the Bank’s efforts to consolidate assets with 
more balance sheet (credit) risk, together with 10% growth in 
“Administrative and marketing costs”.

Billion AOA 2017 Weight 2018 Weight 2019 Weight Δ %

Demand deposits 66,5 57% 78,2 61% 71,6 59% -9%

Term deposits 48,0 41% 47,7 37% 45,1 37% -6%

Other loans 1,8 2% 3,2 3% 4,0 3% 24%

Total customers resources 116,3 100% 129,2 100% 120,6 100% -7%

national currency 106,7 92% 110,0 85% 92,1 76% -16%

Amount indexed 21,9 19% 21,9 17% 21,0 17% -4%

Foreign currency 9,6 8% 19,2 15% 28,5 24% 48%

Total customers resources 116,3 100% 129,2 100% 120,6 100% -7%

INCOME STATEMENT

2017 2018 2019 2019-2018

Billion AOA ABS Δ %

Interest and similar income 15,2 12,6 12,8 0,2 2%

interest expenses and similar 
charges

-3,2 -3,6 -3,5 0,1 -3%

Net interest income 12,0 9,0 9,3 0,3 3%

Net fees and commissions 
income

3,9 6,8 5,5 -1,3 -19%

Net gains / (losses) arising from 
financial assets at amortized 
Cost

0,4 0,8 1,5 0,7 92%

Net gains / (losses) arising from 
Foreign Exchange Transactions

1,3 18,8 18,3 -0,5 -2%

Net gains / (losses) from assets 
alienation

0,0 0,0 1,0 1,0 100%

Other operating income -0,5 -1,0 -0,4 0,5 -56%

Total operating income 17,1 34,3 35,1 0,8 2%

Staff and other administrative 
costs

11,3 14,2 15,7 1,4 10%

Other provisions -0,2 0,1 0,1 0,0 38%

Loans impairement 3,9 15,1 16,5 1,4 9%

Impairments for other Financial 
assets

0,0 0,1 0,0 -0,1 -100%

Profit/loss before tax 2,1 4,7 2,8 -1,9 -40%

Current income tax 0,0 0,1 0,1 0,0 4%

Net profit/loss 2,1 4,6 2,7 -1,9 -41%

3%
5%

0%

11%

82%

Resources at Central Banks

and other Credit Institutions

Customer Resources

and other Loans

Provisions

Current Tax Liabilities

Subordinated Liabilities

Other liabilities
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The financial margin was AOA 9.3 billion, up slightly (around 
3%) over 2018. This increase was due to the 2% rise in “Interest 
and similar income” and the 3% decline in “Interest and similar 
expenses”.

With regard to “Interest and similar income”, the growth in 
revenues was primarily due to credit interest, which was up 
around 6%. The decrease in “Interest and similar expenses” 
impacted the amount of associated financial costs, which were 
down around 24%.

An analysis of banking income shows identical performance 
compared to 2018, with a slight increase of only 2%. Banking 
income totalled AOA 35.1 billion, with the largest portion 
allocated to the supplementary margin, which totalled AOA 
25.9 billion. The supplementary margin’s performance was 
primarily due to exchange revenues of AOA 18.3 billion.

In 2019, the return on average equity (ROAE) and return on 
average assets (ROAA) were 12% and 2%, respectively. Both 
indicators were primarily driven by the lower net profit.

OPERATIONAL COST AND IMPAIRMENTS
Operational costs increased 10% from AOA 14.2 billion in 2018 
to AOA 15.7 billion in 2019. This was primarily due to higher 
staff costs (+16%) and amortization (+12%).

The increase in staff costs was caused by salary updates for 
several managing board members over the course of the year, 
together with adjustments to tax deductions. The increase in 
amortization was due to the normal amortization process of the 
Bank’s fixed assets.

Supplier and service costs were up only 3%, due to increases in 
specialized computer services, costs associated with voice and 
data communications, and rent.

Billion AOA 2017 2018 2019 Δ %

Staff expenses 5,8 7,4 8,6 15%

Other operational costs 
(suppliers and services)

4,7 5,9 6,1 -6%

Amortizations and 
Depreciations

0,8 0,9 1,0 12%

Total operational costs 11,3 14,2 15,7 6%

Loans impairments 3,7 15,2 16,5 9%

Total cost 15,0 29,5 32,2 8%
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If we add the costs associated with reinforcing credit 
impairments, Banco Keve’s total cost in 2019 was AOA 32.2 
billion, up 8% year-over-year.

The cost-to-income ratio rose 3 p.p to 45% in 2019. The higher 
amount compared to 2018 is mostly due to higher administrative 
costs (+10%), despite also having a slight increase in banking 
income.

7.2. PROPOSAL FOR THE ALLOCATION OF 
         PROFITS

RECTIFICATION OF SHARE CAPITAL AND RETAINED 
EARNINGS
Accounting movements in capital accounts must be supported 
by decisions made at the General Meeting of Shareholders 
called for this purpose. However, in light of the International 
Accounting Standards (IAS), Banco Keve was required to make 
adjustments to its share capital account (account 41) based on 
the principles of IAS 29. This standard thus required an update to 
share capital, raising the book value by AOA 14,052,706,168.32. 
Furthermore, prior year adjustments resulted in a decrease 
to the retained earnings account (account 45) of AOA 
7,481,210,492.45.

TREASURY SHARES
It is important to note that, in the 2019 financial year, Banco 
Keve purchased treasury shares totalling AOA 131,200,000.00. 
This amount was recorded in account 48, “Treasury (own) 
shares”.

RESULT FOR THE YEAR
Pursuant to the law and articles of association, and the need 
to maintain a solid equity base to address the Bank’s strategic 
goals and sustained growth, the Board of Directors proposes 
that the net profit for the year 2019 of AOA 2,702,521,991.91 be 
allocated as follows:

Legal Reserve 20%: AOA 540.504.398,38

Other Reserves 80%: AOA 2.162.017.593,53

2017 2018 2019

Operational Costs

Amortization

Staff expenses

Other operational costs (suppliers and services)
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Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON 31 DECEMBER 2019 AND 2018

BALANCE SHEETS ON 31 DECEMBER 2019 AND 2018 
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanza)

31-12-2019

ASSETS Notes
Gross 
Assets

Amortization 
and impairment Net Assets 31-12-2018

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 4 19.322.669 - 19.322.669 16.972.375

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 5 12.015.319 (16.511) 11.998.808 10.613.287

Investments at central banks and other credit 
institutions

6 6.152.517 (29.868) 6.122.650 6.047.109

Financial assets at fair value through profit and 
loss

7 - - - -

Financial assets available for sale 8 - - - -

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

8 96.195 - 96.195 96.195

Investments held until maturity 9 - - - -

Investments at amortized cost 9 69.096.201 (1.061.312) 68.034.889 63.726.127

Loans to customers 10 88.017.448 (36.732.396) 51.285.052 49.686.566

Non-current assets held for sale 11 - - - 60.539

Other tangible assets 12 24.239.855 (7.947.428) 16.292.426 9.680.037

Intangible assets 13 511.530 (87.226) 424.304 167.049

Other assets 15 2.758.394 (129.766) 2.628.628 2.392.556

Total Assets 222.210.129 (46.004.507) 176.205.622 159.441.840

continuation

BALANCE SHEETS ON 31 DECEMBER 2019 AND 2018 
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanza)

31-12-2019

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Notes
Gross 
Assets

Amortization 
and impairment Net Assets 31-12-2018

LIABILITIES

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions

16 16.168.539 2.586.710

Customer resources and other loans 17 120.639.912 129.165.107

Provisions and impairment 18 3.923.814 3.432.778

Current tax liabilities 14 125.113 29.589

Subordinated liabilities 19 - -

Other liabilities 20 5.857.969 3.880.198

Total Liabilities 146.715.347 139.094.382

EQUITY

Share capital 21 24.052.706 10.000.000

Other reserves and retained earnings 21 2.866.247 5.743.972

Treasury shares 21 (131.200) -

Net profit/loss for the year 2.702.522 4.603.486

Total Equity 29.490.276 20.347.458

Total Equity and Liabilities 176.205.622 159.441.840

The attached notes are an integral part to these financial statements.
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INCOME STATEMENTS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2019 AND 2018
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanza)

Notes 31-12-2019 31-12-2018

Interest and similar income 22 12 765 029 12 560 918

Interest and similar charges 22 (3 491 511) (3 591 141)

Net interest income 9 273 518 8 969 777

Income from services and commissions 23 5 589 332 6 978 871

Charges with services and commissions 23 (81 910) (200 145)

Income from investments held until maturity 24 - -

Income from investments at amortized cost 24 1 474 244 769 159

Net gains / (losses) arising from Foreign Exchange Transactions 25 18 305 517 18 763 571

Net gains / (losses) from assets alienation 26 998 122 (16 826)

Other operating income / (loss) 27 (426 779) (968 370)

Total operation income 35 132 044 34 296 037

Staff expenses 28 (8 601 297) (7 438 871)

Other operational costs (suppliers and services) 29 (6 068 337) (5 917 987)

Depreciation and amortizations for the year 12 and 13 (987 364) (878 949)

Impairment for loans to customers net of reversals and recoveries 18 (16 668 505) (15 217 292)

Impairment for other assets net of reversals and write-offs 18 - (139 452)

Income of continuing operations before taxes 2 806 541 4 703 486

Taxes on results Current 14 (104 019) (100 000)

Net profit/loss for the year 2 702 522 4 603 486

Income not included in the income statement - -

Comprehensive income for the year 2 702 522 4 603 486

Average number of ordinary shares issued 5 000 000 5 000 000

Basic earnings per share (in kwanza) 0,54 0,92

Diluted earnings per share (in kwanza) 0,54 0,92

The attached notes are an integral part to these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2019 AND 2018
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanza)

Other reserves and retained earnings

Share capital Treasury shares
Reserve for adjustment 

of equity Legal reserve Other reserves Retained earnings
Net profit/loss for 

the year Total Equity

Balance on 31 December 2016 (Pro-forma) 4 000 000 - - 1 946 888 6 093 477 (255 418) 2 435 368 14 220 315

Application of result from the year 2016 - 487 074 1 948 294 - (2 435 368) -

Establishment of reserves and funds - - - -

Net profit/loss for the year - - - - 2 075 515 2 075 515

Balances on 31 December 2017 - before IFRS 9 4 000 000 - - 2 433 962 8 041 771 (255 418) 2 075 515 16 295 830

Impairment from the implementation of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Note 3.4):

Cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 5) - - - - - (14 468) - (14 468)

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions (Note 6) - - - - - (111 663) - (111 663)

Investments at amortized cost (Note 9) - - - - - (842 108) - (842 108)

- - - - - (968 239) - (968 239)

Balances on 01 January 2018 - after IFRS 9 4 000 000 - - 2 433 962 8 041 771 (1 223 657) 2 075 515 15 327 591

Application of result from the year 2017 - - - 415 103 1 660 412 - (2 075 515) -

Increase in share capital 6 000 000 - - - (6 000 000) - - -

Effects of accounting policy adjustments - - - - - 416 381 - 416 381

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 4 603 486 4 603 486

Balances on 31 December 2018 10 000 000 - - 2 849 065 3 702 183 (807 276) 4 603 486 20 347 458

Application of result from the year 2018 - - - 920 697 3 682 789 - (4 603 486) -

Effects of accounting policy adjustments - - - - - - - -

Adjustment of equity - - 14 052 706 (7 481 210) 6 571 496

Acquisitions of treasury shares (131 200) (131 200)

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 2 702 522 2 702 522

Balances on 31 December 2019 10 000 000 (131 200) 14 052 706 3 769 762 7 384 972 (8 288 486) 2 702 522 29 490 276

The attached notes are an integral part to these financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEARS ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2019 AND 2018
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanza)

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Cash flows of operational activities

Interest, commissions and other comparable income received 18 354 361 17 675 122

Interest, commissions and other comparable costs paid (3 573 421) (4 376 815)

Payments to employees and suppliers (14 669 634) (11 478 365)

Other results (426 779) (200 830)

Cash flows before changes to operating assets and liabilities (315 473) 1 619 113

(Increases) / decreases in operating assets:

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions 75 540 (3 905 706)

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss - -

Non-current assets held for sale - (31 553)

Investments at amortized cost 4 308 762 4 549 915

Loans to customers 1 598 486 2 475 892

Other assets 236 072 (863 767)

Net flow from operating assets 6 218 861 2 224 782

Increases / (decreases) in operating liabilities:

Resources of central banks and other credit institutions 12 788 009 6 138 260

Customer resources and other loans (7 731 375) 3 342 113

Other liabilities 2 073 296 (13 003)

continuation

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEARS ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2019 AND 2018
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanza)

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Net flow from operating liabilities 7 129 929 9 467 371

Cash net of operating activities before income tax 13 033 317 13 311 265

Income taxes paid - -

Cash net of operating activities 13 033 317 13 311 265

Cash flows from investment activities

Acquisitions of other tangible assets, net of disposals 983 762 1 209 805

Acquisitions of intangible assets, net of disposals 241 218 55 128

Cash net of investment activities 1 224 981 1 264 933

Cash flows from financing activities

Acquisitions of treasury shares, net of disposals (131 200) -

Remuneration paid for responsibilities represented by securities - -

Cash net of financing activities (131 200) -

Change in cash and cash equivalents 14 127 098 14 576 198

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the financial year 26 321 589 22 927 671

Effects exchange variation in cash and cash equivalents (10 422 072) (11 182 280)

30 026 615 26 321 589

Payment system credits 1 311 374 1 280 584

Impairment for cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 18) (16 511) (16 511)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 31 321 477 27 585 662

The attached notes are an integral part to these financial statements.
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2. INTRODUCTION
Banco Keve, S.A. (hereinafter “Banco Keve” or “Bank”) is a privately held bank with its registered office 
at Av. Ho Chi Minh, Empreendimento Comandante Gika GardenTowers 11º e 12º Andar Maianga-
Alvalade, municipality of Luanda. It was established on 19 September 2003, and began doing business 
on 01 October 2003. Via a public deed from August 2018, the Bank adopted the business abbreviation 
“BKeve”.

The Bank’s purpose is to perform banking activities as permitted by law, including the obtaining of 
third-party resources through deposits and in other forms, which it invests with its own funds in the 
granting of loans, deposits at Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA), investments in credit institutions and 
purchases of securities and other assets. It also provides banking services and carries out a number of 
different types of foreign currency transactions.

The Bank was established with share capital of 456,000,000 AOA (equivalent to 5,700,000 USD at the 
time), represented by 570,000 registered shares of 800 kwanza each, fully subscribed to and paid up 
in cash.

In 2006, the Bank had a capital increase to 800,000,000 AOA (equivalent to 10,000,000 USD at the 
time), with the increase of 344,000,000 AOA fully paid up in cash, and with share capital represented 
by 1,000,000 registered shares of 800 kwanza each.

In 2007, the Bank had a capital increase to 400,000,000 AOA (equivalent to 50,000,000 USD at the 
time), including 2,400,000,000 AOA in cash contributions and 800,000,000 through the incorporation 
of reserves, represented by 5,000,000 registered shares of 800 kwanza each.

On 21 February 2018, Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) published Notice no. 02/2018 establishing 
minimum capital of 7,500,000,000 AOA. As such, in 2018, the Bank increased its capital to 
10,000,000,000 AOA (equivalent to 47,057,495 USD at the time) by incorporating 6,000,000,000 AOA 
in reserves into its share capital, represented by 5,000,000 registered shares of 2,000 kwanza each.

3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION, SUMMARY OF MAIN ACCOUNTING 
     POLICIES AND MAIN ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS USED IN
     PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared based on the going concern principle, in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IAS/IFRS”), pursuant to Banco 
Nacional de Angola (BNA) Notice no. 06/2016 of 22 June, as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) and with the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretation Committee (“IFRIC”).

Requirements related to accounting procedures for financial instruments have been defined, through 
31 December 2017, in International Accounting Standard 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement (“IAS 39”). As of 01 January 2018, these same requirements are defined in International 
Financial Reporting Standard 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9” or “Standard”), thereby revoking IAS 39.

Generally speaking, the requirements of IFRS 9 apply retrospectively by adjusting the opening balance 
sheet on the date of initial application (01 January 2018). The impacts of IFRS 9’s implementation are 
described in Note 3.4.

The financial statements have been prepared according to the historic cost principle, modified by the 
application of fair value for financial assets and liabilities recognized at fair value through results and 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. Financial and non-financial assets 
and liabilities are recorded at amortized cost or historic cost.

The Bank’s financial statements on 31 December 2019 and 2018 are expressed in thousands of 
kwanza. Assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies have been converted into domestic 
currency, based on the average reference exchange rate published by Banco Nacional de Angola on 
these dates.

31-12-2019 31-12-2018

1 USD 482,227 308,607

1 EUR 540,817 353,015
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Preparation of the financial statements according to the IFRS requires the Board of Directors, with 
the opinion of the Executive Committee, to make judgements, estimates and suppositions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the amounts of assets, liabilities, income and costs. The 
associated estimates and suppositions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered reasonable according to the circumstances and form the basis for the judgements about 
the amounts of assets and liabilities whose valuation is not evident through other sources. Real results 
may differ from the estimates. Issues requiring a greater degree of judgement and/or complexity, or 
whose suppositions and estimates are considered significant, are described in Note 3.6.

3.2. STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND REVISIONS ENTERING INTO
        FORCE DURING THE YEAR
The following standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions became mandatory, for the first 
time, in the year beginning on 01 January 2019:

a) IFRS 16 (new), ‘Leases’ (applicable to the years beginning on or after 01 January 2019). This new 
standard replaced IAS 17, with a major impact on the accounting of lessees, who are now obliged 
to recognize a lease liability by reflecting future lease payments, and a “right of use” asset for all 
lease agreements, except for certain short-term leases and assets of minor value. The definition 
of “lease agreement” was also changed, and is now based on the “right to control the use of 
an identified asset”. With regard to the transition scheme, this new standard may be applied 
retrospectively, or a modified retrospective approach may be used.

b) IFRS 9 (amendment), ‘‘Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’ (applicable to the years 
beginning on or after 01 January 2019). This amendment introduces the option of classifying 
financial assets with prepayment terms with negative compensation at amortized cost, provided 
that specific conditions are met, in lieu of classifying them at fair value through results.

c) IAS 28 (amendment), ‘Long-term Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ (applicable 
to the years beginning on or after 01 January 2019). This amendment clarifies that long-term 
investments in associates and joint ventures (components of an entity’s investment in associates 
and joint ventures) not measured through the equity method should be recorded using IFRS 9, 
subject to the estimated loss impairment model, before any impairment test on the investment 
on the whole. 

d) IAS 19 (amendment), ‘Amendments, Reductions and Settlements of Benefit Plans’ (applicable to 
the years beginning on or after 01 January 2019). This amendment to IAS 19 requires an entity 
to: (i) use up-to-date assumptions to determine the actual cost of service and net interest for the 
remaining period after the amendment, reduction or settlement of the plan; and (ii) recognize 
in the result for the year as part of the cost for past services, or as a gain or loss in settling any 
reduction in excess coverage, even if the excess coverage was not previously recognized due to 
the impact of the asset ceiling. The impact on the asset ceiling is always recorded under Other 
Comprehensive Income, and cannot be recycled through results for the year.

e) Improvements to 2015- 2017 standards (applicable to the years beginning on or after 01 January 
2019). This cycle of improvements affects the following standards: IAS 23, IAS 12, IFRS 3 and IFRS 
11.

f) IFRIC 23 (new), ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ (applicable to the years beginning on 
or after 01 January 2019). This involves an interpretation of IAS 12 – ‘Income Tax’, referring to 
measurement and recognition requirements to be used when there are uncertainties regarding 
the tax authority’s acceptance of a given procedure related to income tax. In the event of 
uncertainty with regard to the tax authority’s position on a specific transaction, the entity should 
make its best estimate and record income tax assets or liabilities per IAS 12, and not IAS 37 – 
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, based on the expected or most likely 
value. IFRIC 23 may be applied retrospectively, or a modified retrospective approach may be used.

g) Conceptual structure, ‘Amendments in Reference to Other IFRS’ (applicable to the years beginning 
on or after 01 January 2020). In the wake of the publication of the new Conceptual Structure, 
the IASB made changes to the text of several standards and interpretations, such as: IFRS 2, IFRS 
3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, IAS 1, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22 and SIC 
32, with a view to clarifying the use of new definitions of asset/liability and income/expense, 
together with several characteristics of financial information. These amendments must be 
applied retrospectively, except when infeasible.

The Bank does not expect any materially relevant impacts from the above amendments, new 
interpretations or new standards, except in the case of standard IFRS 9, as explained in Note 3.4. 
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3.3. STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND REVISIONS ENTERING INTO
        FORCE IN FUTURE YEARS
The following accounting standards and interpretations will apply, on a mandatory basis, in future 
financial years:

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective as of the approval date of the Bank’s 
financial statements are described below. The Bank plans to adopt these standards, if applicable, 
when they become effective.

a) IFRS 17 (new), ‘Insurance Contracts’ (applicable to the years beginning on or after 01 January 
2021). This new standard replaces IFRS 4, and applies to all entities issuing insurance contracts, 
reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features. IFRS 17 
is based on the current measurement of technical responsibilities on each reporting date. Current 
measurement may be based on a complete model (“building block approach”) or a simplified 
model (“premium allocation approach”). The technical margin’s recognition differs according to 
whether it is positive or negative. IFRS 17 applies on a retrospective basis.

b) IFRS 3 (amendment), ‘Business Definition’ (applicable to the years beginning on or after 01 January 
2020). This amendment involves a revision to the definition of business for the purposes of 
accounting for business combinations. Under the new definition, an acquisition must include an 
input and a substantial process which, taken together, generate outputs. Outputs are now defined 
as goods and services provided to customers which generate income from financial investments 
and other proceeds, excluding returns in the form of cost reductions and other financial benefits 
for shareholders. ‘Concentration tests’ are now allowed to determine whether a transaction 
entails the acquisition of an asset or a business.

c) IAS 1 and IAS 8 (amendment), ‘Definition of Material’ (applicable to the years beginning on or 
after 01 January 2020). This amendment introduces a change to the concept of material. It 
includes clarifications on references to unclear information, corresponding to situations where 
its effect is similar to the omission or distortion of such information, in the overall context of 
financial statements; as well as clarifications on the term ‘main users of financial statements’, 
who are defined as ‘current and future investors, financers and creditors’ who depend on financial 
statements to obtain a significant part of the information they need. 

The Bank does not expect any materially relevant impacts from the above amendments, new 
interpretations or new standards.

3.4. IMPACTS OF ADOPTING INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 9
        (“IFRS 9”) ON 01 JANUARY 2018
No deferred tax assets were recorded from the impacts of the transition, insofar as the Bank incurred 
tax losses in recent years, and there are no business plans or studies supporting the future use of 
these deferred taxes in future years. 

3.5. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.5.1. Accrual accounting
The Bank employs accrual accounting principles. Income and costs are recognized according to the 
transactions’ term, and are recorded as they are generated, regardless of their time of receipt or 
payment.

3.5.2. Foreign Currency Transactions
The Bank’s financial statements on 31 December 2019 and 2018 are expressed in thousands of 
kwanza. Assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies have been converted into domestic 
currency, based on the average reference exchange rates published by Banco Nacional de Angola 
on these dates, as follows:

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency and currency of presentation are 
recorded in accordance with the multi-currency system, whereby each transaction is recorded on 
the basis of the currencies of denomination. Costs and income calculated in the different currencies 
are converted into kwanza at the exchange rate on the date of their recognition. 
Costs and revenues related to exchange differences, whether actual or potential, are recorded in 
the income statement of the financial year in which they occur. 

3.5.3. Financial Instruments – IFRS 9
The Bank’s Board of Directors determines the classification of its investments at the time of initial 
recognition and subsequent measurement. 
A financial asset or liability is initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issuance, except in the case of items recorded at fair value through 
results, whose transaction costs are immediately recognized as expenses for the year.
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a) Financial assets

Classification, initial recognition and subsequent measurement

At the time of their initial recognition, financial assets may be classified into the following 
categories: (i) investments at amortized cost; (ii) financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, and (iii) financial assets at fair value through results. On 31 December 
2019, financial assets were classified in the category of financial investments at amortized cost 
and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Financial assets are classified bearing in mind the (i) Bank’s business model for managing the 
financial asset, and (ii) the characteristics of the financial asset’s contractual flows.

 
Business Model Assessment
In reference to 01 January 2018, the Bank assessed its business model in which financial 
instruments are managed at the portfolio level, since this approach most adequately reflects 
how financial assets are managed and how information is provided to the managing boards.

This analysis took the following factors into account:

• The portfolio’s goals, policies and operability;

• An assessment of risks impacting the business model’s performance, and how risks are 
managed; 

• The timing, volume and frequency of sales in previous periods, and their underlying reason, 
together with expectations for future sales;

• The means of evaluating and reporting the portfolio’s performance to the Bank’s managing 
boards; and

• The remuneration of business managers.

Assessment as to whether contractual cash flows only correspond to the receipt of principal and 
interest (SPPI – Solely Payments of Principal and Interest).

Under this assessment, principal corresponds to the financial asset’s fair value at the time of 
initial recognition and interest against the monetary time value for the credit risk associated 
with the amount due during a given period of time.

For instruments whose receipt of contractual cash flows only corresponds to principal and 
interest, the instrument’s original contractual terms were considered. The Bank analysed 
situations where contractual terms may have modified the amount and frequency of cash flows 
so as to fail to meet SPPI requirements.

• Investments at amortized cost 

Classification

A financial asset is classified in the category of “Investments at amortized cost” when it meets 
all of the following conditions: (i) the contractual cash flows correspond only to principal and 
interest payments for the amount due (SPPI) and occur on specific dates, and (ii) it is held under 
a business model aimed at collecting contractual cash flows.

This category includes the items “Investments at amortized cost” (Note 9) and “Customer loans” 
(Note 10).
  
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Debt securities are recognized on their trading date, which corresponds to the date on which the 
Bank acquired the securities. Loans to customers are recognized on the date on which the funds 
are made available to the counterparty.

Financial investments at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction 
costs, then subsequently measured at amortized cost. From the time of their initial recognition, 
they are subject to impairment losses for expected credit losses, which are recorded as offsetting 
entries to the items “Impairment for loans to customers net of reversals and recoveries” (Note 18) 
and “Impairment for other assets net of reversals and write-offs” (Note 18).

Interest from financial assets at amortized cost is recorded under the item “Interest and similar 
income” (Note 22).

• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
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Classificação

A financial asset is classified in the category of “Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income” when it meets the following conditions: (i) the contractual cash flows 
correspond only to principal and interest payments for the amount due (SPPI) and occur on 
specific dates, and (ii) it is held under a business model aimed at collecting cash flows and/or its 
sale.

In addition, at the time of initial recognition of a capital instrument not held for trading, nor 
contingent consideration recognized by a buyer in a business combination subject to IFRS 3, 
the Bank may choose to irrevocably classify it in the category of “Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income”. This option is used on a case-by-case, investment-by-
investment basis, and is only available to financial instruments falling within the definition of 
“capital instruments” in IAS 32.

On 31 December 2019, the financial assets classified under the category of “Financial assets at 
fair value through other comprehensive income” (Note 8) are for EMIS – Empresa Interbancária 
de Serviços, S.A.R.L.’s holdings in Gestcall – Gestão de Serviços de Atendimento and in Sagripel.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Capital instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recognized 
at fair value plus transaction costs, then subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in these 
financial assets’ fair value are recorded as an offsetting entry to other comprehensive income 
under the item “Other reserves”.

No impairment is recognized for capital instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, whose accumulated gains or losses are recorded in changes in fair value transferred to 
“Retained earnings” at the time of their derecognition.

Reclassification between categories of financial assets

Financial assets are not reclassified to other categories unless their business model has been 
changed.

The reclassification applies on a forward-looking basis beginning on the reclassification date, 
without re-expressing any previously recognized gains, losses or interest. Nevertheless, financial 
assets are reclassified at fair value on the reclassification date.

The reclassification of investments in capital instruments, measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, is not permitted.

b) Loans to Customers 

Valuation

Credit and receivables include loans granted by the Bank to customers and to credit institutions.

Credit and receivables are initially recorded at fair value. In general, the initial fair value 
corresponds to the transaction amount including commissions, fees and other costs or income 
associated with the credit transactions.

Loans and accounts receivable are subsequently valued at amortized cost, based on the effective 
interest rate method, and subject to impairment tests.

Interest and fees associated with credit transactions are accrued over the transactions’ lifetime 
as an offsetting entry in results, regardless of when they are charged or paid. Other fees such 
as financial service fees for a loan, commitment fees for loan origination and other costs and 
income associated with credit transactions are recorded under the item of results when they are 
charged.

Guarantees provided

Liabilities for guarantees provided and documentary credit for importing are recorded under off-
balance-sheet items for the amount at risk, with flows from interests, fees and other income 
recorded in results over the transactions’ lifetime.

Write-off of interest

The Bank writes off interest in arrears for more than 90 days, and does not recognize interest 
between this date and the date on which the customer remedies the situation.

c) Debt securities

Treasury bonds issued in domestic currency indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate and 
treasury bonds issued in foreign currency are subject to currency revaluation. As such, the result 
of the currency revaluation of the securities’ nominal value is reflected in the income statement 
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for the year in which it occurs under the item “Foreign exchange earnings” (Note 25), with the 
discount and accrued interest reflected under the item “Interest and similar income” (Note 22).

Non-readjustable treasury bonds in domestic currency are issued at a discounted rate with 
coupon rates predefined by maturity. The discount and accrued interest are reflected under the 
item “Interest and similar income” (Note 22).

Treasury bills are issued at a discount and recorded at their acquisition cost. The difference 
between this and the nominal value, which constitutes the Bank’s return, is recognized in the 
accounts as income from the purchase date through the maturity date of these securities under 
the item “Interest and similar income” (Note 22). 

Third-party security purchase transactions with resale agreement

In 2019, the Bank performed temporary liquidity lending transactions in the inter-bank market 
with Banco Nacional de Angola. In these transactions, the Bank invests resources and receives 
treasury bonds as a guarantee. These transactions have an underlying agreement for the 
securities’ resale on a future date at a price previously agreed to between the parties.

Securities purchased with a resale agreement are not recorded in the securities portfolio. Funds 
provided are recorded, on the settlement date, in assets in the item “Liquidity lending – Third-
party security purchase transactions with resale agreement”, with interest accrued in the same 
item.

Income from third-party security purchase transactions with resale agreements corresponds to 
the difference between the resale amount and the purchase amount of the securities. Income is 
recognized according to the accrual accounting principle over the transactions’ term in the item 
“Interest and similar income” (Note 22).

d) Financial liabilities

A financial instrument is classified as a financial liability when there is a contractual obligation 
of a settlement to be carried out through the handover of money or another financial asset, 
regardless of its legal form.

Non-derivative financial liabilities include resources from credit institutions and customers, and 
loans. Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost. 

The associated transaction costs are part of the effective interest rate. The interest recognized 
through the effective interest rate method is recognized in the financial margin (Note 22).

The amortized cost of a financial liability is the amount at which it is initially recognized, minus 
receipts of capital, plus or minus accumulated amortization using the effective interest rate 
method resulting from the difference between the initially recognized value and the amount at 
maturity.

e) Indexed deposits

Customer term deposits in domestic currency indexed to the United States dollar (USD) exchange 
rate are subject to currency revaluation. As such, the result of the currency revaluation of the 
deposits’ nominal value is reflected in the income statement for the year in which it occurs under 
the item “Foreign exchange earnings” (Note 25), with accrued interest reflected under the item 
“Interest and similar charges” (Note 22).

f) Impairment

The Bank determines expected credit losses for each financial asset according to the deteriorating 
credit risk from the time of its initial recognition. For this purpose, transactions are classified into 
the following three stages:

• Stage 1: this stage includes transactions with no significant rise in credit risk from the time 
of initial recognition. Impairment losses associated with transactions classified in this stage 
correspond to expected credit losses resulting from a default event potentially occurring 
within 12 months following the reporting date (12-month expected losses);

• Stage 2: this stage includes transactions with a significant rise in credit risk from the time 
of initial recognition, but not in a situation of impairment. Impairment losses associated 
with transactions classified in this stage correspond to expected credit losses resulting from 
default events potentially occurring over the transactions’ expected residual lifetime (lifetime 
expected credit losses); 

• Stage 3: this stage includes transactions in a situation of impairment. The impairment losses 
associated with transactions classified in this stage correspond to lifetime expected credit 
losses.
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With regard to cash on hand, investments and securities, an analysis is done for expected losses, 
using the following assumptions: 

• For the balances of “Cash and cash on hand at central banks”, the loss given default (LGD) is 
considered zero, with no estimated impairment;

• For the balances of “Cash on hand at other credit institutions”, the entity’s rating (or, when 
not available, the rating of the country where it is headquartered) is checked. Based on a 
study by Moody’s entitled “Sovereign default and recovery rates, 1983-2017” the probability 
of default (PD) is considered for companies with the entity’s rating, along with the loss given 
default (LGD) associated with sovereign default events having occurred, as indicated in the 
same study (60%); 

• The procedure is detailed in Annex I of Directive 13/DSB/DRO/2019, considering a PD of 1/12 
(one twelfth) of the 12-month PD given the rating of the counterparty (or the country where 
the counterparty is headquartered, if it has no rating) and a 60% LGD for all counterparties 
without a significant rise in credit risk;

• With regard to the balances of “Investments at amortized cost”, Angolan government debt 
securities in domestic currency, a probability of default (PD) for sovereign debt with a rating 
of B3 is considered (rating level above the Angolan government) from Moody’s “Sovereign 
default and recovery rates, 1983-2017”, along with the loss given default (LGD) associated 
with sovereign default events having occurred, as indicated in the same study (60%).

The procedure is detailed and Annex I of Directive 13/DSB/DRO/2019.

In the specific case of impairment losses for domestic government debt in domestic and foreign 
currency (measured at amortized cost), the following criteria should be considered:

• 12-month probability of default (“PD”) for the rating of Angola published in the Moody’s 
study applicable to the year in question;

• Loss given default (“LGD”) associated with sovereign default events having occurred, as 
indicated in the same study.

Financial assets undergo periodic impairment tests. Any impairment losses found are recorded 
as an offsetting entry to results for the year. In the event of a reduction to the estimated loss 
in future periods, the initially recorded impairment is also reversed as an offsetting entry to 

results. For this purpose, and in accordance with IFRS 9, the Bank analyses the portfolio of loans 
to customers, guarantees provided and documentary credit for importing.

In 2019, the Bank implemented a new impairment model based on the principles of IFRS 9, which 
take credit risk into account. In this way, the Bank determines expected credit losses for each 
transaction according to the deteriorating credit risk from the time of its initial recognition.

A significant rise in risk is determined by the following criteria: a) deterioration of internal rating 
by two or more levels since the transaction was granted; b) the customer has an internal rating 
of high, very high or maximum; c) the customer’s financial statements have losses in the past 
three years; and d) the customer’s financial statements have a decrease in year-over-year sales 
exceeding 25%.

Definition of loans with default status

Loans/customers are classified as having a default status under any of the following 
circumstances:

I) Loan with principal or interest past-due for more than 90 days;

II) Unauthorized overdrafts or use of credit lines above the approved limit;

III) Transaction in the form of a secured current account used above the agreed amount, i.e. the 
balance due exceeds 100% of the authorized credit limit; and 

IV) Customers in bankruptcy or liquidation status.

Definition of loans with “signs of impairment”

Loans/customers are considered as showing signs of impairment under any of the following 
circumstances:

a) Existence of at least one transaction with past-due principal, i.e. a payment of principal which 
is due and unpaid for at least 30 days;

b) Existence of unauthorized overdrafts at the Bank within the past 12 months;

c) Existence of at least one restructured loan agreement due to customer financial difficulties 
within the past 12 months; 



77

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

d) Existence of credit write-offs at the Bank within the past 12 months, whether involving 
portions of principal or interest;

e) Major decrease in average balances – decrease exceeding 75% of average balances over the 
last six months; 

f) Existence of secured accounts exceeding 95% of agreed amount, on a continuous basis, within 
the past 12 months;

g) Customers with bounced cheques at the Bank; 

h) Existence of records, within the past 12 months, on the list of customers in recovery proceedings, 
or any other pre-litigation efforts.

i) Existence of records, within the past five years, on the list of customers in litigation proceedings;

j) Situations of default by the debtor vis-à-vis the financial system, using the Credit Risk 
Information Database (CIRC);

k) Other situations demonstrating concrete financial difficulties of the debtor;

l) Existence of preferential claims in the case of insolvency;

m) Payments by means of promissory notes; and

n) Contractual agreement with a decrease exceeding 20% of the real guarantee amount, when 
resulting in a financing/guarantee ratio of more than 80%.

Individual analysis

The Bank regularly evaluates, from an individual standpoint, whether there is objective evidence 
for impairment in its loan portfolio. Impairment losses in financial assets at amortized cost 
lower the book value of these assets, as an offsetting entry against results, and are subsequently 
reversed against results if, in a later period, the amount of the estimated loss decreases.

In the initial impairment calculation phase, the Bank separates its loan portfolio based on overall 
customer exposure (credit amount and off-balance sheet) into two blocks: i) major exposure and 
ii) minor exposure.

Major exposures are broken down in terms of signs of customer impairment, based on the actual 
customer risk, namely the actual risk of the transaction and the customer history in terms of the 

internal rating and number of days of default. As such, customers with major exposure can have 
one of the following classifications:

a) with objective signs of impairment;

b) without objective signs of impairment; and

c) with major rise in risk.

Major exposures are subject to an individual analysis with a view to determining the impairment 
rate. If a given loan does not have objective evidence of impairment from an individual standpoint, 
it is included in a group of loans with similar credit risk characteristics, and the impairment is 
attributed from a collective standpoint as a result.

Collective analysis

Minor exposures are combined into groups of credit exposures with similar credit risk 
characteristics, which are assessed from a collective standpoint. This segmentation is based on 
characteristics of the customers and the transactions, together with the existence of collateral 
associated with these transactions.

On 31 December 2019, there was no historic data available to statistically represent the 
performance of transactions to reliably calculate risk factors (probability of default (PD) and loss 
given default (LGD)). As such, risk factors have been determined by a judgement-based approach, 
considering the experience of recovery areas reflecting the expected probability of default (PD) 
and loss given default (LGD). These two risk factors can determine the amount of impairment 
losses for minor exposures and major exposures to which these parameters are applied.

Calculating the collective impairment or expected loss over an asset’s lifetime will consider a 
collection of macroeconomic scenarios in which amounts for different situations (optimistic, 
pessimistic and baseline) will be determined for each risk factor and applied to the portfolio 
according to their likelihood of occurrence.

Within the scope of adopting IFRS 9 in 2018, the Bank implemented a model for calculating and 
recording credit risk impairment, which is dependent on improvements to the databases which 
support it, mainly in terms of scheduling restructured credit transactions and recording and 
evaluating guarantees received.
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3.5.4. Non-current assets held for sale
The Bank records assets received in lieu of payment under the item “Non-current assets held for 
sale”, following the recovery of loans in default, when allocated for subsequent disposal.

These assets are recorded at their assessed amount or loan amount due, minus specific provisions 
established, whichever is lower.

Assets recorded under this item are not amortized, and are valued at their carrying amount or 
estimated net realizable value, minus costs incurred from the sale, whichever is lower. The 
revaluation amount of these assets is determined based on periodic assessments done by expert 
independent appraisers. Whenever the value resulting from these assessments (net of sales costs) 
is lower than their recorded amount, impairment losses are recorded under the item “Impairment 
of other assets net of reversals and recoveries”.

If these assets have not been disposed of within the legal time period of two years (subject to 
extension by BNA authorization), a new assessment is done to determine their updated market 
value, for the purpose of establishing the corresponding impairment.

3.5.5. Other tangible assets
Other tangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, minus accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses. The cost includes expenses that are directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the assets, and essential for their commissioning.

Subsequent costs are recognized as a separate asset only if it is likely that they will result in future 
economic benefits for the Bank. Maintenance and repair expenses are recognized as a cost as they 
are incurred in accordance with accrual accounting principles (Note 29). Amortization is calculated 
over the assets’ estimated useful life, which corresponds to the anticipated length of time the 
assets will be available for use. The estimated years of useful life for the Bank’s main categories of 
tangible assets are as follows:

Years of useful life

Real estate for own use (buildings) 25 to 50

Works at rented buildings 4 to 50

Equipment

Computer equipment 3 to 8

Furniture and materials 6 to 10

Transport equipment 4

Machines and tools 3 to 10

Interior fixtures 3 to 25

Security equipment 6 to 8

Other equipment 4 to 8

In accordance with IAS 36 – Asset impairment, when an asset shows signs of impairment, its 
recoverable amount should be estimated, with an impairment loss recognized whenever an 
asset’s net value exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the income 
statement.

3.5.6. Intangible assets
Intangible assets primarily correspond to software.

Intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, minus accumulated amortization and impairment 
losses.

Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis for the assets’ estimated useful life, which on 
average corresponds to 3 to 5 years.

Software maintenance expenses are recorded as a cost in the year in which they are incurred. The 
development of computer applications which are expected to generate future economic benefits 
after one year are recognized and recorded as intangible assets.

3.5.7. Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies
Pursuant to IAS 29 – Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies (“IAS 29”), when 
hyperinflation exists, financial institutions should consider the monthly effects of changes in the 
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purchasing power of domestic currency, by applying the Consumer Price index to the balances of 
capital, reserves and retained earnings. The financial statements of an entity whose functional 
currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy must be expressed in terms of the current 
measurement unit on the balance sheet date.

Hyperinflation is indicated by the characteristics of a country’s economic environment which 
include, but are not limited to, the following:

• The population in general prefers to keep its wealth in non-monetary assets or in relatively 
stable foreign currency. Amounts in local currency are immediately invested in order to maintain 
purchasing power;

• The population in general sees monetary quantities in terms of stable foreign currency. Prices 
can be quoted in that currency;

• Credit sales and purchases are made at prices which offset the expected loss in purchasing 
power during the credit period, even when this period is short;

• Interest rates, salaries and prices are linked to a price index; and 

• The accumulated inflation rate during the last 3 years is close to or exceeds 100%.

The amount resulting from the monetary adjustment must be reflected monthly as a debit to the 
account “Result in net monetary position” in the income statement, as an offsetting entry to the 
increased balances in equity, except for the item “Share capital”, which should be classified under a 
specific item (“Revaluation reserves”), which may only be utilized for a subsequent capital increase.

On 09 April 2019, the Angolan Association of Banks (“ABANC”) requested clarifications from the Big 
Four on Angola’s classification as a hyperinflationary economy on 30 June 2019 and in the years 
ending 31 December 2017 and 2018.

Their conclusion (preliminary as of June 2019) was that IAS 29 would not apply in Angola in 2019.

This is in view of item 38 of the standard, which states that: When an economy ceases to be 
hyperinflationary and an entity discontinues the preparation and presentation of financial 
statements prepared in accordance with this Standard, it shall treat the amounts expressed in the 
measuring unit current at the end of the previous reporting period as the basis for the carrying 
amounts in its subsequent financial statements. In order to mitigate the upholding of the qualified 

opinion due to disagreement, Banco Keve (Board of Directors) decided to re-express the effect of IAS 
29 in the financial statements.

The Angolan Association of Banks (“ABANC”) and Banco Nacional de Angola (“BNA”) have expressed 
an interpretation that not all the requirements of IAS 29 - Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies (“IAS 29”) have been met for the Angolan economy to be considered hyperinflationary 
in the year ended 31 December 2019. 

The complete adoption of IAS/IFRS became mandatory for the nation’s financial institutions 
beginning in 2016, for the purposes of

(I) compliance with recommendations from international financial institutions; 

(II) comparability and transparency in the financial performance of Angolan financial institutions 
on a global scale; and 

(III) continuous improvement of information provided to the users of financial statements.

BNA interacts with the IFRS Foundation to ensure the proper international recognition of the 
process of fully adopting the IAS/IFRS.

Within this principle of fully adopting the IAS/IFRS, BNA has instructed domestic banks, via 
communication no. 5429/DSB/18 of 10 December, to study the impact of applying IAS 29 - Financial 
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies to the accounts for the year 2018. Subsequently, via 
communication no. 681/DSB/19 of 01 July, BNA again instructed domestic banks to study the 
quantitative impacts of the adoption of this standard.

The “Impact Assessment of the Application of IAS 29 – Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies”, without a history in Angola and other countries most closely related to it, entailed 
expensive, time-consuming work for the adoption of well-defined and structured criteria, given the 
underlying complexity.

Banco Keve did the following to comply with BNA guidelines: (i) Identification and analysis of items 
subject to the standard; (ii) Simulation via updating account balances, taking IAS 29 assumptions 
and methodologies into account; this work was completed, with reporting, at the end of 2018.

The main impacts of these detailed adjustments were on the item “Other fixed assets”.
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As a result of the extended consultation launched by the ABANC, Big Four auditors no longer 
considered Angola a hyperinflationary economy as of 01 January 2019. However, for banks not 
applying the impact of IAS 29 in the year 2018, the opinion on the year 2019 will contain a qualified 
opinion due to a lack of comparability.

3.5.8. Income taxes  
Current tax

The current tax is calculated based on the taxable income for the year, which may differ from the 
accounting profit due to adjustments to taxable income resulting from costs or income which are 
not considered for tax purposes or which are only considered in other accounting periods.

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities correspond to the tax amount recoverable or payable in future 
periods, resulting from temporary deductible or taxable differences between the balance sheet 
value of assets and liabilities and their tax base, as used to determine the taxable income. Deferred 
tax liabilities are recorded for all temporary taxable differences, while deferred tax assets are only 
recognized up to the likely amount of future taxable profits allowing the use of the corresponding 
temporary deductible differences or reporting of tax losses.

In addition, deferred tax assets are not recognized in cases in which their recoverability is 
questionable due to other situations, including issues related to the interpretation of prevailing 
tax legislation.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, in view of its tax losses and the lack of studies demonstrating the 
existence of future taxable income, the Bank had no deferred tax assets.

Industrial tax

The bank is subject to industrial tax, and is considered a “Major Taxpayer”, subject to a rate of 30%.

The new Industrial Tax Code passed by Law no. 19/14 of 22 October entered into force on 01 
January 2015, by which income subject to Capital Gains Tax (“IAC”) is deductible for the purposes 
of determining taxable income, and with IAC not constituting a cost acceptable for tax purposes 
(Note 14).

In addition, pursuant to the new Industrial Tax Code, taxpayers whose business is overseen by 
Banco Nacional de Angola must make a provisional settlement of the Industrial Tax before the 
end of August each year, with the tax payable calculated based on 2% of income from financial 
intermediation during the first six months of the previous financial year, excluding income subject 
to IAC.

Note 14 shows the reconciliation between the tax result and the accounting result.

Capital Gains Tax (“IAC”)

Presidential Legislative Decree no. 5/11 of 30 December introduced various legislative amendments 
to the Capital Gains Tax Code, and was subsequently amended by Presidential Legislative Decree 
no. 2/14 of 20 October. IAC generally applies to income from the Bank’s financial investments, 
namely income from investments and securities. The rate ranges from 5% (for income from debt 
securities traded on regulated markets with a maturity of three or more years) to 15%.

According to the last formal memorandum of understanding from the General Tax Authority 
to the Angolan Bank Association (“ABANC”), although income from the exchange revaluation of 
government debt securities issued in foreign currency is subject to IAC, it should be subject to 
industrial tax until Banco Nacional de Angola withholds this tax for the income in question.

A letter from Banco Nacional de Angola to the ABANC dated 26 September 2013 reiterated that 
interest from treasury bonds, treasury bills and central bank securities is only subject to IAC for 
securities issued after 01 January 2013.

Urban Property Tax (“IPU”)

IPU at the rate of 0.5% applies to the asset value of own properties, allocated to the Bank’s regular 
business activities, whose asset value exceeds 5,000,000 AOA.

Other taxes

The Bank is also subject to indirect taxes such as customs duties, Stamp Duty, Consumption Tax 
(January – September), value-added tax (VAT) and others.
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3.5.9. Provisions and contingencies
A provision is established when there exists a present (legal or constructive) obligation resulting 
from past events for which the future outflow of resources is likely, when this may be reliably 
determined. The amount of the provision corresponds to the best estimate of the amount to be 
disbursed in order to settle the liability on the balance sheet date.

When the future outflow of resources is unlikely, it becomes a contingent liability, subsequently 
disclosed according to the requirements of IAS 37 – “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets”.

Provisions are revised at the end of each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the best estimate, 
whilst being reversed in the income statement in the proportion of the payments that are unlikely. 
Provisions are derecognized through their use for the obligations for which they were initially 
established, or in cases in which they are no longer observed.

3.5.10. Recognition of income from services and commissions
Income resulting from services and commissions is recognized in accordance with the following 
criteria:

• When it is obtained as the services are provided, it is recognized in the income statement in the 
period to which it relates; and 

• When it results from a provision of services, it is recognized when the service in question is 
completed.

3.5.11. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the Bank’s 
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation, excluding the 
average number of treasury shares held by the Bank.

If the earnings per share are altered as a result of an issue at a premium or discount, by another 
event that changes the potential number of ordinary shares, or by changes in accounting policies, 
the calculation of earnings per share for all of the periods shown is adjusted retrospectively.

3.5.12. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of preparing the cash flow statement, the Bank considers all balances under the 
items “Cash and cash equivalents at central banks” and “Cash on hand at other credit institutions”, 
including the item “Payment system credits”, as “Cash on hand at the end of the period” (Notes 4 
and 5).

3.6. MAIN ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS USED IN PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The International Financial Reporting Standards establish a series of accounting procedures, whereby 
the Board of Directors must make judgements and estimates in order to decide which accounting 
approach is most appropriate.

The main accounting estimates and judgements used for the accounting principles described in this 
Note are aimed at facilitating an understanding of their application and how they affect the results 
reported by the Bank, and its respective disclosures. A description of the main accounting policies used 
by the Bank is presented in Note 3.5 to the financial statements.

With regard to the results disclosed by the Bank, since there are alternative accounting procedures in 
many situations, the results could be different if the Bank had chosen another approach. The Board of 
Directors considers that the choices made are appropriate and that the financial statements truly and 
accurately present the Bank’s financial position and the income from its operations in all materially 
relevant aspects.

Financial Instruments – IFRS 9

Classification and measurement

The classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI test (analysis 
of characteristics of contractual cash flows, to conclude whether they correspond solely to principal 
and interest payments against the amount due) and defining a business model for managing these 
cash flows.

The Bank determines a business model based on how the financial asset groups are managed 
together to achieve a specific business goal. This evaluation requires judgements, insofar as the 
following aspects must be considered, among others: how the assets’ performance is assessed; risks 
affecting the assets’ performance and how these risks are managed; and the means of compensating 
the assets’ managers.
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The Bank monitors financial assets measured at amortized cost and at fair value through other 
comprehensive income which are derecognized prior to their maturity, to understand the underlying 
reasons for their disposal and gauge whether they are consistent with the goal of the assets’ business 
model. This monitoring is part of the Bank’s continuous oversight process for the business model of 
financial assets in the portfolio, to determine whether this model is suitable and, if not, if it has been 
modified with a subsequent forward-looking change to these financial assets’ classification.

Impairment losses in financial assets at amortized cost
The determination of impairment losses for financial instruments involves judgements and estimates 
on the following aspects, among others:

Significant rise in credit risk
Impairment losses correspond to the expected losses in the event of default over a 12-month 
time frame for assets in stage 1 impairment, and to the expected losses considering the likelihood 
of default at any time before the financial instrument’s maturity date for stage 2 and 3 assets. An 
asset is classified as stage 2 whenever there is a significant rise in credit risk from the time of its 
initial recognition. When assessing a significant rise in credit risk, the Bank considers qualitative and 
quantitative information which is reasonable and sustainable. 

Loss given default
This corresponds to an estimated loss in a default scenario. It is based on the difference between 
contractual cash flows and those which the Bank expects to receive from cash flows managed by the 
customer’s business or from credit collateral. Among other aspects, loss given default is estimated 
based on different recovery scenarios, historical information, costs involved in the recovery process 
and the estimated value of collateral associated with the credit transaction.

Income tax

The Bank determines income tax based on the rules of tax legislation in force. However, tax legislation 
is sometimes not sufficiently clear and objective, resulting in different interpretations. In such case, the 
amounts recorded result from the best understanding of the Bank’s managing boards on the proper 
framework of its transactions which, nonetheless, is subject to questioning by the tax authorities.

Tax authorities have the option of reviewing the Bank’s calculation of taxable income for a period of 
up to five years. In this way, it is possible that there will be corrections to the taxable income, primarily 
resulting from different interpretations of tax legislation which, due to their probability, the Board of 
Directors believes will have no materially relevant effect on the financial statements.

Going concern principle 

The financial statements have been prepared based on the going concern principle, since the Board 
of Directors believes that the Bank has the means and capacity to continue operations into the 
foreseeable future. Along these lines, with a view to equipping the Bank with resources needed to 
conduct its business and ensure its continued operations, the Board of Directors will propose the 
measures deemed appropriate, namely a capital increase, to the General Meeting of Shareholders.

4. CASH AND CASH ON HAND AT CENTRAL BANKS 
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Cash and cash on hand at central banks” had the following 
breakdown:

2019 2018

Cash

Domestic notes and currencies 3 725 839 3 396 328

Foreign notes and currencies

In United States dollars (USD) 329 384 115 161

In other currencies 235 094 34 686

4 290 316 3 546 175

Cash on hand at Banco Nacional de Angola

In domestic currency 13 034 300 12 144 347

In United States dollars (USD) 1 998 053 1 281 853

15 032 353 13 426 200

19 322 669 16 972 375

Demand deposits in domestic and foreign currency at Banco Nacional de Angola are aimed at 
complying with provisions in force for mandatory reserves, and are not remunerated.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, mandatory reserves have been calculated pursuant to Instruction no. 
17/2019 of 24 October and Directive no. 08/DMA/DRO/2019 of 24 October, respectively, established 
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in domestic and foreign currency per the corresponding denomination of the liabilities constituting 
their basis of assessment. These reserves must be maintained for the entire period to which they 
correspond. The enforceability of maintaining mandatory reserves is determined using a rate of 22% 
against the arithmetic mean of eligible liabilities in domestic currency, and a rate of 15% against the 
arithmetic mean of eligible liabilities in foreign currency.

In the case of mandatory reserves in foreign currency, the Bank may fulfil up to 80% of the enforceability 
of treasury bonds in foreign currency, belonging to the Bank’s portfolio, when issued as of January 2015.

5. CASH ON HAND AT OTHER CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Cash on hand at domestic credit institutions

Banco Angolano de Investimentos, S.A. 500 794 238 448

Other entities 83 765

500 794 322 213

Cash on hand at credit institutions abroad

Banco BAI Europa, S.A. 50 736 2 845 139

Banque de Commerce et de Placements, S.A. 1 637 426 2 440 613

Byblos Bank Europe, S.A. 4 287 775 1 816 724

Banco Atlântico Europa, S.A. 2 428 039 739 266

Banco BIC Português, S.A. 774 236 711 880

Banco UBAE, S.A. 367 208 266 453

Banco BAI Europa, S.A. 101 250 118 635

Other entities 556 480 88 291

10 203 150 9 027 001

Payment system credits 1 311 374 1 280 584

12 015 379 10 629 798

Impairment for cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 18) (16 511) (16 511)

11 998 808 10 613 287

In 2019 and 2018, “Cash on hand at other credit institutions” was not remunerated.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Cash on hand at domestic credit institutions” includes a 
deposit at Banco BAI serving as collateral for transactions performed with VISA cards of Banco Keve 
customers. Banco BAI acts as an intermediary between Banco Keve and VISA.

The detail by currency of the item “Cash on hand at other credit institutions abroad” had the following 
breakdown:

2019 2018

Cash on hand at credit institutions abroad

Expressed in United States dollars (USD) 3 207 532 5 374 042

Expressed in euros (EUR) 6 937 866 3 652 959

Expressed in South African rand (ZAR) 1 733

Expressed in pound sterling (GBP) 3 460

Expressed in Namibian dollars (NAD) 52 560

10 203 151 9 027 001

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balance of the item “Payment system credits” was 1,311,374,000 
AOA and 1,280,584,999 AOA, respectively. The item “Payment system credits” includes cheques 
received at the Bank for compensation in the first working days of 2020 and 2019.
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6. INVESTMENTS AT CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER CREDIT
     INSTITUTIONS
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Investments at domestic credit institutions

Banco Nacional de Angola 1 737 100 1.500.000

Banco Sol, S.A. - -

Banco de Poupança e Crédito, S.A. - -

Banco Angolano de Negócios e Comércio, S.A. - -

1 737 100 1.500.000

Income receivable 7 867 645

1 744 967 1.500.645

Investments at credit institutions abroad

Deposits

Byblos Bank Europe, S.A. 3 271 634 1.700.065

Banco BIC Português, S.A. 416 117 -

Banque de Commerce et de Placements, S.A. - -

Banco Atlântico Europa, S.A. - -

3 687 750 1.700.065

Income receivable 438 819 986

4 126 569 1.701.051

Collateral transactions from letters of credit

Banco Atlântico Europa, S.A. - 2.209.910

Banca Ubae, S.p.A - 325.592

Byblos Bank Europe, S.A. 8 975 285.798

Banco BAI Europa, S.A. - 52.953

Banque de Commerce et de Placements, S.A. 280 006 1.028

First National Bank -

280 981 2.875.281

6 152 517 6.076.977

Impairment for investments at other credit institutions (Note 18) (29.868) (29.868)

6 122 650 6.047.109

On 31 December 2019, the item “Investments at domestic credit institutions – Banco Nacional de 
Angola” corresponds to an own security sale transaction with repurchase agreement (repo) with 
a 1-month maturity remunerated at 13.36% and a lending transaction with a 1-month maturity 
remunerated at 14.42%.

The detail by currency of “Investments at credit institutions abroad” had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Investments at credit institutions abroad:

Expressed in United States dollars (USD) 3 125 301 1 700 065

Expressed in euros (EUR) 562 450 -

3 687 750 1 700 065

On 31 December 2019, the balance of “Investments at credit institutions abroad – Byblos Bank Europe, 
S.A.” corresponded to an investment remunerated at an average interest rate of 2.33%, in foreign 
currency (USD), in the amount of 3,271,634,000 AOA.

On 31 December 2019, the balance of “Investments at credit institutions abroad – Byblos Bank 
Europe, S.A.” corresponded to a non-remunerated investment, in foreign currency (EUR), in the amount 
of 3,271,634,000 AOA. - Banco BIC Português, S.A. corresponds to 3 investments remunerated at an 
average interest rate of 1.45%, in foreign currency (USD), in the amount of 416,117,000 AOA.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, “Collateral transactions from letters of credit” corresponded to 
transactions serving as collateral for letter of credit transactions, per specific counterparty instructions.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the residual maturity of “Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions”, including income receivable net of impairment, had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Up to 15 days 7 532

15 to 30 days 1 744 967 1 500 000

1 to 2 months 4 407 550 4 569 445

6 152 517 6 076 977
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Changes in impairment for investments at central banks and other credit institutions are analysed in 
Note 18.

7. AND 8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER   
     COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE 
     FOR SALE
The items “Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income” and “Financial assets 
available for sale” were comprised of the following capital instruments:

HOLDINGS IN OTHER COMPANIES % Holding Nº of Securities Kind Valuation Method

EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de Serviços 2,24% 90.938 Ordinary Acquisition cost(i)

Gestcall - Gestão de Serviços de Atendimento 15,00% 1.500 Ordinary Acquisition cost(i)

Sagripek 5,00% 80 Ordinary Acquisition cost(i)

(i) Standard IFRS 9 states that, under limited circumstances, the acquisition cost may be a suitable 
estimate of fair value. As such, the Bank’s financial holdings have been valued at acquisition cost, 
insofar as the Board of Directors believes that this entails a reasonable and prudent estimate of fair 
value, per the policy described in 3.5.3.

IFRS 9 offers alternatives for classifying and measuring these holdings, since this involves a capital 
instrument falling outside of the scope of SPPI, given that the cash flows generated do not correspond 
solely to principal and interest. In view of this, capital instruments would be classified and measured at 
fair value through results. Even so, IFRS 9 provides an alternative under which the Bank may, irrevocably 
at the time of initial recognition, choose to classify and measure the capital instruments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. Based on this alternative, the Bank chose to recognize these 
holdings at acquisition cost, thereby considering this amount as a prudent and reasonable estimate 
of fair value for the capital instrument in question.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, these items included the following financial holdings:

2019 2018

Shares

EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de Serviços

Capital 90 938 90 938

Supplementary contributions - -

90 938 90 938

Gestcall - Gestão de Serviços de Atendimento 3 090 3 090

Sagripek 2 167 2 167

96 195 96 195

EMIS – Empresa Interbancária de Serviços, S.A.R.L. (EMIS), in which the Bank has a 2.24% stake, was 
established in Angola to manage electronic payments and supplementary services. In the wake of EMIS’ 
27th General Meeting of Shareholders dated 20 May 2016, approval was given for the Bank’s inclusion 
in EMIS’ memorandum of association, thereby acquiring the stake in the company. In addition, the 
amounts for the issue premium and supplementary capital contributions were also provided to EMIS.
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9. INVESTMENTS AT AMORTIZED COST AND INVESTMENTS HELD  
     UNTIL MATURITY

These items had the following breakdown:

        2019          2018

Interest rate Book value Interest rate Book value

Treasury Bills 15,99% 517 488 23,90% 2 500 938

517 488 2 500 938

Treasury Bonds

In domestic currency

Indexed to USD (1) 7,04% 52 386 073 7,10% 48 451 452

Non-readjustable 12,30% 11 212 899 11,45% 10 092 819

63 598 972 58 544 271

In foreign currency (USD) 5,00% 3 968 728 5,00% 2 539 836

3 968 728 2 539 836

68 085 188 63 585 045

Income receivable 1 011 013 1 202 394

1 011 013 1 202 394

Total Gross 69 096 201 64 787 439

Impairment (Note 18) (1 061 312) (1 061 312)

68 034 889 63 726 127

(1) Nominal value indexed to the United States dollar.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Treasury bills” corresponded to treasury bills issued by 
the Angolan government in domestic currency, with a residual maturity of less than one year and 
average remuneration of 15.99% and 23.90%, respectively.

The increase in the book value of “Treasury bonds indexed to USD” between 2019 and 2018 was 
primarily due to the major exchange devaluation of the kwanza against the dollar in 2019. In 2019, 
the Bank acquired bonds indexed to USD remunerated at an average rate of 7.04%.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Non-readjustable treasury bonds” corresponded to 
treasury bonds in domestic currency totalling 11,212,899,000 AOA and 10,092,819,000 AOA, 
respectively. In 2018, these bonds were acquired at a discount, with an average discount rate of 
approximately 20%, issued in this year with an average maturity of 2022 and a maximum maturity 
of 2024, and with a coupon rate of approximately 11%.
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On 31 December 2019 and 2018, “Investments at amortized cost” had the following breakdown, 
excluding interest receivable and impairment, in accordance with residual maturities:

Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 months From 3 to 6 months From 6 months to 1 year More than 1 year From 1 to 3 years From 3 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Treasury bills - 517 488 517 488

Treasury bonds in domestic currency

Indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate - 52 386 07 17 996 408 27 554 946 6 834 719 52 386 073

Not indexed - 11 212 899 8 579 153 1 215 028 1 418 718 11 212 899

Treasury bonds in foreign currency - 3 968 728 3 968 728 3 968 728

Balance on 31 December 2019 - - - 517 488 67 567 700 26 575 561 28 769 974 12 222 165 68 085 188

Treasury bills - - 1 599 430 901 508 - - - - 2 500 938

Treasury bonds in domestic currency

Indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate - 2 748 630 4 367 271 6 789 474 34 546 077 34 546 077 - - 48 451 452

Not indexed - - 333 140 150 244 9 609 435 8 108 110 1 129 645 371 679 10 092 819

Treasury bonds in foreign currency - - - - 2 539 836 - 2 095 442 444 394 2 539 836

Balance on 31 December 2018 - 2 748 630 6 299 841 7 841 226 46 695 348 42 654 187 3 225 087 816 073 63 585 045

The change in impairment in “Investments at amortized cost” is analysed in Note 18.
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10. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
As described in Note 3.5.3.b), in 2018 the Bank deployed a computer tool defining the methodology to 
be used for determining impairment losses in the loan portfolio, for the purpose of complying with the 
requirements of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments – Classification and Measurement (“IFRS 9”).

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Loans to customers” had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Outstanding credit

Domestic currency

Companies 51 156 370 40 811 780

Individuals 5 404 348 5 905 364

Credit cards 1 422 3 40 1 524 502

Corporate public sector 220 117 63 716

Income receivable 19 838 45 634

58 223 012 48 350 996

Foreign currency

Companies 3 747 128 1 982 765

Individuals 415 751 288 527

Income receivable 99 251 46 766

4 262 130 2 318 058

Total outstanding credit 62 485 142 50 669 054

2019 2018

Past-due credit

Domestic currency

Companies 21 139 157 17 389 814

Corporate public sector - 491

Individuals 380 265 232 317

Income receivable 3 547 063 3 278 048

25 066 485 20 900 670

Foreign currency

Companies - -

Corporate public sector 460 715 286 647

Individuals 5 106 8 193

Income receivable - -

465 821 294 840

Total past-due credit 25 532 306 21 195 510

Total gross lending 88 017 448 71 864 564

Impairment for capital (36 732 396) (20 137 585)

Impairment for interest - (2 040 413)

Total Impairment (Note 18) (36 732 396) (22 177 998)

Total net lending 51 285 052 49 686 566

continuation
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On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Past-due credit” totalled 25,804,464,000 AOA and 
21,195,510,000 AOA, respectively.

On 31 December 2018 and 2017, loans to customers accrued interest at an average annual rate 
of 22.28% and 22.72%, respectively, for credit granted in domestic currency, and 11% and 11.87%, 
respectively, for credit granted in foreign currency. The majority of credit in foreign currency is in 
United States dollars.

As disclosed in Note 31, on 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank had credit transactions totalling 
35,255,300,000 AOA and 29,123,342,000 AOA, respectively, with related parties. Despite the capital 
increase of 6,000,000,000 AOA in 2018 (Note 21), the Bank’s exposure to these transactions exceeds 
the limits for major risks stipulated in Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 09/2016.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balance of the item “Income receivable – past-due credit” 
totalled 3,547,063,000 AOA and 3,278,048,000 AOA, respectively. The change compared to 2018 was 
due to the restructuring of loans in a grace period at the end of 2019.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loan portfolio, including income receivable, had the following 
structure by residual maturity:

2019 2018

In domestic currency

From 1 to 3 months 3 332 782 4 354 680

From 3 to 6 months 4 131 855 1 832 486

From 6 months to 1 year 8 547 763 450 250

More than 1 year 50 778 272 40 159 482

Credit cards 1 450 368 1 524 502

Bank overdrafts - 29 596

Past-due 5 939 575 20 889 457

74 180 613 65 911 194

In foreign currency

From 1 to 3 months 243 152 1 061

From 6 months to 1 year - -

More than 1 year 5 609 968 2 325 190

Past-due 7 983 714 297 860

13 836 835 2 624 111

88 017 448 68 535 305
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On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loan portfolio, including income receivable, had the following 
structure by business sector:

2019 2018

Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment

Commerce 13 978 448 (9 224 568) 17 851 844 (4 261 111)

Services 16 691 814 (9 113 390) 17 317 414 (4 778 875)

Civil construction 4 411 336 (2 497 512) 8 799 854 (2 433 686)

Individuals 6 867 367 (1 614 063) 7 037 963 (632 263)

Sports 4 968 757 (4 471 881) 5 332 984 (3 309 850)

Manufacturing 28 199 165 (834 454) 4 990 992 (1 336 609)

Agriculture 5 972 993 (4 492 431) 4 020 201 (2 055 508)

Real estate 2 021 876 (2 011 767) 3 557 333 (1 472 709)

Hospitality and tourism 2 037 360 (1 464 518) 1 993 164 (1 773 616)

Education 658 735 (111 635) 920 140 (64 271)

Health care 31 533 (7 438) 42 675 (59 501)

Agribusiness 162 726 (79 741) - -

Fisheries 1 990 720 (808 777)

Poultry industry 18 847 -

Telecommunications 5 770 (220)

88 017 448 (36 732 396) 71 864 564 (22 177 998)

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loan portfolio, including income receivable, had the following 
structure by domicile:

2019 2018

Resident 87 690 392 71 856 209

Non-resident 327 056 8 355

88 017 448 71 864 564
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Due to limitations in the Bank’s information tools, the detail of the loan portfolio by segment and by 
transaction year, excluding the amount of 1,422,340,000 AOA in credit cards, is as follows:

Loans to Companies Loans to Individuals Corporate public sector Total

Year of granting
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment

2012 and prior 65 11 160 495 (4 423 100) 184 1 320 199 (250 148) 2 404 639 (156 452) 251 12 885 333 (4 829 700)

2013 18 1 572 347 (937 300) 36 135 727 (6 821) - - - 54 1 708 074 (944 121)

2014 26 6 843 321 (2 623 348) 137 469 903 (79 487) - - - 163 7 313 224 (2 702 835)

2015 16 4 731 808 (1 042 424) 273 892 739 (56 287) - - - 289 5 624 547 (1 098 711)

2016 34 14 767 311 (9 830 468) 440 647 918 (98 762) - - - 474 15 415 229 (9 929 230)

2017 93 11 028 874 (1 930 231) 2 627 1 462 064 (256 368) 1 40 223 (6 214) 2 721 12 531 161 (2 192 813)

2018 221 13 329 094 (256 317) 1 710 1 508 871 (221 612) 1 24 529 (2 659) 1 932 14 862 494 (480 588)

2019 117 14 922 579 (11 566 701) 2 354 2 678 867 (2 984 587) 1 75 941 (3 110) 17 677 386 (14 554 398)

Total 653 78 355 829 (32 609 889) 10 951 9 116 288 (3 954 072) 13 545 332 (168 435) 11 617 88 017 448 (36 732 396)
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The amount of transactions involving corporate loans in 2019 includes transactions restructured 
during the year, insofar as it was not possible to determine the year the loans were granted.

As described in Note 3.5.3. b), in 2019, the Bank implemented a model for calculating and recording 
credit risk impairment, which is dependent on improvements to the databases which support 
it, mainly in terms of scheduling restructured credit transactions and recording and evaluating 
guarantees received.

The detail of the amount of gross credit exposure and of the amount of impairment, by business 
segment, is as follows:

Loans to Companies Loans to Individuals Corporate public sector Credit cards Total

2019 Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment

Individual analysis 47 321 164 (31 074 546) 5 821 263 (2 663 330) 106 108 (39 698) - - 53 248 534 (33 777 574)

Collective analysis 29 584 296 (1 511 967) 3 295 025 (1 290 741) 439 224 (128 736) 1 450 368 (23 377) 34 768 914 (2 954 822)

76 905 460 (32 586 513) 9 116 288 (3 954 071) 545 332 (168 434) 1 450 368 (23 377) 88 017 448 (36 732 396)

A distribuição da carteira de crédito medida por graus de risco internos é como segue:

2019

None
(A)

Very low
(B)

Low
(C)

Moderate
(D)

High
(E)

Very high
(F)

Loss
(G) Total

Loans to Companies 33 993 531 9 447 521 133 10 943 323 3 843 792 18 545 646 9 048 588 76 905 460

Loans to Individuals 7 292 493 21 136 76 149 143 152 114 809 1 437 975 30 575 9 116 288

Corporate public sector 395 511 6 879 2 411 2 049 17 933 120 539 9 545 332

Credit cards 1 444 995 2 753 450 - 2 172 - - 1 450 369

43 126 529 40 215 600 143 11 088 524 3 978 706 20 104 160 9 079 172 88 017 449

With regard to the fair book value of properties received in lieu of payment or execution; the history 
of properties received in lieu of payment or execution is residual. The properties received in 2019 were 
acquired for own use (Note 12), with the remaining properties recorded under the item “Non-current 
assets held for sale” (Note 11).

The Bank deployed new software in 2018 to calculate impairment. However, it was still in the testing 
phase as of 31 December 2018, causing some system deficiencies. As such, the methodological tool 
could not be fully deployed for determining impairment losses for credit granted prior to closing out 
the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2018, making it impossible to disclose the 
following information required by Instruction no. 5/2016 of 08 August, published by Banco Nacional 
de Angola:

• Table I – Detail of exposures and impairment by segment and by interval of days in arrears;

• Table IV – Detail of loan portfolio restructured by restructuring measure;

• Table V – Inputs and outputs to the restructured loan portfolio;
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• Table VI – Detail of the fair value of underlying guarantees of the loan portfolio for the segments 
of companies, real estate construction/development and housing;

• Table VII – Financing/guarantee ratio for the segments of companies, real estate construction/
development and housing;

• Table X – Disclosure of risk factors associated with impairment model by segment.

12. OTHER TANGIBLE ASSETS
The item “Other tangible assets” had the following changes in 2019:

31.12.2018 Amortization 31.12.2019 

Gross Assets
Accumulated
amortization Net assets Increases Transfers

Write offs, 
disposals and other for the year Write-offs Gross Assets

Accumulated
amortization Net assets

Real Estate

In own use 3 877 996 (1 286 723) 2 591 273 5 400 679 (77 944) (263 910) 38 036 9 200 731 (3 612 679) 5 588 052

Works at rented properties 1 822 631 (320 570) 1 502 061 2 860 789 (157 784) (75 841) 32 352 4 525 636 (996 036) 3 529 601

5 700 627 (1 607 293) 4 093 335 8 261 468 - (235 728) (339 751) 70 388 13 726 368 (4 608 715) 9 117 653

Equipment

Computer equipment 1 523 938 (663 216) 860 722 1 260 657 (321 160) 2 784 595 (1 592 502) 1 192 093

Furniture and materials 452 903 (211 592) 241 311 799 063 (9 500) (80 579) 1 242 466 (646 176) 596 290

Transport equipment 328 458 (126 742) 201 716 297 610 (91 646) 626 068 (301 098) 324 970

Machines and tools 160 695 (94 700) 65 995 237 669 (27 188) 999 398 363 (263 211) 135 153

Interior fixtures 190 179 (100 235) 89 944 260 739 9 500 (31 255) (999) 460 418 (267 734) 192 684

Security equipment 207 395 (51 411) 155 984 138 726 (30 415) 346 121 (139 223) 206 898

2 863 567 (1 247 895) 1 615 671 2 994 465 - - (582 243) - 5 858 032 (3 209 945) 2 648 087

Fixed assets in progress 3 905 537 - 3 905 537 482 531 - - - 4 388 068 - 4 388 068 3.905.537

3 905 537 - 3 905 537 482 531 - - - - 4 388 068 - 4 388 068

Other fixed assets 114 033 (48 539) 65 494 153 354 (20 874) 267 387 (128 768) 138 619 114.033 (48.539) 65.494

114 033 (48 539) 65 494 153 354 - - (20 874) - 267 387 (128 768) 138 619

12 583 764 (2 903 727) 9 680 037 11 891 818 - (235 728) (942 869) 70 388 24 239 854 (7 947 428) 16 292 426
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In the past year, the Bank acquired a property from related parties in the amount of 1,850,000,000 
AOA, which it uses for its business activities; however, due to bureaucratic issues, the Bank was unable 
to register its ownership.

On 31 December 2018, the balance of the item “Fixed assets in progress” was primarily comprised 
of one first-floor unit of the registered office building of Garden Towers acquired for the amount of 
1,850,000,000 AOA (the property described in the above paragraph), and one pavilion in the Retail Park 

acquired for the amount of 866,672,000 AOA. These properties were acquired by signing a payment-
in-kind agreement for credit default for the purpose of expanding the facilities.

During the year ending 31 December 2019, 6,926,000 AOA was reclassified via transfers from the item 
“Fixed assets in progress” to the item “Intangible assets in progress” (Note 13).

The item “Other tangible assets” had the following changes in 2018:

31.12.2018 Amortization 31.12.2019 

Gross Assets
Accumulated
amortization Net assets Increases Transfers

Write offs,
disposals and other for the year Write-offs Gross Assets

Accumulated
amortization Net assets

Real Estate

In own use 3 890 707 (1 033 348) 2 857 359 2 969 - (15 680) (269 516) 15 680 3 877 996 (1 286 723) 2 591 273

Works at rented properties 1 789 050 (277 103) 1 511 947 38 934 18 191 (23 544) (66 967) 23 500 1 822 631 (320 570) 1 502 061

5 679 757 (1 310 451) 4 369 306 41 903 18 191 (39 224) (336 483) 39 180 5 700 627 (1 607 293) 4 093 335

Equipment

Computer equipment 2 243 067 (1 259 565) 983 502 162 346 19 662 (901 137) (296 116) 892 383 1 523 938 (663 216) 860 722

Furniture and materials 517 202 (282 863) 234 339 77 231 - (141 530) (56 098) 134 596 452 903 (211 592) 241 311

Transport equipment 525 176 (297 317) 227 859 89 561 - (286 279) (82 842) 253 417 328 458 (126 742) 201 716

Machines and tools 314 384 (250 022) 64 362 17 961 1 260 (172 910) (26 468) 172 822 160 695 (94 700) 65 995

Interior fixtures 294 521 (183 230) 111 291 12 091 - (116 432) (32 689) 115 673 190 179 (100 235) 89 944

Security equipment 282 779 (187 984) 94 795 84 725 - (160 109) (23 485) 160 005 207 395 (51 411) 155 984

4 177 129 (2 460 981) 1 716 148 443 914 20 922 (1 778 398) (517 699) 1 728 895 2 863 567 (1 247 895) 1 615 671

Fixed assets in progress 813 564 - 813 564 3 138 012 (46 039) - - - 3 905 537 - 3 905 537

813 564 - 813 564 3 138 012 (46 039) - - - 3 905 537 - 3 905 537

Other fixed assets 265 183 (205 434) 59 749 23 587 - (174 737) (15 144) 174 477 114 033 (48 539) 65 494

265 183 (205 434) 59 749 23 587 - (174 737) (15 144) 174 477 114 033 (48 539) 65 494

10 935 633 (3 976 866) 6 958 767 3 647 416 (6 926) (1 992 359) (869 327) 1 942 552 12 583 764 (2 903 727) 9 680 037
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On 31 December 2017, the item “Fixed assets in progress” primarily entailed investments to expand 
the Bank’s network of branches.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The item “Intangible assets” had the following changes in 2019 and 2018:

During the year ending 31 December 2018, 6,926,000 AOA was reclassified via transfers from the item 
“Fixed assets in progress” (Note 12) to the item “Intangible assets in progress”.

31.12.2018 Amortization 31.12.2019

Gross Assets
Accumulated
amortization Net assets Increases Transfers

Write offs,
disposals and other for the year Write-offs Gross Assets

Accumulated
amortization Net assets

Software 56 011 (16 965) 39 047 196 723 (44 396) 252 734 (75 844) 176 890

Multi-annual costs 4 520 (4 170) 350 7 619 (99) 12 139 (11 382) 757

Incorporation expenses 0 - 0 0 - 0

Intangible assets in progress 127 652 - 127 652 119 005 246 657 - 246 657

Other 0 - 0 0 - 0 - 17.817 0 - 0

188 184 (21 135) 167 049 323 346 - - (44 496) - 511 530 (87 226) 424 304

31.12.2017 Amortization 31.12.2018 

Gross Assets
Accumulated
amortization Net assets Increases Transfers

Write offs,
disposals and other for the year Write-offs Gross Assets

Accumulated
amortization Net assets

Software 348 193 (341 954) 6 239 41 667 - (333 849) (8 859) 333 849 56 011 (16 965) 39 047

Multi-annual costs 427 588 (426 475) 1 113 - - (423 068) (763) 423 068 4 520 (4 170) 350

Incorporation expenses 5 766 (5 766) - - - (5 766) - 5 766 0 - 0

Intangible assets in progress 48 943 - 48 943 71 783 6 926 - - - 127 652 - 127 652

Other 17 817 (17 817) - - - (17 817) - 17 817 0 - 0

848 307 (792 012) 56 295 113 451 6 926 (780 500) (9 622) 780 500 188 184 (21 135) 167 049
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14. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The bank is subject to industrial tax, and is considered a “Group A” taxpayer.

The current tax for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018 was calculated pursuant to article 4 
(1) and (2) of Law no. 19 /14 of 22 October, with an applicable tax rate of 30%.

Tax returns are subject to review and correction by the tax authorities during a period of 5 years, and 
due to different interpretations of tax legislation, could result in corrections to the taxable profits 
relating to the 2015 to 2019 financial years. However, it is not foreseeable that any corrections will be 
made to these financial years and, if they do occur, no significant impacts are expected to the financial 
statements.

Tax losses in any given year, pursuant to article 46 of the Industrial Tax Code, may be deducted from 
taxable income from the three subsequent years.

Current tax assets and liabilities recognized on the balance sheet on 31 December 2019 and 2018 had 
the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Current tax liabilities

Special Banking Transaction Contribution - -

Tax on profit/loss for the year 125 113 29 589

125 113 29 589

The estimated taxes for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

2019 2018

Result before taxes and other fees 2 806 541 4 603 486

Income from government debt securities or equivalent subject to Capital Gains Ta (5 564 134) (5 935 939)

Costs not accepted for tax purposes:

Entertainment expenses 57 041 21 987

Other 641 994 878 641

Taxable profit (2 058 558) (431 825)

Nominal tax rate 30% 30%

Industrial tax on profit/loss for the year - -

There was no tax payable for the year 2019. However, out of prudence, the Bank recorded an estimate 
of 104,019,000 AOA to cover any corrections that may be made by the General Tax Authority.

Income taxes are reflected in the results for the year, except when their underlying transactions have 
been reflected in other equity categories. In such case, the corresponding tax is also reflected as an 
offsetting entry against equity, without affecting the result for the year.

Income from government debt securities resulting from treasury bonds and treasury bills issued by the 
Angolan State, up to 31 December 2012, whose issue is regulated by the Direct Public Debt Framework 
Law (Law no. 16/02 of 05 December), and by Regulatory Decrees no. 51/03 and no. 52/03 of 08 July, 
are exempt from all taxes. This is supplemented by the provisions of article 23 (1c) of the Industrial 
Tax Code (Law no. 18/92 of 03 July), in force until 31 December 2014, which expressly states that 
returns from any Angolan government debt securities are not considered income for the purposes of 
determining the Industrial Tax payable.

Likewise, the cost determined by the settlement of Capital Gains Tax is excluded from the tax-
acceptable costs for determining taxable income, pursuant to article 18 (1a) of the Industrial Tax Code.
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank had no amount due for income tax, as a result of its negative 
taxable profits in the current year. The Bank recorded no deferred tax assets against the tax loss, since 
it had no studies supporting its recoverability through tax profits in upcoming years.
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The reconciliation between the nominal tax rate and the 2019 tax charge, together with the 
reconciliation between the tax cost/income and product of the accounting profit through the nominal 
tax rate, has the following breakdown:

2018 2019

Taxa de imposto Valor Taxa de imposto Valor

Profit before tax 2 806 541 4 603 486

Tax calculated based on nominal tax rate 30,00% 841 962 30,00% 1 381 046

Income from government debt securities or equiv-
alent subject to Capital Gains Tax (I

-198,26% (5 564 134) -38,68% (1 780 782)

Costs not accepted for tax purposes:

Entertainment expenses 2,03% 57 041 0,14% 6 596

Other 22,87% 641 994 5,73% 263 592

Tax payable/recoverable 0,00% - 0,00% -

15. OTHER ASSETS
The item “Other assets” had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

State sector 1 216 984 1 013 933

Prepaid expenses 307 820 789 791

Taxes recoverable 305 303 171 084

Other advances 234 314 119 656

Cash differences 136 485 108 718

Corporate sector 249 583 63 583

Individuals 57 099 47 299

Office supplies 58 373 32 224

Public sector (0) 24 662

Artistic assets 18 558 18 558

Other 173 876 3 048

2 758 394 2 392 556

Impairment (Note 18) (129 766) (96.672)

2 628 628 2 392 556

On 31 December 2019, the item “State sector” includes amounts receivable from the Ministry of the 
Economy for soft loans under the Angola Invest project.

The item “Prepaid expenses” includes deferred costs for rent and lease contracts, together with 
contracts for consulting projects with external entities. This item also includes deferred amounts paid 
for health, car, occupational accident, engineering risk and multi-risk insurance. 

On 31 December 2019, the balance of the item “Taxes recoverable” totalled 263,655,000 AOA for the 
Bank’s industrial tax receivable for an overpayment for provisional settlement in 2012.
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On 31 December 2018, the Bank reclassified its advance to the Libolo Athletic Recreational Club in the 
amount of 1,345,573,000 AOA to the item “Loans to customers”, since this transaction was converted 
into medium/long-term financing.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Corporate sector” included advances to suppliers and to 
staff.

16. RESOURCES OF CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER CREDIT
       INSTITUTIONS 
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Resources of other credit institutions

Banco Nacional de Angola 10 635 616 -

Payment system obligations 5 532 922 2 586 710

16 168 539 2 586 710

On 31 December 2019, the Bank performed security sale transactions to BNA with a repurchase 
agreement totalling 10,635,6116,000 AOA, for the purpose of obtaining short-term liquidity, paying 
an interest rate of 15% with a maturity of January 2020.

On 31 December 2019, the item “Payment system obligations” includes the amount of 5,532,922,000 
AOA for certified cheques pending submission for compensation, together with credit card usage. 
These balances were settled at the start of 2020.
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17. CUSTOMER RESOURCES AND OTHER LOANS
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Customer resources and other loans” had the following 
breakdown:

2019 2018

Resident demand deposits

In domestic currency

Companies 42 821 752 53 194 646

Individuals 13 380 168 11 278 925

In foreign currency

Companies 11 106 855 10 435 354

Individuals 3 659 189 2 102 194

Non-resident demand deposits

In domestic currency

Companies 192 869 835 028

Individuals 233 742 259 539

In foreign currency

Companies 35 303 22 593

Individuals 122 454 81 649

71 552 333 78 209 928

2019 2018

Resident term deposits

In domestic currency

Companies 6 679 445 11 399 567

Individuals 7 656 132 10 882 244

In foreign currency

Companies 5 610 107 707 622

Individuals 4 117 899 2 769 261

Non-resident term deposits

In domestic currency

Companies 11 824 2 730

Individuals 6 082 11 392

24 081 488 25 772 816

Indexed deposits 20 871 257 21 275 603

Interest payable 114 779 668 788

Total demand and term deposits 45 067 524 47 717 207

Resident loans 144 031 144 031

Non-resident loans 3 876 024 3 093 941

4 020 055 3 237 972

120 639 912 129 165 107

continuation



100

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

Customer demand deposits were not remunerated on 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Deposits indexed to USD correspond to a financial investment with capital indexed to the United 
States dollar (USD), safeguarding the deposit from the depreciation of domestic currency, with capital 
reimbursed at the revaluation amount at the exchange rate on the maturity date, plus interest.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, term deposits in foreign currency were remunerated at an average 
interest rate of 1.93% and 2.66%, respectively, while term deposits in domestic currency were 
remunerated at an average weighted interest rate of 8.86% and 9.71%, respectively.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Non-resident loans” corresponds to financing in the 
amount of 10,000,000 USD granted to Norsad Finance Limited, equivalent to 3,876,024,000 AOA and 
3,093,941,000 AOA, respectively. This loan was granted with a five-year term and a maturity of 22 
December 2022, and is remunerated at a variable interest rate indexed to the three-month Libor, plus 
an 8% spread. Interest is paid quarterly in arrears on 30 March, June, September and December of 
each year.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, customer term deposits had the following structure by currency and 
average interest rate:

2019 2018

Interest 
rate

Amount in 
currency

Amount in 
thousand 
kwanza

Interest 
rate

Amount in 
currency

Amount in 
thousand 
kwanza

In kwanza 8,86% 14 353 482 9,71% 22 964 721 22 964 721

Indexed to the United States Dollar 1,50% 20 986 036 1,50% - 21 275 603

In United States dollars (USD) 1,94% 15 619 7 532 048 1,96% 11 257 3 473 873

In Euros 2,06% 4 060 2 195 958 1,25% 9 3 010

45 067 524 47 717 207

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, “Term deposits” had the following distribution by residual maturities:

2019 2018

Term deposits

Up to 3 months 18 198 505 21 567 070

From 3 to 6 months 3 017 683 3 340 452

From 6 months to 1 year 8 347 845 834 083

From 1 to 5 years 15 503 492 21 975 595

More than 5 years - 7

45 067 524 47 717 207

Other loans 144 031 144 031

From 1 to 3 years 3 876 024 3 093 941

From 3 to 5 years 4 020 055 3 237 972

49 087 580 50 955 179



101

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

18. PROVISIONS AND IMPAIRMENT
The changes in the items “Provisions” and “Impairment” on 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as 
follows:

Balance 
31.12.2018

IFRS 9 
Transition 

Adjustments Credits Reversals Uses Transfers
Exchange 

differences
Balance

31.12.2019

Impairment for cash on hand at 
other credit institutions (Note 5)

16 511 - - 16 511

Impairment for investments at 
central banks and other credit 
institutions (Note 6)

29 868 - - 29 868

Impairment for investments at 
amortized cost (Note 9)

1 061 312 - - 1 061 312

Impairment for other assets 
(Note 15)

- 129 766 - - 129 766

Impairment for other assets net 
of reversals and write-offs

1 107 691 - 129 766 - - - - 1 237 457

Impairment for loans (Note 10) 22 177 998 15 856 409 (1 302 011) - - 36 732 396

Provisions for guarantees
(Note 30)

3 188 269 682 330 - - 3 870 599

Other provisions 244 509 - (191 295) - - 53 214

Impairment and provisions for 
loans to customers

25 610 776 - 16 538 739 (191 295) (1 302 011) - - 40 656 209

26 718 467 - 16 668 505 (191 295) (1 302 011) - - 41 893 666

Balance 
31.12.2017

IFRS 9 
Transition 

Adjustments Credits Reversals Uses Transfers
Exchange 

differences
Balance 

31.12.2018

Impairment for cash on hand at 
other credit institutions (Note 5)

- 14 468 2 043 - - - - 16 511

Impairment for investments at 
central banks and other credit 
institutions (Note 6)

- 111 663 - (81 795) - - - 29 868

Impairment for investments at 
amortized cost (Note 9)

- 842 108 219 204 - - - - 1 061 312

Impairment for other assets 
(Note 15)

96 672 - - - (96 672) - - -

Impairment for other assets net 
of reversals and write-offs

96 672 968 239 221 247 (81 795) (96 672) - - 1 107 691

Impairment for loans (Note 10) 11 861 585 - 13 619 931 - (3 303 518) - - 22 177 998

Provisions for guarantees
(Note 30)

1 583 739 - 1 604 530 - - - - 3 188 269

Other provisions 251 678 - - (7 169) - - - 244 509

Impairment and provisions for 
loans to customers

13 697 002 - 15 224 461 (7 169) (3 303 518) - - 25 610 776

13 793 674 968 239 15 445 708 (88 964) (3 400 190) - - 26 718 467

The balances of the items “Provisions for liabilities and other commitments” and “Provisions for 
general banking risks” are aimed at hedging duly identified contingencies arising from the Bank’s 
business, and are reviewed on each reporting date to reflect the best estimate of the amount and 
likelihood of payment.

The Bank is studying the possibility of providing a retirement supplement to its employees, and has an 
application in progress for a retirement pension plan.

The effective date of this liability and its amount remain unknown, by which there exists no 
corresponding legal or constructive obligation as of the approval date of these financial statements. 
For this reason, the Bank has chosen to derecognize the provision recorded in 2018.
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20. OTHER LIABILITIES
On 31 December 2018 and 2017, the item “Other liabilities” had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Resources tied to exchange transactions 3 269 032 1 560 790

Staff expenses 1 536 617 1 110 796

Suppliers 811 454 1 010 209

Obligations of a tax nature 306 875 162 806

Obligations of an administrative/commercial nature 49 314 25 806

Other liabilities 9 790 9 791

5 983 082 3 880 198

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balance of the item “Resources tied to exchange transactions” 
was 3,269,032,000 AOA and 1,560,790,000 AOA, respectively. This item includes amounts deposited 
by customers serving as collateral for settling import transactions, for the purposes of opening the 
respective documentary credit.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Staff expenses” includes a holiday bonus for the Bank’s 
employees in the amount of 241,658,000 AOA and 235,850,000 AOA, respectively. Pursuant to the 
General Labour Law, the amount of the holiday subsidy paid to employees in a particular year is a right 
acquired by them in the year immediately preceding. As a result, the Bank increased the holiday bonus 
for the year 2019, which was not settled until January 2020. This item also includes a provision for 
“Variable remuneration for performance” in the amount of 1,117,909,000 AOA and 707,598,000 AOA, 
respectively (Note 28). This variable remuneration will be settled in 2020 and 2019.
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21. EQUITY
O movimento nas rubricas de capital próprio nos exercícios findos em 31 de Dezembro de 2019 e de 
2018, detalha-se da seguinte forma:

Other reserves and retained earnings

Share capital Treasury shares
Reserve for adjustment

of equity Legal reserve Other reserves Retained earnings
Net profit/loss for 

the year Total Equity

Balance on 31 December 2016 (Pro-forma) 4 000 000 - - 1 946 888 6 093 477 (255 418) 2 435 368 14 220 315

Application of result from the year 2016 - 487 074 1 948 294 - (2 435 368) -

Establishment of reserves and funds - - - - - -

Net profit/loss for the year - - - - 2 075 515 2 075 515

Balances on 31 December 2017 - before IFRS 9 4 000 000 - - 2 433 962 8 041 771 (255 418) 2 075 515 16 295 830

Impairment from the implementation of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Note 3.4): - - - - - (14 468) - (14 468)

Cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 5) - - - - - (111 663) - (111 663)

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions (Note 6) - - - - - (842 108) - (842 108)

Investments at amortized cost (Note 9) - - - (968 239) - (968 239)

Balances on 01 January 2018 - after IFRS 9 4 000 000 - - 2 433 962 8 041 771 (1 223 657) 2 075 515 15 327 591

Application of result from the year 2017 - - - 415 103 1 660 412 - (2 075 515) -

Increase in share capital 6 000 000 - - - (6 000 000) - - -

Effects of accounting policy adjustments - - - - - 416 381 - 416 381

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 4 603 486 4 603 486

Balances on 31 December 2018 10 000 000 - - 2 849 065 3 702 183 (807 276) 4 603 486 20 347 458

Application of result from the year 2018 - - - 920 697 3 682 789 - (4 603 486) -

Effects of accounting policy adjustments - - - - - - - -

Adjustment of equity - - 14 052 706 (7 481 210) 6 571 496

Acquisitions of treasury shares (131 200) (131 200)

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 2 702 522 2 702 522

Balances on 31 December 2019 10 000 000 (131 200) 14 052 706 3 769 762 7 384 972 (8 288 486) 2 702 522 29 490 276
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Share Capital

To comply with the provisions of article 3 (1) of Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 02/2018 of 21 
February, the Bank approved, in its General Meeting of Shareholders dated 04 August 2018, a capital 
increase from 4,000,000,000 AOA to 10,000,000,000 AOA via incorporation of reserves.

The Bank used international standard IAS 29 - “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” 
for non-monetary items until 31/12/2018, having adopted the following assumptions as monetary 
conversion factors:

• To update the balances of accounting items, the consumer price index (“CPI”) of Luanda was 
considered as a monetary conversion factor.

• The CPIs available between January 2009 and June 2019, as published by Banco Nacional de Angola 
(BNA), were taken into account.

• For monetary updates prior to 31 December 2008, the value of the first index published by BNA 
(January 2009) was used; for this reason, impacts prior to this date have not been estimated.

• For the monetary updating of items in the Bank’s fixed asset registry, the monthly CPIs on the item’s 
acquisition date and the CPIs at the end of the year were used to update equity items (except for 
the capital increase in August 2018).

• As provided for in the standard, at the start of the first period of applying its requirements, equity 
components (except for retained earnings and any revaluation surplus) are re-expressed by applying 
a general price index as of the dates on which the components were established.

• Summary of items re-expressed and respective impacts by item:

a. Other tangible assets and intangible assets – 6,502,268,000.76 AOA.

b. Non-current assets held for sale – 69,226,000.91 AOA.

c. Share capital – 14,052,706,000.16 AOA.

d. Retained earnings – 7,481,210,000.49 AOA.

No new shares were issued, resulting in a nominal value of 2,000 AOA compared to 800 AOA in 2017.

Balances with related parties in the years 2019 and 2018 are shown in Note 31.

Shareholder structure 

%Tier % Accumulated holding No. of shareholders No. of shares held Amount

Below 2% 29,28% 28 1.463.910 2.928.000

From 2% to 5% 63,77% 21 3.188.511 6.377.000

Above 5% 6,95% 1 347.579 695.000

100% 50 5.000.000 10.000.000

Given the extensive size of Banco Keve’s shareholder structure on 31 December 2019, it is presented 
by tiers of holdings.

During the year ending 31 December 2019, the Bank’s shareholder structure underwent changes. 
Banco Keve, S.A., as permitted by law, acquired treasury shares in 2019 totalling 131,200,000.00 AOA, 
corresponding to 1.31% of share capital.

Other reserves and retained earnings

Legal reserve
Under prevailing legislation, the Bank must establish a legal reserve fund equal to the amount of 
its share capital. For this purpose, each year, a minimum of 10% of the previous year’s net profit is 
transferred to this reserve. This reserve can only be utilized to absorb accumulated losses once all the 
other reserves have been exhausted.

By unanimous decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders of 17 April 2019, the decision was 
made to transfer 20% of the 2019 net profit to the “Legal reserve” and 80% to “Other reserves”.
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22. FINANCIAL MARGIN
In the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Interest and similar income

Interest from loans to customers 6 892 391 6 479 407

Interest from treasury bonds indexed to USD 3 823 199 4 157 309

Interest from non-readjustable treasury bonds 1 512 166 963 876

Interest from investments at central banks and other credit institutions 308 503 145 572

Interest from treasury bills 228 769 814 754

12 765 028 12 560 918

Interest and similar charges

Interest from customer resources and other loans (2 332 452) (2 750 400)

Interest from resources of central banks and credit institutions (1 159 059) (756 678)

Interest from responsibilities represented by securities - (84 063)

(3 491 511) (3 591 141)

9 273 518 8 969 777

Presidential Legislative Decree no. 2/14 was published in the Official Gazette (Diário da República) dated 
20 October 2016, passing the revision and republication of the Capital Gains Tax (“IAC”) Code. According 
to this decree, in addition to interest, any other income from government debt securities (treasury bills 
and treasury bonds) and private debt securities (bonds and other debt securities from companies) is 
taxed and recorded under the item “Other operating income” (Note 27).

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Interest and similar income – loans to customers” includes 
the balance of interest received from credit transactions in the amount of 6,892,391,000 AOA and 
6,479,407,000 AOA, respectively.

With regard to the item “Interest and similar income – interest from treasury bonds indexed to the United 
States dollar (USD)”, the increase in the balance between the two periods is related to the exchange rate 
variation.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Interest and similar income – interest from non-readjustable 
treasury bonds” includes the balance of interest received from treasury bonds. On 31 December 2019, 
“Treasury bonds in domestic currency – non-readjustable” had a nominal value of 11,212,899,000 AOA 
(Note 9).

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Interest and similar income – customer resources and other 
loans” refers to remuneration paid by customer term deposits, together with interest associated with a 
loan in 2018 with Norsad Finance Limited (Note 17).

23. PROFITS AND CHARGES FROM SERVICES AND FEES
In the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Income from services and commissions

Commissions on exchange transactions 1 516 381 3 296 520

Commissions on banking services 579 101 1 933 441

Commissions on credit transactions 2 548 993 1 627 363

Commissions on securities transactions 85 183 75 495

Commissions on cards 53 671 46 052

Other income 806 002 -

5 589 332 6 978 871

Charges from services and commissions

Commissions for potential commitments or responsibilities (81 910) (200 145)

(81 910) (200 145)

5 507 422 6 778 726
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In the years 2019 and 2018, the item “Commissions on exchange transactions” corresponds to fees 
charged by the Bank in transactions for payment orders abroad, reflecting a change due to the 
exchange rate variation during the year 2019.

In the years 2019 and 2018, the item “Commissions on banking services” is primarily from income 
from fees related to amounts collected and electronic compensation. These fees are tied to the daily 
balances of electronic clearing houses, which are not settled until the next working day.

“Commissions on credit transactions” in the years 2019 and 2018 primarily correspond to fees charged 
for the opening of credit lines.

In the years 2019 and 2018, the item “Charges from services and commissions – commissions for 
potential commitments or responsibilities” includes fees related to guaranties received, fees for third-
party commitments, fees associated with banking services provided, and others.

24. RESULTS FROM INVESTMENTS AT AMORTIZED COST
       AND FROM INVESTMENTS HELD UNTIL MATURITY
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Results from investments at amortized cost and held 
until maturity” corresponds to gains from the disposal of treasury bonds.

25. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS
In the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Income Costs Total Income Costs Total

Exchange revaluation and results 
from exchange transactions

3 192 303 (1 253 154) 1 939 149 3 231 549 (459 078) 2 772 471

Revaluation of indexed financial 
instruments

22 937 534 (6 571 166) 16 366 368 29 803 371 (13 812 271) 15 991 100

26 129 837 (7 824 320) 18 305 517 33 034 920 (14 271 349) 18 763 571

The item “Exchange revaluation and results from exchange transactions” includes commissions 
received by the Bank in transactions to sell foreign currency to third parties. In accordance with 
Instruction no. 03/2014 of 03 April, financial institutions are authorized to practice effective exchange 
rates in each transaction for the sale of currency, i.e. the nominal exchange rate plus all fees and costs 
before taxes, up to a limit of 3% over the reference exchange rate for sale published by Banco Nacional 
de Angola.

The item “Revaluation of indexed financial instruments” includes income from exchange fluctuations 
in treasury bonds in domestic currency indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate (Note 9) and 
costs of customer deposits indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate (Note 17).

26. INCOME FROM THE DISPOSAL OF OTHER ASSETS
On 31 December 2018, this item totalled 998,122,000 AOA due to a gain from the Bank’s disposal of 
a property in 2019.



107

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

27. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Other operational income

Other operating income 272 755 470 117

Results from the disposal of investments in affiliates - -

Other operational costs

Results from the disposal of investments in affiliates - (18 369)

Direct and indirect taxes (649 561) (822 899)

Negotiation of credit (42 422) (311 850)

Fines and penalties from the regulatory authority (7 551) (187 569)

Other operating costs 0 (97 800)

(426 779) (968 370)

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the item “Other operating income” is primarily due to exchange 
income from daily transactions using VISA cards. The item “Other operating income” on 31 December 
2019.

The item “Other operating income – direct and indirect taxes” primarily corresponds to Capital Gains 
Tax (Note 3.5.9).

In the years 2019 and 2018, the item “Negotiation of credit” refers to costs resulting from the 
renegotiation of loans through debt pardoning.

On 31 December 2019, the balance of the item “Fines and penalties” was 7,551,000 AOA for the 
calculation of the industrial tax for the year 2013.

28. STAFF EXPENSES
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Wages and salaries

Remuneration 4 933 681 5 709 992

Variable remuneration for performance 1 117 909 707 598

Optional employer’s contributions 700 061 699 478

Mandatory employer’s contributions 462 023 305 545

Other costs 1 387 622 16 258

8 601 297 7 438 871

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the bank’s number of employees was 596 and 596, respectively.

This item also includes “Variable remuneration for performance” payable in 2020 for the year 2019, in 
the amount of 1,117,909,000 AOA. On 31 December 2018, this amount was 707,598,000 AOA (Note 20).

On 31 December 2019, the item “Optional employer’s contributions” includes costs associated with 
entertainment expenses, health insurance and clinical services.

The amount of staff costs, including permanent workers and those on fixed-term contracts, had the 
following breakdown by professional category:

2019 2018

Senior management positions 5 287 304 4 572 749

Managerial positions 1 654 221 1 430 661

Specific positions 1 389 771 1 201 950

Administrative and other positions 270 000 233 511

8 601 297 7 438 871
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29. THIRD-PARTY SUPPLIES AND SERVICES
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Communications 1 222 436 1 049 987

Transport security 572 444 903 148

Publicity and advertising 606 288 836 293

Security and surveillance 343 156 500 181

Rents and leases 621 135 481 206

Misc. supplies 474 204 473 463

Consulting 475 898 456 051

Computers 678 726 444 937

Security, maintenance and repairs 401 322 313 560

Transportation, travel and accommodations 160 646 212 488

Insurance 93 082 85 185

Water and power 33 207 32 313

Other specialized services 160 232 28 916

Notary public services - 25 582

Staff recruitment - 5 027

Cultural activity expenses - -

Training - -

Equipment transport security - -

Other costs 225 560 69 650

6 068 337 5 917 987

On 31 December 2019, the item “Communications” had a major year-over-year change due to higher 
supplier prices in rate schedules associated with the Bank’s payment terminals.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the balance of the item “Other costs” includes expenses for payment 
transactions abroad, machinery maintenance and other expenses involving the maintenance of office 
materials.

30. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ITEMS
On 31 December 2019 and 2018, this item had the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Guarantees and other potential liabilities

Guarantees and sureties provided 10 055 519 7 513 791

Documentary credit for importing 34 006 410 30 890 338

44 061 929 38 404 129

Third-party commitments

Irrevocable credit lines 248 143 185 807

Responsibilities for service provision

Deposit and custody of assets 8 691 740 5 810 887

53 001 812 44 400 823

Guarantees and sureties provided are banking transactions which do not entail the mobilization of 
funds by the Bank, and are related to guarantees provided to support import transactions and to 
execute contractual agreements by the Bank’s customers. Guarantees provided represent amounts 
that may be enforceable in the future.

Open documentary credits are irrevocable commitments by the Bank on behalf of its customers to 
pay/order the payment of a given amount to a supplier of a good or service, within a stipulated time 
period, against the submission of documents for the merchandise’s shipment or service’s provision. 
Their irrevocable nature is due to the fact that they cannot be cancelled or changed without the 
express agreement of all parties involved.
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The major increase in item “Documentary credit for importing” is due to the entry into force of Banco 
Nacional de Angola Instruction no. 09/2018 of July 2018, which sets limits for the performance of 
merchandise exchange transactions in order to control the country’s indebtedness in foreign currency.

Notwithstanding the particularities of these contingent liabilities and commitments, the assessment 
of these transactions obeys the same basic principles of any other commercial transaction, namely 
that of solvency, whether of the customer or the underlying business, with the Bank requiring these 
transactions to be duly collateralized when necessary.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, provisions established for liabilities for guarantees provided and 
documentary credit for importing totalled 3,870,599,000 AOA and 3,188,269,000 AOA, respectively 
(Note 18).

Liabilities for the provision of services involving the “Deposit and custody of assets” involve third-party 
securities deposited at the Bank.

31. RELATED PARTIES
In accordance with IAS 24, the following are considered related parties to the Bank:

• Those having significant direct or indirect influence on the Bank’s financial policy and management 
– shareholders;

• Key members of the Bank’s management, including executive and non-executive members of the 
Board of Directors for this purpose;

• Companies where members of the Board of Directors have significant influence.

The total amount of off-balance-sheet assets, liabilities and responsibilities on 31 December 2019 in 
relation to shareholders, corporate board members, associated companies and collective undertakings 
where shareholders and corporate board members have significant influence had the following 
breakdown:

Shareholders

Members of 
the Board of 

Directors

Companies where members of the 
Board of Directors have significant 

influence
Total 

31-12-2019

Assets

Credit 31 403 393 127 34 830 771 35 255 300

31 403 393 127 34 830 771 35 255 300

Liabilities

Demand deposits (587 172) (199 938) (277 116) (1 064 227)

Term deposits (739 672) (280 854) (280 640) (1 301 165)

(1 326 844) (480 792) (557 756) (2 365 392)

Results

Interest and similar income 1 304 1 714 4 570 426 4 573 443

Interest and similar charges (8 776) (8 261) (760 580) (777 617)

(7 472) (6 547) 3 809 846 3 795 826

Off-balance sheet

Bank guarantees - - 8 562 073 8 562 073
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Shareholders

Members of 
the Board of 

Directors

Companies where members of the 
Board of Directors have significant 

influence
Total 

31-12-2018

Assets

Credit 204 049 338 641 28 580 652 29 123 342

204 049 338 641 28 580 652 29 123 342

Liabilities

Demand deposits (574 423) (97 318) (537 295) (1 209 036)

Term deposits (947 097) (193 171) (9 251) (1 149 519)

(1 521 520) (290 489) (546 546) (2 358 555)

Results

Interest and similar income 2 603 - 996 151 998 754

Interest and similar charges (21 005) - (167) (21 172)

(18 402) - 995 984 977 582

Off-balance sheet

Bank guarantees - - 3 925 634 3 925 634

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank had loans with related parties totalling 35,255,300,000 
AOA and 29,123,342,000 AOA, respectively, together with documentary credit for importing and 
guarantees provided whose balances totalled 8,562,073,000 AOA and 3,925,634,000 AOA, respectively.
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32. BALANCE SHEET BY CURRENCY

2019 2018

Moeda nacional Indexado a moeda estrangeira Moeda estrangeira Total Moeda nacional Indexado a moeda estrangeira Moeda estrangeira Total

ACTIVO

Caixa e disponibilidades em bancos centrais 19 322 669 16 760 253 - 2 562 416 19 322 669 15 540 675 - 1 431 700 16 972 375

Disponibilidades em outras instituições de crédito 11 998 808 1 507 105 - 10 491 703 11 998 808 1 682 935 - 8 930 352 10 613 287

Aplicações em bancos centrais e em outras instituições de crédito 6 122 650 1 715 099 - 4 407 551 6 122 650 1 500 645 - 4 546 464 6 047 109

Activos financeiros ao justo valor através de resultados - - - - - - - - -

Activos financeiros disponíveis para venda - - - - - - - - -

Activos financeiros ao justo valor através de outro rendimento integral 96 195 96 195 - (0) 96 195 96 195 - - 96 195

Investimentos detidos até à maturidade - - - - - - - - -

Activos financeiros ao custo amortizado 68 034 889 64 053 726 52 386 073 (48 404 910) 68 034 889 14 605 770 49 120 357 - 63 726 127

Crédito a Clientes 51 285 052 44 025 568 - 7 259 484 51 285 052 47 073 678 - 2 612 888 49 686 566

Activos não correntes detidos para venda - - - - - 60 539 - - 60 539

Outros activos tangíveis 16 292 426 16 292 447 - (21) 16 292 426 9 680 037 - - 9 680 037

Activos intangíveis 424 304 424 304 - (0) 424 304 167 049 - - 167 049

Outros activos 2 628 628 2 456 606 - 172 022 2 628 628 2 282 148 - 110 408 2 392 556

Total do Activo 147 331 303 52 386 073 (23 511 756) 176 205 622 92 689 671 49 120 357 17 631 812 159 441 840

PASSIVO

Recursos de bancos centrais e de outras instituições de crédito 16 168 539 16 065 412 - 103 127 16 168 539 2 560 910 - 25 800 2 586 710

Recursos de Clientes e outros empréstimos 120 639 912 71 126 042 20 986 036 28 527 834 120 639 912 91 770 831 21 275 603 16 118 673 129 165 107

Provisões 3 923 814 3 441 214 - 482 600 3 923 814 3 432 778 - - 3 432 778

Passivos por impostos correntes 125 113 125 113 - 0 125 113 29 589 - - 29 589

Passivos subordinados - - - - - - - - -

Outros passivos 5 857 969 5 853 429 - 4 540 5 857 969 3 880 198 - - 3 880 198

Total do Passivo 96 611 209 20 986 036 29 118 102 146 715 347 101 674 306 21 275 603 16 144 473 139 094 382

Activo/(Passivo) Líquido 50 720 094 31 400 038 (52 629 857) 29 490 275 (8 984 635) 27 844 754 1 487 339 20 347 458
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33.RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management is a cornerstone of the Bank’s business, in line with corporate policy in effect. The 
risk management function is supported by a set of principles, strategies, policies, systems, processes, 
rules and procedures aimed at ensuring that the Bank’s medium and long-term business performance 
is efficient and profitable through the effective use of assets and resources, proper management 
of the controls and risks associated with the business, and preventive and protective mechanisms 
against fraud and error, with a view to ensuring business continuity.

The Bank’s risk management revolves around constantly identifying and analysing exposure to different 
risks (credit, market, liquidity, operational and other risks), and executing strategies to leverage results 
vis-à-vis the risks to which it is exposed, bearing in mind pre-established, duly supervised restrictions.

Based on the Bank’s business, the risks considered materially relevant – and thus having greater efforts 
in terms of their identification, oversight, evaluation, monitoring and control – are as follows:

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk;

• Market risk;

• Interest rate risk;

• Foreign exchange risk;

• Operational risk.

33.1. CREDIT RISK
Credit risk entails the risk of default by counterparties with which the Bank has open positions in 
financial instruments as a creditor. The Bank is equipped with a sound credit risk management 
structure, covering all phases of the process, from proposal approval to loan settlement, including 
monitoring and recovery.

• Banco Nacional de Angola establishes legislation on levels of regulatory equity to maintain proper 
levels of exposure to credit risk, namely:

• Notice no. 02/2016 of 28 April: establishes regulatory equity requirements for credit risk and 
counterparty credit risk;

• IInstruction no. 12/2016 of 08 August: determines the calculation method and regulatory equity 
requirements for credit risk and counterparty credit risk;

• Instruction no. 13/2016 of 08 August: determines the provision of information on regulatory equity 
requirements for credit risk and counterparty credit risk.

The Bank classifies credit transactions by increasing degree of risk, in accordance with the risk levels 
referred to in Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 11/2014 of 10 December, as follows:

Level Risk

A Minimal risk

B Very low risk

C Low risk

D Moderate risk

E High risk

F Very high risk

G Maximum risk

The individual classification of the risk position considers the characteristics and risks of the transaction 
and the borrower, initially classified based on the following criteria employed by the Bank.

Transactions with the following characteristics are classified in risk level A:

i. Exposures assumed by the Angolan State, including its central and provincial administrations;

ii. Assumed by central banks or administrations of countries published by Banco Nacional de Angola 
(Instruction no. 01/2015 of 14 January), recording a lower level of risk;

iii. Exposures completely guaranteed by cash deposits established or issued by the Bank;

iv. Exposures completely guaranteed by securities or bonds issued by the Angolan State or Banco 
Nacional de Angola.

The remaining transactions not meeting the requirements for classification in risk level A, when not 
resulting from prior default, are classified in risk level B. 



113

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

Risk levels should be reviewed in the event of default, based on:

Level Risk

B Delay of more than 30 days and less than or equal to 60 days

C Delay of more than 30 days and less than or equal to 60 days

D Delay of more than 60 days and less than or equal to 90 days

E Delay of more than 90 days and less than or equal to 150 days

F Delay of more than 150 days and less than or equal to 180 days

G Delay exceeding 180 days

When a customer has several transactions classified at different risk levels, the final classification will 
be based on the most serious degree of risk.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maximum exposure to credit risk by financial instrument had 
the following breakdown:

2019 2018

Gross book 
value Impairment

Net book 
value

Gross book 
value Impairment

Net book 
value

Asset

Cash and cash on hand at central banks (Note 4) 19 322 669 0 19 322 669 16 972 375 0 16 972 375

Cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 5) 12 015 319 (16 511) 11 998 808 10 629 798 -16 511 10 613 287

Investments at central banks and other credit institu-
tions (Note 6)

6 152 517 (29 868) 6 122 650 6 076 977 -29 868 6 047 109

Financial assets at fair value through results (Note 7) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Financial assets available for sale (Note 8)

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 8)

96 195 0 96 195 96 195 0 96 195

Investments held until maturity (Note 9)

Financial investments at amortized cost (Note 9) 69 096 201 (1 061 312) 68 034 889 64 787 439 -1 061 312 63 726 127

Customer loans (Note 10) 88 017 448
(36 732 

396)
51 285 052 71 864 564 -22 177 998 49 686 566

Other assets (Note 15) 2 758 394 (129 766) 2 628 628 2 392 556 0 2 392 556

197 458 744 -37 840 086 159 488 891 172 819 904 -23 285 689 149 534 215

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties provided (Note 30) 10 055 519 -520 624 6 852 577 7 513 791 -661 214 6 852 577

Open documentary credit (Note 30) 34 006 410 -3 349 975 28 363 282 30 890 338 -2 527 056 28 363 282

44 061 929 -3 870 599 35 215 859 38 404 129 -3 188 270 35 215 859
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The creditworthiness of financial assets had the following breakdown on 31 December 2019 and 
2018:

2019

Origin of 
rating

Rating
level

Gross
exposure Impairment

Net
exposure

Cash and cash on hand at central banks
Internal 

rating None(A) 19 322 669 - 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions
Internal 

rating Low (C) 12 015 319 (16 511) 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions

Internal 
rating Low (C) 6 152 517 (29 868) 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Rating 
interno None (A) 96 195 - 96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost
Internal 

rating None (A) 69 096 201 (1 061 312) 68 034 889

Loans to customers
Internal 

rating None (A) 43 126 529 - 43 126 529

Very low (B) 40 215 (17 149) 23 066

Low (C) 600 143 (126 421) 473 722

Moderate (D) 11 088 524 (9 192 227) 1 896 297

High (E) 3 978 706 (1 358 907) 2 619 799

Very high (F) 20 104 160 (19 703 323) 400 837

Loss (G) 9 079 172 (6 334 368) 2 744 804

Other assets
Internal 

rating None (A) 2 758 394 (129 766) 2 628 628

197 458 745 (37 969 852) 159 488 892

2018

Origin of 
rating

Rating
level

Gross
exposure Impairment

Net
exposure

Cash and cash on hand at central banks
Internal 

rating None(A) 16 972 375 - 16 972 375

Cash on hand at other credit institutions
Internal 

rating Low (C) 10 629 798 (16 511) 10 613 287

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions

Internal 
rating Low (C) 6 076 977 (29 868) 6 047 109

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Rating 
interno None (A) 96 195 - 96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost
Internal 

rating None (A) 64 787 439 (1 061 312) 63 726 127

Loans to customers
Internal 

rating None (A) 852 203 - 852 203

Very low (B) 25 024 557 (1 538 364) 23 486 193

Low (C) 7 212 764 (697 431) 6 515 333

Moderate (D) 2 251 868 (376 984) 1 874 884

High (E) 104 475 (38 294) 66 181

Very high (F) 774 034 (108 020) 666 014

Loss (G) 35 644 663 (19 418 905) 16 225 758

Other assets
Internal 

rating None (A) 2 392 556 - 2 392 556

172 819 904 (23 285 689) 149 534 215
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On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the geographic concentration of exposure to credit risk had the 
following breakdown:

2019

Geographic region

Angola
Other African 

countries Europe Other Total

Asset

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 
(Note 4)

19 322 669 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

500 794 556 480 10 941 533 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

1 744 967 4 377 683 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 8)

96 195 96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost 
(Note 9)

68 034 889 68 034 889

Customer loans (Note 10) 51 285 052 51 285 052

Other assets (Note 15) 2 628 628 2 628 628

143 613 195 556 480 15 319 216 0 159 488 891

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties provided (Note 30) 10 055 519 10 055 519

Open documentary credit (Note 30) 34 006 410 34 006 410

44 061 929 0 0 0 44 061 929

Total 187 675 124 556 480 15 319 216 0 203 550 820

2018

Geographic region

Angola
Other African 

countries Europe Other Total

Asset

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 
(Note 4)

16 972 375    16 972 375

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

238 448 101 453 10 273 386  10 613 287

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

1 500 000  4 547 109  6 047 109

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 7)

96 195    96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost 
(Note 8)

63 726 127    63 726 127

Customer loans (Note 10) 49 686 566    49 686 566

Other assets (Note 15) 2 392 556    2 392 556

134 612 267 101 453 14 820 495 0 149 534 215

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties provided (Note 30) 6 852 577    

Open documentary credit (Note 30) 28 363 282    

35 215 859 0 0  0 0

Total 169 828 126 101 453 14 820 495  0 149 534 215
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The Bank deployed new software in 2018 to calculate impairment. However, it was still in the testing 
phase as of 31 December 2018, causing some deficiencies. As such, it was not possible to disclose a set 
of information required by Instruction no. 05/2016 of 08 August, published by Banco Nacional de Angola, 
namely:

• Table XX – Composition of loans to customers

• Table XXI – Composition of overdue loans without impairment;

• Table XXII– Composition of overdue loans with impairment;

• Table XXIII – Restructured credit;

• Table XXIV – Guarantees or other collateral executed under credit transactions.

33.2. LIQUIDITY RISK
The Bank is in charge of controlling and reporting on liquidity risk pursuant to Instruction no. 19/2016 
of 08 August and Instruction no. 26/2016 of 16 November, both published by Banco Nacional de 
Angola, entitled “Liquidity Risk” and “Liquidity Risk Governance”, respectively.

Liquidity risk reflects the Bank’s potential inability to meet its obligations, including those arising from 
binding guarantees, without affecting its daily operations or incurring significant losses.

To monetize surplus liquidity, the Bank makes investments with maturities of up to 12 months for 
its own portfolio, supplementing investments in the interbank money market, which contribute 
positively towards the Bank’s financial margin. These include investments in treasury bills and the 
acquisition of repurchase agreements (“repos”).
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Contractual cash flows in relation to capital had the following breakdown on 31 December 2019 and 
2018:

2019

Residual contractual terms

Cash Up to 1 month
From 1 to 
3 months

From 3 to
6 months

From 6 months 
to 1 year

From 1 to
3 years

From 3 to
5 years

More than
5 years Undetermined Total

Assets

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 19 322 669 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 12 015 319 12 015 319

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions 1 744 967 4 407 550 6 152 517

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 96 195 96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost 517 488 27 586 574 28 769 974 12 222 165 69 096 201

Loans to customers 1 903 410 5 334 774 2 244 371 551 452 49 186 065 2 837 785 374 844 25 584 747 88 017 448

Other assets 2 758 394 2 758 394

31 337 988 3 648 377 9 742 324 2 244 371 1 068 940 76 772 639 31 607 759 12 597 010 28 439 336 197 458 744

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit institutions (5 532 922) (10 635 616) (16 168 539)

Customer resources and other loans (71 552 332) (18 198 505) (3 017 683) (8 347 845) (144 031) (3 876 024) (15 503 492) (120 639 912)

(77 085 255) - (28 834 121) (3 017 683) (8 347 845) (144 031) (3 876 024) (15 503 492) - (136 808 451)

Liquidity gap (45 747 267) 3 648 377 (19 091 797) (773 312) (7 278 905) 76 628 608 27 731 735 (2 906 482) 28 439 336 60 650 293

Accumulated liquidity gap (45 747 267) (42 098 890) (61 190 686) (61 963 998) (69 242 903) 7 385 704 35 117 439 32 210 957 60 650 293 60 650 293
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33.3. MARKET RISK
Market risk is defined as the possibility of incurring financial losses from unexpected changes in the 
market values of exposures. These financial losses may be incurred by the impact of interest rate 
variations, exchange rate parities and the prices of shares and commodities. Market risk can be broken 
down into interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.

33.3.1. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is defined as the likelihood of negative impacts on the Bank’s results or capital due to 
adverse changes in interest rates.

Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 08/2016 of 22 June defines analytical and reporting requirements 
in relation to interest rate risk.

2018

Residual contractual terms

Cash Up to 1 month
From 1 to 
3 months

From 3 to
6 months

From 6 months 
to 1 year

From 1 to
3 years

From 3 to
5 years

More than
5 years Undetermined Total

Assets 

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 16 972 375         16 972 375

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 10 629 798         10 629 798

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions  3 201 696  2 875 281      6 076 977

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income         96 195 96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost   2 748 630 6 299 841 7 841 226 42 654 187 3 225 087 816 074  63 585 045

Loans to customers  1 554 098 4 355 741 1 832 486 450 250 40 159 482 2 316 997 306 053 20 889 457 71 864 564

Other assets         2 392 556 2 392 556

27 602 173 4 755 794 7 104 371 11 007 608 8 291 476 82 813 669 5 542 084 1 122 127 23 378 208 171 617 510

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit institutions (2 262 665)  (324 045)       (2 586 710)

Customer resources and other loans (78 209 928) (16 159 815) (15 476 644) (12 522 387) (6 744 769) (42 523) (7 068) (1 973)  (129 165 107)

(80 472 593) (16 159 815) (15 800 689) (12 522 387) (6 744 769) (42 523) (7 068) (1 973)  (131 751 817)

Liquidity gap (52 870 420) (11 404 021) (8 696 318) (1 514 779) 1 546 707 82 771 146 5 535 016 1 120 154 23 378 208 39 865 693

Accumulated liquidity gap (52 870 420) (64 274 441) (72 970 759) (74 485 538) (72 938 831) 9 832 315 15 367 331 16 487 485 39 865 693 39 865 693



119

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the detail of financial instruments by exposure to interest rate risk 
had the following breakdown:

2019

Exposure

Fixed
rate

Variable
rate

Not subject 
to interest 

rate risk Derivatives Total

Assets

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 19 322 669 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 11 998 808 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other credit 
institutions

6 122 650 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

96 195 96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost 68 034 889 68 034 889

Other assets 2 628 628 2 628 628

74 253 734 0 33 950 105 0 108 203 839

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions

(16 168 539) 0 (16 168 539)

Customer resources and other loans (47 804 116) (1 283 464) (71 552 333) 0 (120 639 912)

(47 804 116) (1 283 464) (87 720 872) - (136 808 451)

26 449 618 (1 283 464) (53 770 766) - (28 604 612)

2018

Exposure

Fixed
rate

Variable
rate

Not subject 
to interest 

rate risk Derivatives Total

Assets

Cash and cash on hand at central banks   16 972 375  16 972 375

Cash on hand at other credit institutions   10 613 287  10 613 287

Investments at central banks and other credit 
institutions

6 047 109     6 047 109

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

96 195    96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost 63 726 127    63 726 127

Other assets   2 392 556  2 392 556

69 869 431 0 29 978 218 0 99 847 649

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions

  (2 586 710)  0 (2 586 710)

Customer resources and other loans (49 622 884) (1 332 295) (78 209 928) 0 (129 165 107)

(49 622 884) (1 332 295) (80 796 638) - (131 751 817)

20 246 547 (1 332 295) (50 818 420) - (31 904 168)
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The detail of financial instruments with an exposure to interest rate risk according to the maturity or 
re-setting date on 31 December 2019 and 2018 had the following breakdown:

2019

Reset dates/Maturity dates

Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 months From 3 to 6 months From 6 months to 1 year From 1 to 3 years From 3 to 5 years More than 5 years Undetermined Total

Assets

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions 6 122 650 6 122 650

Financial investments at amortized cost 517 488 26 525 262 28 769 974 12 222 165 68 034 889

Loans to Customers 1 604 096 4 495 871 1 891 440 464 735 38 171 230 2 391 538 315 899 1 950 243 51 285 052

1 604 096 10 618 521 1 891 440 982 223 64 696 492 31 161 512 12 538 065 1 950 243 125 442 591

Liabilities

Customer resources and other loans (8 173 206) (10 141 703) (3 217 576) (803 402) (4 630 253) (16 730 936) (5 383 503) - (49 087 580)

(8 173 206) (10 141 703) (3 217 576) (803 402) (4 630 253) (16 730 936) (5 383 503) - (49 087 580)

Net Exposure (9 777 302) (20 760 224) (5 109 016) (1 785 625) (69 326 745) (47 892 448) (17 921 567) (1 950 243) (174 530 171)

2018

Reset dates/Maturity dates

Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 months From 3 to 6 months From 6 months to 1 year From 1 to 3 years From 3 to 5 years More than 5 years Undetermined Total

Assets

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions 3 200 065 2 115 284 731 760 6 047 109

Financial investments at amortized cost 2 889 752 6 299 841 7 841 226 42 654 187 3 225 087 816 074 63 726 167

Loans to Customers 1 554 098 4 355 741 1 832 486 450 250 36 981 484 2 316 997 306 053 1 889 457 49 686 566

1 554 098 10 445 558 8 132 327 10 406 760 80 367 431 5 542 084 1 122 127 1 889 457 119 459 842

Liabilities

Customer resources and other loans (8 485 332) (10 529 003) (3 340 452) (834 083) (4 807 077) (17 369 872) (5 589 360) - (50 962 179)

(8 485 332) (10 529 003) (3 340 452) (834 083) (4 807 077) (17 369 872) (5 589 360) - (50 962 179)

Net Exposure (10 039 430) (20 974 561) (11 472 779) (11 240 843) (85 174 508) (22 911 956) (6 711 487) (1 889 457) (170 422 021)



121

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, a sensitivity analysis of results generated by financial instruments to 
interest rate changes had the following breakdown:

2018

Change in interest rates

-200 bp1 -100 bp1 -50 bp1 +50 bp1 +100 bp1 +200 bp1

Assets

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions

(74 036) (37 018) (18 509) 18 509 37 018 74 036

Investments at amortized cost (235 348) (117 674) (58 837) 58 837 117 674 235 348

Loans to customers (280 287) (140 143) (70 072) 70 072 140 143 280 287

(589 670) (294 835) (147 418) 147 418 294 835 589 670

Liabilities

Customer resources and other loans 119 105 59 552 29 776 (29 776) (59 552) (119 105)

Subordinated liabilities - - - - - -

119 105 59 552 29 776 (29 776) (59 552) (119 105)

Net Impact (470 566) (235 283) (117 641) 117 641 235 283 470 566

1 One bp (“basis point”) corresponds to 0.01 percentage points.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, a sensitivity analysis of results for the item “Loans to customers” 
for interest rate variations was done based on the average rates of customer credit transactions, as 
disclosed in Note 10.

33.3.2. Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk can be defined as risk originating from changes in exchange rates resulting from 
exchange positions from financial instruments denominated in other currencies.

The Bank analyses and controls risks based on Banco Nacional de Angola Instruction no. 02/2017 of 
30 January, together with limits to exchange exposure based on Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 
06/2018 of 02 August.

On 31 December 2019 and 2018, the detail of financial instruments by currency had the following 
breakdown:

2019

Kwanza
United States 

dollars Euros
Other 

currencies Total

Assets

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 
(Note 4)

16 760 139 2 327 437 230 395 4 699 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

1 795 658 3 207 532 6 937 866 57 753 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

1 715 099 3 565 270 842 281 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 8)

96 195 - - - 96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost 
(Note 9)

64 053 726 3 981 163 - 68 034 889

Customer loans (Note 10) 44 025 568 6 870 162 389 322 51 285 052

Other assets (Note 15) 2 456 606 166 427 5 595 - 2 628 628

130 902 991 20 117 991 8 405 458 62 452 159 488 892

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions (Note 16)

16 065 412 - 103 127 - 16 168 539

Customer resources and other loans
(Note 17)

92 112 078 26 414 205 2 109 124 4 505 120 639 911

108 177 490 26 414 205 2 212 251 4 505 136 808 451

239 080 480 46 532 196 10 617 709 66 957 296 297 343
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2018

Kwanza
United States 

dollars Euros
Other 

currencies Total

Assets

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 
(Note 4)

15 540 675 1 397 014 34 686 16 972 375

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

1 682 935 6 508 447 2 421 905 10 613 287

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

1 500 645 2 202 040 2 344 424 6 047 109

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 8)

96 195 96 195

Financial investments at amortized cost 
(Note 9)

14 605 770 49 120 357 63 726 127

Customer loans (Note 10) 47 073 678 1 939 498 673 390 49 686 566

Other assets (Note 15) 2 282 148 110 408 2 392 556

82 782 046 61 167 356 5 584 813 - 149 534 215

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions (Note 16)

(1 763 017) (797 893) (25 800) (2 586 710)

Customer resources and other loans
(Note 17)

(91 770 831) (21 275 603) (16 118 673) (129 165 107)

(93 533 848) (22 073 496) (16 144 473) - (131 751 817)

(10 751 802) 39 093 860 (10 559 660) - 17 782 398

In the table detailing financial instruments by currency, the amounts shown in the column “United 
States dollars” include transactions indexed to USD.

The sensitivity analysis of the asset value of the financial instruments to variations in exchange rates, 
on 31 December 2019 and 2018, had the following breakdown:

2019

-20% -10% -5% +5% +10% +20%

Currency

United States dollars (9 273 154) (4 636 577) (2 318 288) 2 318 288 4 636 577 9 273 154

Euro (2 122 423) (1 061 211) (530 606) 530 606 1 061 211 2 122 423

Other currencies (13 391) (6 696) (3 348) 3 348 6 696 13 391

Total (11 408 968) (5 704 484) (2 852 242) 2 852 242 5 704 484 11 408 968

2018

-20% -10% -5% +5% +10% +20%

Currency

United States dollars (6 415 868) (3 207 934) (1 603 967) 1 603 967 3 207 934 6 415 868

Euro (1 654 095) (827 047) (413 524) 413 524 827 047 1 654 095

Other currencies (1 877) (939) (469) 469 939 1 877

Total (8 071 840) (4 035 920) (2 017 960) 2 017 960 4 035 920 8 071 840

According to IFRS 8 – Operating Segments, companies must disclose information allowing users of 
financial statements to assess the nature and financial effects of the business activities in which they 
are involved, along with the economic environments in which they operate.

The Bank’s business is limited to Angola, with a relatively simple business structure aimed primarily 
at customer resources which it uses, together with its own resources, to make investments at Banco 
Nacional de Angola and other credit institutions. In view of the limited complexity of the Bank’s 
business, the Board of Directors believes that the presentation of the financial statements by just one 
business segment and for one country (Angola) offers no added value in its interpretation.

34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There are no subsequent events requiring disclosure.
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BENGUELA

BENGUELA BRANCH Rua Aires de Almeida Santos, n.º 75

LOBITO BRANCH Zona Comercial - Av. 25 de Abril, n.º 73/75/77

LOBITO SECIL BRANCH Bairro Lobito Velho - Lobito Instalações da Secil Cimentos

LOBITO CATUMBELA BRANCH Rua da Fábrica Velha, Antiga Açucareira Catumbela

LOBITO RESTINGA BRANCH Avenida de Moçambique, n.º 99

CABINDA

CABINDA BRANCH Av. Comendador Henrique Serrano

MASSABI BRANCH Instalações do Posto Fronteiriço de Massabi

CUANDO CUBANGO

MENONGUE BRANCH Rua 1º de Maio

CUANGAR BRANCH Cuangar-Cuando Cubango

CUNENE

SANTA CLARA BRANCH Estrada Principal de Santa Clara, Edifício do Posto Aduaneiro

BROMANGOL SANTA CLARA BRANCH 
Estrada Principal de Santa Clara, Edifício da Bromangol Santa 
Clara

HUAMBO

HUAMBO BRANCH Rua Traseiro Lopes Cidade Baixa

HUAMBO NOCEBO BRANCH Zona Industrial do Huambo Bairro da Chiva

KWANZA SUL

SUMBE BRANCH Av. Joaquim Kapango, n.º Y- 43 - Sumbe

WACO KUNGO BRANCH Rua 4 de Fevereiro

CALULO BRANCH Rua 11 de Novembro, R/C

PORTO - AMBOIM BRANCH 
Rua Viriato da Cruz - Complexo Industrial da PESKWANZA - EP, 
Lote N/D, R/C

PORTO - AMBOIM CUSTOMS BRANCH Porto Amboim

SELES BRANCH Rua Lar 2 dos Estudantes

LUANDA

RAINHA GINGA BRANCH Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

MACULUSSO BRANCH Rua Joaquim Kapango, 32

NOCAL BRANCH Bairro Hoji Ya Henda - Instalações da Nocal

NOVA CIMANGOLA BRANCH Bairro Kikolo - Instalações da Fábrica da Nova Cimangola

CUCA BRANCH Bairro Cazenga - Rua N’gola kiluanje Instalações da Cuca

TALATONA II BRANCH Bairro Benfica Estrada Direita do Futungo, S/N

PORTO DE LUANDA BRANCH Bairro Boavista, Av. 4 de Fevereiro, Instalações do Porto de Luanda

AEROPORTO BRANCH 
Av. 21 de Janeiro / Aeroporto Internacional 4 de Fevereiro Termi-
nal de carga aéreo

PORTO SECO BRANCH Instalações Porto Seco Viana

SOVINHOS BRANCH Instalações Seis Líquidos/Sovinhos Viana

CACUACO  BRANCH Rua do Mutobe, Instalações da Vidrul

SERPA PINTO BRANCH Largo Serpa Pinto - Rua Amílcar Cabral, n.º 4A

NOVA VIDA BRANCH Rua 55/ 60, Projecto Nova Vida

NOVA VIDA II BRANCH Rua 53 Projecto Nova Vida, Município de Belas-Luanda

CORREIOS DE ANGOLA BRANCH Rua do 1º Congresso do MPLA

AEROPORTO 4 DE FEVEREIRO ARRIVALS BRANCH Av. 21 de Janeiro / Terminal de Passageiros

MAJOR KANHANGULO BRANCH Rua Major Kanhangulo, n.º 61 B

KILAMBA KIAXE BRANCH Nova Cidade do Kilama Kiaxe

GIKA BRANCH Av. Ho Chi Min, Edifício Garden Towers-Torre B, 11º Andar

UNIVERSIDADE METODISTA BRANCH Rua Nossa Senhora da Muxima, Bairro Ingombotas

ISPAJ UNIVERSITY BRANCH Projecto Nova Vida
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LUANDA (continuation)

RAINHA GINGA BUISNESS CENTER BRANCH Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

PATRIOTA BUISNESS CENTER BRANCH  Rua do Patriota, S/N Município de Belas

TALATONA II BUISNESS CENTER BRANCH Rua Pedro de Castro Van-Dúnem Loy, Município de Belas

VIANA COMETA BUISNESS CENTER BRANCH Estrada de Catete, Município de Viana

ROYAL PARK BUISNESS CENTER BRANCH Rua Pedro de Castro Van-Dúnem Loy, Município de Belas

PRIVATE BANKING DEPARTEMENT Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

PATRIOTA BRANCH Rua do Patriota, S/N Município de Belas

VIANA COMETA BRANCH Estrada de Catete, S/N Município de Viana

LUANDA SHOPPING BRANCH Avenida Cmd Gika, Município de Luanda

SONANGALP KM 32 BRANCH Estrada de Catete S/N Km 32, Município de Viana

CAMAMA MULTICENTER BRANCH Estrada Principal de Camama, Município de Belas

CAMAMA ISPEKA BRANCH
Município de Belas, Distrito de Camama, Estrada Principal de 
Camama

CAMPUS UNIVERSITÁRIOS BRANCH Rua Direita do Camama, Instalações do Campus Universitários

LUBANGO

LUBANGO BRANCH Rua 1º de Agosto, n.º 26 - Bairro Comercial

LUBANGO CUSTOMS BRANCH Rua Engº. Torres

MALANGE

MALANGE BRANCH Rua Comandante Dangereux, Prédio Che-Guevara R/C Malange

NAMIBE

NAMIBE CUSTOMS BRANCH Rua Ekuikui II

NAMIBE BRANCH Rua da Praia do Bomfim

SOYO

SOYO BASE DO KWANDA BRANCH Instalações da Base do Kwanda

SOYO HOTEL NEMPANZO BRANCH Instalações do Hotel Nempanzo

CABINDA

ZAIRE

BENGO

MALANJE

CUANZA SUL

BENGUELA

NAMIBE

HUAMBO

HUÍLA

CUNENE

LUANDA

UIGE

CUANZA NORTE

BIÉ

CUANDO
CUBANGO

LUANDA NORTE

LUANDA SUL

MOXICO

Open Branches Coming Soon
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